
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Charlotte Evans 
 (Tel: 01443 864210   Email: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 5th June 2019 

 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held in the Sirhowy Room, Penallta House, Tredomen, Ystrad 
Mynach on Wednesday, 12th June, 2019 at 10.30 am to consider the matters contained in the 
following agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, a minimum notice period of 3 working 
days is required should you wish to do so. A simultaneous translation will be provided if requested. 
 
 

All Committee meetings are open to the Press and Public, observers and participants are asked to 
conduct themselves with respect and consideration for others.  Please note that failure to do so will 
result in you being asked to leave the meeting and you may be escorted from the premises. 

 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 
2  Declarations of Interest.  

 
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 

Public Document Pack



and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on the agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers.   

 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Cabinet held on 29th May 2019.  

1 - 4 
 

To receive and consider the following reports on which executive decisions are required: -   
 
4  Universal Credit – Housing Update.  

5 - 20 
 

5  Provisional Outturn for 2018/19.  
21 - 36 

 
6  Future Caerphilly Transformation Strategy - #TEAMCAERPHILLY – Better Together.  

37 - 80 
 

7  Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan.  
81 - 130 

 
8  Principles on Implementation of Microsoft O365.  

131 - 148 
 

 
Circulation: 
Councillors C.J. Cuss, N. George, C.J. Gordon, Mrs B. A. Jones, P.A. Marsden, S. Morgan, L. Phipps, 
D.V. Poole and Mrs E. Stenner,  
 
And Appropriate Officers. 
 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 

Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 
Notice on our website http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy or contact Legal Services by email 

griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


  

 

 

 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE, TREDOMEN 

ON WEDNESDAY, 29TH MAY 2019 AT 10.30 A.M. 
 

 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor D. Poole - Chair 
 
 

Councillors: 
 

 C. Cuss (Social Care and Wellbeing), N. George (Neighbourhood Services), C.J. Gordon 
(Corporate Services), and L. Phipps (Homes and Places) and E. Stenner (Environment and 
Public Protection). 

 
 

Together with: 
 

 R. Edmunds (Corporate Director – Education and Corporate Services), D. Street (Corporate 
Director - Social Services) and M. S. Williams (Interim Corporate Director - Communities). 
 
 

Also in Attendance: 
 

M. Headington (Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager), A. Dallimore (Team Leader 
- Urban Renewal & Conservation) and C. Evans (Committee Services Officer). 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies were received from Cllr B.A. Jones (Finance, Performance and Governance), 
Cllr P. Marsden (Education and Achievement), Cllr S. Morgan (Economy, Infrastructure and 
Sustainability) and C. Harrhy (Interim Chief Executive). 

 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

There were no declarations of interest received at the commencement or during the course of 
the meeting. 
 

 

3. CABINET – 15TH MAY 2019 
 

RESOLVED that subject to Declarations of Interest being recorded for Councillors 
C. Cuss, N. George, C. Gordon, B. Jones, S. Morgan and D. Poole as Trustees of 
Blackwood Miners’ Institute for Minute numbers 2, 4 and 5, it being noted that the final 
sentence in minute number 2 read “As these were personal and not prejudicial 
interests, Members were not required to leave the room, and could take part in the 
debate”, page 3, minute number 4, paragraph 4 read “with particular reference to 
Disposal of Land for Residential Development…”.  Page 3, minute number 5 (Property 
Review Report 2019) refer to “Vice Chair of Upper Rhymney Primary School and 
Governor of Idris Davies School 3-18”, the minutes of the meeting held on 15th May 
2019 were approved as a correct record. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



  

 MATTERS ON WHICH EXECUTIVE DECISIONS WERE REQUIRED 
 
 
4. COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER PRINCIPLES (PLAYING FIELDS) 
 

The report which was presented to Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee on 
Tuesday 14th May 2019 sought the adoption of a set of guiding principles in relation to the 
transfer of playing fields to sporting organisations. 

 
It was noted that the Council is receiving an increasing number of applications from sports 
clubs to lease facilities (sports fields and/or pavilions).  To date, the general ethos is that the 
Council would support clubs ambitions (on an ad-hoc basis); however in the absence of any 
guiding principles and for the reasons set out in the body of the report, this is becoming 
increasingly difficult.  The Council is committed, where possible, to provide assistance to clubs 
to become more sustainable and enable their development and progression to higher 
leagues. This not only brings benefits for the club, its players, sport in general and the county 
borough, but the adoption of the principles enables the Local Authority to protect assets. 

 
The report outlined some guiding principles which will assist in decision making and provide 
clarity for sporting organisations when considering applications for transfer of playing fields 
and or pavilions. 

 
Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and, in noting the comments from the Environment 
and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee, discussion ensued. 

 
A Member sought further information around the crowd control barriers at 3.1.1 of the report, 
which suggests that Panels are to exclude dogs from pitches.  Officers explained that there is 
a further report to be presented through the Committee process which refers to Dogs on 
Playing Fields; however the barriers are designed for crowd control as specified within League 
requirements. 

 
In discussing the Principles, Cabinet agreed that the Principles would provide consistency in 
the decision making process, as well as provide protection for Officers and Members in the 
decision making process, so that decisions are better understood by the general public. 

 
 Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the 

recommendations in the report be approved. By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officer's Report, the following 
principles be adopted: 
 
i) That the Council grant permission where it is appropriate to do so, for clubs to 

install crowd control barriers (with or without infill panels to exclude dogs); 
 

ii)  Where there is an overly restrictive covenant placed on the playing field or 
building, the Council will be precluded from entering into lease or licence 
agreements with clubs; 

 
iii)  That the Council will only accept applications form clubs, where they are at 

least eighteen months away from commencing within a new league structure 
for example, Welsh League in Football and either the WRU Championship or 
Premiership in rugby. Any application must be accompanied by a robust 
business case and a non-refundable fee of £500 to cover initial legal costs and 
officer’s time. Additionally, where relevant, the club will be liable for advertising 
costs as set out within The Playing Fields (Community Involvement in Disposal 
Regulations) (Wales) 2015, which can be in excess of £4,000. To this end, pre-
application discussions with officers are encouraged; 

Page 2



  

iv)  That the Council grant preferred user status where it is appropriate to do so, to 
such clubs who are registered as Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC’s); 
 

v)  That officers review the booking process and continue to explore development 
opportunities at 3G pitches to facilitate those clubs in the higher leagues in 
meeting their league requirements; 

 
vi)  That playing fields and other facilities held on charitable trust have different 

governance arrangements and will need to be the subject of a separate 
decision making process; 

 
vii)  That where management agreements are granted, responsibility for statutory 

testing and maintenance (within buildings) and grounds maintenance will be 
retained by the Council and recharged to the club as part of the agreement; 

 
viii)  That the Authority will continue to honour existing leases, where the clubs are 

fully compliant with the terms of the lease; 
 
ix)  That all applications will be subject to a discussion, to highlight any potential 

issues, between relevant officers, the relevant Cabinet members and local 
Members.  In this context, officers will engage the relevant local members and 
Cabinet Member at the earliest stage in the application process and will 
determine the most appropriate method for consultation with residents in 
conjunction with the relevant local member(s).  The views of local member(s) 
will be taken into account in the decision making process set out in the 
Council’s Constitution.  Where the ultimate decision is to refuse any application 
for asset transfer then the decision will be communicated as the decision of the 
Council and will not be attributed to the views of any individual members; 

 
x)  That any exception to this set of principles is brought before Cabinet for a 

decision. 
 
 

5. REGENERATION BOARD – PROJECT PROPOSALS 
 

The report recommended the second tranche of priority schemes for Regeneration Project 
Board Development Funding to Cabinet. 
 
It was noted that at its meeting on 30th May 2018, Cabinet agreed that a Regeneration Project 
Board be set up with a cross party political representation of Councillors plus key officers.  
This group is supported by a Regeneration Assessment Panel consisting of officers from a 
range of service areas. 
 
Since its initial meeting on the 3rd October 2018, the Regeneration Assessment Panel has 
met to consider the first suite of seven projects which have been identified by the Board to 
move to Assessment Stage.  The first tranche of these projects (four in total) were approved 
at Cabinet on 13th February 2019. 
 
The report sought agreement for the second tranche (remaining three projects) identified by 
the Regeneration Project Board and assessed by the Assessment Panel to be endorsed. 
 
Cabinet were asked to note that since the previous report there has been an increase in the 
budget allocation, increasing from £300k to a total of £1.5m.  In addition, since writing the 
report, the Ystrad Mynach Park & Ride bid for Local Transport Funding has been 
unsuccessful.  Officers have arranged a meeting with Welsh Government (WG) to ascertain 
the reasons for the funding refusal but as a result, Cabinet were asked to note that this could 
result in the project coming back to the Regeneration Project Board for additional funding in 
order to deliver the project. 

Page 3



  

 
Cabinet thanked the Officer for the report and discussion ensued. 
 
It was requested that Officers update the Assumptions section of the report to highlight that 
costings are based on 2019 prices and estimates. 
 
Discussions took place around the Scheme at Cwmcarn Forest Drive and Members wished it 
noted that Cwmcarn Forest Drive is located in Cwmcarn, and not Risca.  Officers agreed to 
amend the report accordingly. 
 
Cabinet discussed the Scheme at Ystrad Mynach in relation to car parking and sought further 
information on the consultation process and objections.  Officers explained that consultation 
was undertaken with Local Ward Members as part of this reporting process, however, there 
has also been extensive consultation undertaken as part of the Ystrad Mynach Master Plan, 
for which the scheme is an integral part.  There have been objections raised in relation to the 
Park and Ride access and use of School Playing Fields; however, this has been addressed as 
part of the consultation and Master Plan. 
 

 Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the 
recommendations in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

 
  RESOLVED that for the reasons contained in the Officer's Report: 
 

i) the progress of the Tranche 2 Projects be endorsed; 
 

ii) it be agreed that £75,000 of the Regeneration Board remaining Project 
Development Fund of £1.21m be allocated to the Tranche 2 Priority schemes 
identified by the Regeneration Project Board. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 10:47 am. 
 
 

Approved and signed as a correct record subject to any corrections made at the meeting held 
on the 12th June 2019. 
 
 

____________________ 
CHAIR 

 

Page 4



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 12TH JUNE 2019 
 

SUBJECT: UNIVERSAL CREDIT – HOUSING UPDATE 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 

 
1.1 The attached report is due to be considered by the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny 

Committee on 11th June 2019, prior to its referral to Cabinet.   
 
1.2 The views expressed at the meeting and the recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee will 

be reported verbally to Cabinet on 12th June 2019. 
 
 
Author:  C. Evans, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4210 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix Report to the Housing and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee on 11th June 2018 - 

Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

APPENDIX 
 

 

HOUSING AND REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 – 11TH JUNE 2019 

 

SUBJECT:  UNIVERSAL CREDIT – HOUSING UPDATE 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR – SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING 
 

 
1.1 The attached report was considered by Caerphilly Homes Task Group at its meeting on 

16th May 2019 and sough the views of Members prior to its presentation to Housing and 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee and thereafter Cabinet. 

 
1.2 The purpose of the report is to recommend to Members that Cabinet agree to receive regular 

updates on the roll out of Universal Credit and its impacts, ratifies the approach being taken to 
manage the roll out of Universal Credit (UC) and the support being offered to tenants of 
Caerphilly Homes. 

 
1.3  The report outlined the impact of UC on both Council tenants and Caerphilly Borough Council 

and explained how the roll out of UC operates and the issues this creates, resulting in an 
increase in rent arrears.  The levels of rent arrears are significantly higher than that of tenants 
not in receipt of UC and it is quite clear that many tenants struggle with the complexity of UC 
and are at risk of not receiving their full benefit entitlement. 

 
1.4  In recognition of the issues being experienced as a consequence of the roll out of the U,C the 

report also explains the additional resource implications for Caerphilly Homes in delivering the 
extensive support mechanisms that are considered necessary for tenants to sustain 
tenancies, maximise incomes, improve living conditions and also maintain our rental income. 

 
1.5  In addition, Officers outlined an amendment in the report at 10.2 and 10.3 in which 10.2 

should read “Despite the positive impact of this increase in support provision over the last 3 
years the level of tenant arrears has increased by 7.5% in 2018/19.  10.3 should read 
“Furthermore, due to the increase of tenants’ arrears, it is necessary to ensure sufficient Bad 
Debt Provision is accounted for within the HRA. This is a reserve for future recognition of 
certain accounts being uncollectable and is an accounting requirement within the HRA. This 
level of provision has also risen over the past 3 years by 10.73% in 2018/19.  

  
1.6  The Caerphilly Homes Task Group considered the report and length and sought clarification 

on the Universal Credit system and financial impacts on tenants and the allocation of benefits.  
Officers explained that there are some people who are worse off as a result of the system; 
however, there is an issue with budgeting as the system has moved to monthly and not 
fortnightly payments.  In addition, during the assessment process, often people are without 
money for 5 weeks or more.  However, claimants can apply for fortnightly payments on a short 
term basis to assist with budgeting where possible. 

 
1.7  The Task Group raised a number of concerns around the arrears as a result of waiting period 

and the process and the additional financial difficulty UC is leaving people in.  Officers 
explained that there is an option for people to apply for an advance payment, which acts as a 
loan and has to be repaint over 12 months, to bridge the gap during the assessment process, 
however the process can take between 5 weeks and beyond, depending on the completion of 

Page 7



the applications, which are online and Identification checks also need to be completed online 
with a Driving Licence or Passport, however, if tenants don’t have this, they can book an 
appointment with DWP to action. 

 
1.8  Discussions took place around the support provided to tenants by the Tenant Support Officers 

(TSO) and it was noted that an average of 15 tenants a week are moving over to UC and a 
number of new ways of working have been implemented, for example Surgeries have been 
implemented in some areas in which residents can drop in and have the support they need, 
and TSO’s are provided with Wi-Fi enabled tablets to help tenants with applications where 
need.  However, it was noted that the level of support currently being provided to tenants may 
not be sustainable for future tenants moving to UC, and as a result, all Customer Services 
Staff and Housing Benefit staff have been provided with relevant training to assist with claims, 
and an advert has been posted for additional TSO’s. 

 
1.9  A Member sought further information into the levels of arrears as mentioned in the report.  

Officers explained that whilst UC has had an impact on the number of tenants in arrears, 
additional pressures such as a crisis in the family, Christmas period or change to direct 
payments also impact on the levels of rent arrears. 

 
1.10  Following consideration and discussion, it was moved and seconded that the 

recommendations in the report be approved.  By a show of hands this was unanimously 
agreed. 

 

  RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee (and thereafter 
   Cabinet) that for the reasons contained in the Officer's Report: 
 

i) It be agreed for a regular update to take place on the roll out of UC and its 
impact; 

 
ii) the approach being taken to manage the roll out of UC and the support being 

offered to tenants be ratified. 
 
1.11 Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider the report and above 

recommendations and comments from the Caerphilly Homes Task Group and make a 
recommendation to Cabinet. 

 
 
Author:  C. Evans, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4210 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A Report to the Caerphilly Homes Task Group – Universal Credit – Housing Update – 

16th May 2019 

Page 8



 

 
 

 

CAERPHILLY HOMES TASK GROUP – 16TH MAY 2019 
 
SUBJECT:   UNIVERSAL CREDIT – HOUSING UPDATE 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES AND HOUSING 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 This report is seeking the views of members prior to its presentation to Regeneration and 

Housing Scrutiny Committee and thereafter Cabinet.  The purpose of this report is to 
recommend to members that Cabinet agree to receive regular updates on the roll out of 
Universal Credit and its impacts and ratifies the approach being taken to manage the roll out 
of Universal Credit (UC) and the support being offered to tenants of Caerphilly Homes 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 This report focuses upon the impact of UC on both Council tenants and Caerphilly County 

Borough Council.  The report explains how the roll out of UC operates and the issues this 
creates, resulting in an increase in rent arrears.  The level of rent arrears is significantly higher 
than that of tenants not in receipt of UC and it is quite clear that many tenants struggle with 
the complexity of UC and are at risk of not receiving their full benefit entitlement.  

 
2.2 In recognition of the issues being experienced as a consequence of the roll out of UC the 

report also explains the additional resource implications for Caerphilly Homes in delivering the 
extensive support mechanisms that are considered necessary for our tenants to sustain 
tenancies, maximise incomes, improve living conditions and also maintain our rental income.  

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Cabinet agree to a regular update on the roll out of UC and its impact. 
 
3.2 Cabinet ratifies the approach being taken to manage the roll out of UC and the support being 

offered to tenants. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Universal Credit is one of the biggest changes to the welfare system since its inception, 

bringing together six existing benefits.  Members will note the growing impact of Universal 
Credit on Caerphilly’s Housing service and its tenants. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
 Universal Credit 
 
5.1 Universal Credit (UC) was initially introduced in the Caerphilly County Borough in May 2015 

for new claims by single persons who would previously have been eligible to claim job 
seekers allowance (JSA) only.  Initially UC claims by Caerphilly tenants were slow with only 
around 3 to 5 per month believed to be making a claim.  This “live” service remained in place 

Page 9



in Caerphilly until September 2018 and during this time 120 Caerphilly tenants were known to 
have made a successful UC claim.  

 
5.2 In September 2018 roll out of the “full service” commenced in Caerphilly for single claimants, 

couples and families, combining six means tested benefits, the so called “legacy benefits”  
 

• Job Seekers Allowance, income related 
• Employment Support Allowance, income related 
• Child Tax Credit 
• Working Tax Credit 
• Housing Benefit 
• Income Support 

 
5.3 The eligible tenant will directly receive one monthly combined lump sum payment covering 

each of the various benefits they are entitled to receive, which could include housing benefits 
to cover some or all of their rent.  Previously housing benefit would have been paid by the 
Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) direct to the social landlord; during the period April 
2018 to March 2019 we received £29 million in housing benefit payments directly to Caerphilly 
Council.  As tenants move to UC this figure will reduce as payments are made directly to 
tenants, who become responsible for paying the rent to their landlord.  Arrangements have to 
be made to collect these payments from tenants.  

 
5.4 Tenants in receipt of UC will receive one lump sum payment which includes their personal 

allowance as well as their housing costs (rent).  It is clear from our early experiences of roll 
out of UC that some tenants are using the housing costs element of their UC payment for 
other things and not paying their rent.  At Christmas we noted an increase in rent arrears of 
tenants in receipt of UC. 

 
5.5 Tenants move on to UC if they are a new claimant or if there is a change in their 

circumstances which triggers the changeover from the legacy benefits (detailed in 5.2).  In 
practice this means a “change of benefits”. Examples of changes in benefits include: 

 
Universal Credit claim 
required 

A tenant who has come out of work or has reduced their hours 
and doesn’t have an existing housing benefit claim would be 
required to claim UC  
 
A person moves from a neighbouring borough and had a live 
housing benefit claim would need to make a claim for UC once 
they move to Caerphilly County Borough 
 
A single person working part time and claiming working tax 
credits who moves in with a partner would have to claim UC. 

Universal Credit claim 
not required 

A tenant currently claiming housing benefits moves within the 
County Borough to another property would not be required to 
make a claim for UC 
 
A couple working part time and claiming working tax credit who 
have their first child would not need to make a claim for UC for 
the child element 
 

 
5.6 There are further exceptions and the following groups would still continue to claim the legacy 

benefits (detailed in 5.2) above. 
 
 

Page 10



 
Universal 
Credit exemptions 

Anyone who has reached the qualifying age for state Pension 
Credit.  Pensioners will claim Pension Credit from the DWP and 
Housing Benefit from the Council.   
Anyone living in supported accommodation (such as sheltered 
accommodation).  People in supported accommodation who 
have not reached the age for state Pension Credit will claim UC 
to meet their personal costs and Housing Benefit from the 
Council to meet their housing costs 
Anyone placed in temporary accommodation by the Council. 
People in temporary accommodation will claim UC to meet their 
personal costs and Housing Benefit from the Council to meet 
their housing costs 
Anyone who is already claiming the Severe Disability Premium.  
People who qualify for Severe Disability Premium will continue to 
claim the legacy benefits listed in 5.2. 

 
5.7 Full service UC is digital by default with the initial application being made online and once in 

place all further interactions with UC are carried out via the claimants “digital journal.” This 
means any instructions or requirements for additional information from the DWP are notified to 
the claimant via the journal “to do” list.   

 
5.8 Any changes in circumstances experienced by the claimant also need to be communicated 

digitally using the online journal.  UC uses a texting service to advise claimants when a new 
request has been added to their journal.  It is therefore vital that tenants inform the DWP, 
using the online journal, whenever they change their telephone number. 

 
5.9 Once a claim has been completed claimants have to verify their identity either online using 

photo identification (passport or driving licence) or, as is often the case, if photo identification 
is not available by making an appointment at the local Job Centre.  Once the claimant’s 
identity is verified then the UC claim enters a 5 week assessment period. The claimant should 
at this time make a separate application to the Council for Council tax Reduction as this 
process is completely separate to UC.  Tenants not in receipt of UC and claiming Housing 
Benefit only need to complete one application used for both rent and Council tax reduction.  

 
5.10 Generally, payments of UC are made each calendar month in arrears to one member of a 

couple, into the claimant’s bank account. If a claimant doesn’t think they will have enough to 
live on while they wait for their first payment (during 5 week assessment period) they are able 
to request an advanced payment of UC. The advanced payment is a loan and it has to be 
paid back within one year as a deduction out of their UC payments but no interest is charged.    

 
5.11 An additional two week payment of Housing Benefit is paid during the assessment period, this 

is additional benefit and not repaid by the tenant.  The DWP have recently announced that 
from July 2020 an additional 2 weeks non repayable legacy benefits (detailed in 5.2) will also 
be paid during the assessment period. 

 
5.12 Alternative payment arrangements are available for claimants who can’t manage their monthly 

payment. The landlord or claimant can apply for an Alternative Payment Arrangement (APA) 
Managed Payment to Landlord (MPTL) at any time, which will be considered by the DWP on a 
case by case basis. An APA can also include more frequent than monthly payments or a split 
payment of an award between partners.  The decision whether to award an APA takes 
account of numerous factors and using the Tier 1 and Tier 2 guidance detailed below 

 
Tier 1 factors – Highly likely/probable need for Alternative Payment Arrangements 
Drug/alcohol and/or other addiction problems, such as gambling 
Learning difficulties including problems with literacy and/or numeracy 
Severe/multiple debt problems 

Page 11



Homeless 
Domestic violence and abuse 
Mental health condition 
Currently in rent arrears/threat of eviction/repossession 
Claimant is a 16 or 17 year old and/or a care leaver 
Families with multiple and complex needs 
 
Tier 2 factors – Less likely/possible need for Alternative Payment Arrangements 
Third party deductions in place (such as for fines or utility arrears) 
Claimant is a refugee/asylum seeker 
History of rent arrears 
Previously homeless and/or in temporary or supported accommodation: 
Other disability (such as physical disability or sensory impairment) 
Claimant has just left prison 
Claimant has just left hospital 
Recently bereaved 
 
The DWP intends the change of payment to the landlord to be a short term and temporary 
arrangement and subject to review. Experience to date has demonstrated that this process is 
not straight forward for the landlord and is particularly problematic when there is a change in 
claimants’ circumstances. 

 
5.13 A significant issue is the delays that can be experienced in processing requests for MPTLs 

(i.e. when the landlord requests for the housing costs (rent) and arrears to be paid directly to 
the landlord).  For information purposes the payment schedule received from the DWP dated 
16/04/19 included £95,000 worth of housing costs and arrears deducted from tenants and 
paid to the Council directly.  This schedule showed that some of the payments included had 
been deducted from claimants UC accounts as long ago as February 2019.  This means a 
tenant’s rent account will show they are in arrears but the DWP have deducted the monies but 
not yet paid it over to their rent account. 

 
5.14 At 23/04/19 25% of Caerphilly council tenants in receipt of UC have a managed payment i.e. 

the housing costs are paid directly to the Council.  UC is an in work and out of work benefit.  A 
tenant could gain employment and, dependant on their level of income, their entitlement to UC 
may cease or reduce.  Landlords are not made aware of this and would assume their normal 
payment from their UC will be deducted by the DWP and paid to the landlord direct.  As 
shown in 5.1.11 the delay in payments being direct to rent accounts by the DWP adds further 
complications for both the tenant and the Council. 

 
 Impacts of UC on the Housing Service 
 
5.15 As at 23/04/19, 933 Council tenants were recorded as being in receipt of UC for housing 

costs, equating to 8% of all Council tenancies.  Of these 933 cases, 783 were showing arrears 
at this date, amounting to a total debt due of £569,490.  Of the 783 tenants in arrears 35% 
owed more than 8 weeks rent.   

 
5.16 A geographical split of the 933 Council tenants claiming UC is shown by housing area below:- 
 
 Upper Rhymney Valley housing area    - 46% 
 Eastern Valley housing area                 - 32% 
 Lansbury Park neighbourhood               - 11% 
 Graig Y Rhacca neighbourhood             - 11% 
 
5.17 The average level of arrears for tenants on UC on this date amounted to £609.73.  In context 

the average rent arrears for all Council tenants at this date was £375.15.  Due to the nature of 
Universal Credit, with claimants receiving payments on differing dates depending on when 
their claim was accepted, and in four weekly schedules for receiving managed payments, it 
should be noted that these figures can only represent a snapshot of the position at the 
relevant date in question. 

 
Page 12



5.18 UC has been designed specifically with system change in mind – and many of the areas that 
are causing difficulties for Council tenants are those that are explicitly deliberate in the design 
of UC.  These include: 

 
• It is digital by default and therefore applications must be made online and once accepted, 

the customer must actively maintain their online journal 
• Applicants must budget monthly to prepare them for the world of work  
• Requirement for ID to make an initial claim although appointments can be made at the job 

centre to verify 
• Requirement for monies to be paid into a bank account 
• No payment for one calendar month (plus up to a week for payment to transfer) after a 

claim is made 
• Ending of system referred to as ‘implied consent’ which enabled advisors to discuss 

clients cases with the DWP without the client being present. 
• Tenants receive their Housing Costs (rent) direct and are responsible for paying rent to 

landlord 
 
5.19 Support to new and existing council tenants affected by UC is provided by Tenancy Support 

Officers.  The underlying economic climate and the introduction of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 which brought about wholesale reform of the benefits system, including the development 
of UC, led to the creation in 2012 of a tenancy support team within the Rents section.  This 
team (5FTE), together with the Specialist Benefits Advisor, provide invaluable assistance to 
tenants in sustaining their tenancies, including: 

 
• Supporting tenants with new and existing benefit claims (including UC) 
• Providing budgeting and basic debt advice 
• Warm home Discount scheme applications 
• Subsidised water tariffs (Help U) 
• Applications to relevant charitable trusts and Discretionary Assistance Fund  
• Energy advice (staff trained to level 3 City and Guilds) 
• Personal Independence Payment applications 
• Food parcels 
• Benefit better off calculations  
• Referrals to employability programmes. 

 
5.20 During the period April 2018 to March 2019, the tenancy support staff made 2035 home visits 

to council tenants which resulted in an additional £628,000 additional income for those 
tenants.  This came from a variety of sources including additional benefits, preferential water 
tariffs, written off utility debts, and grants.  In addition to the financial savings the staffs were 
successful in applying for 92 free white goods items for tenants (e.g. cookers, fridge freezers 
and washing machines) from the Discretionary Assistance Fund.  The support staff ensure the 
service is as accessible as possible by visiting tenants in their own homes and offering 
appointments at Council Offices and premises e.g. Hafod Deg and community spaces. 
Assistance is often provided at short notice, ensuring crisis situations can be avoided and 
tenants are able to sustain their tenancies.   

 
5.21 The established tenancy support team at Caerphilly has been integral in supporting tenants 

moving onto and maintaining UC claims.   The staff have received in depth UC training and 
the broader knowledge they have gained since 2012 is enabling them to provide focused 
support to tenants. The team also work in partnership with other teams within Housing who 
also support tenants e.g. Floating Support, and the Community Regeneration Team for 
tenants who require ongoing digital or employment support. 

 
5.22 During February to April 2019 the Housing Service undertook a survey of council tenants who 

had recently moved to UC and made a claim directly with the DWP, to seek their views of the 
whole claim process.  Although the sample was small the following highlights the key results 
from the survey: 

Page 13



 
• 48% did not find it easy to make a claim for Universal Credit 
• 80% were informed by the DWP they could apply for an advance or more frequent 

payments 
• 85% felt they could cope with managing their online journal (with possible assistance from 

families) 
 
5.23 Comments from tenants about their claims included: 
 

“I didn’t understand how to make claim, would have liked 1 to 1 support at home. Not 
confident to challenge how much the DWP gave me. I had help from the Council to check 
calculation” 

 
“Had issues setting up the account but had help from JCP staff” 

 
“Initial claim was easy but very little support after claim. DWP staff not helpful” 

 
“Had support from daughter as do not have internet. Unable to use computer due to epilepsy. 
Daughter helps manage claim” 

 
“Verification a problem due to no photo ID, advised of advance but not more frequent 
payments” 

 
5.24  Appendix 1 details four case studies where the support staff have given assistance to tenants 

in relation to UC.  In some instances it can financially benefit tenants to move to UC however 
due to the highlighted issues e.g. digital by default and monthly budgeting, many of our 
tenants are reluctant to move to this benefit which means they are losing out on additional 
income.   

 
5.25 From September 2018 to March 2019 Caerphilly County Borough Council Rent Section 

received funding from the DWP to provide budgeting and digital support to tenants.  During 
this period £7750 was received.  From April 2019 the DWP announced that this funding is to 
be provided nationwide to Citizen Advice and removed from local authorities.  The estimated 
cost of the actual provision of this support to Caerphilly Homes tenants for this period was 
considerably higher i.e. £50k. 

 
5.26 Demand for the Tenancy Support Service continues to grow and we are constantly monitoring 

and reviewing resource and capacity levels.   
 
5.27  Central Government recently announced that the roll out of UC was to be slowed down. It is 

not anticipated that this will reduce the numbers of new claims being submitted each week as 
a UC claim will still be made when there is a change of circumstances (as detailed in 5.1.3). 
The roll out being slowed down relates only to the migration of long term claimants of legacy 
benefits from their existing benefit to UC. 

 
5.28 The Welsh Government has recently commissioned a study to assess the impact of UC on 

the Council Tax reduction scheme and rent arrears in Wales.  They want to understand how 
UC is affecting families in Wales. Findings are not expected to be available until early next 
year. 

 
5.29 Conclusion   
 
 The impact of UC is a strategic risk that, although mitigated by the advice and support we 

provide, remains a high risk to the Housing Service with critical impact.  Mitigating the impact 
of UC comes at a significant additional cost to the Service but the alternative would be an 
even greater impact on tenants and their ability to sustain their tenancies, leading to an 
increase in homelessness and tenancy turnover, and rent arrears. 

Page 14



6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 No assumptions have been made in proposing the recommendations in the report.   
 
 
7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 Corporate Plan 2018-2023 
 

The report content contributes towards or impacts the Corporate Well-being Objectives within 
The Caerphilly We Want (2018-2023) Well Being Plan which are:     

 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all - by supporting the improvement of 

digital skills for tenants 
 

Objective 2 - Enabling employment through providing relevant support and the enhancement 
of knowledge and skills of Housing staff and tenants thereby supporting better employment 
prospects. 

 
Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 
county borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s well-being 
– by helping to reduce fuel poverty and preventing tenancies from failing by providing a range 
of housing related support to tenants, including those affected by financial hardship 

  
Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being – by 
supporting tenants to help themselves by providing comprehensive advice and information, 
including signposting to other services, and having meaningful conversations to help people 
identify what matters to them.  Providing support to reduce the need for statutory 
interventions. 

 
7.2 Caerphilly Homes Service Plan (2018-2023)  
 
 Priority Objective 6 – Prevent homelessness and tackle rough sleeping - by providing 

tenants threatened with homelessness advice to mitigate the impact of UC. 
 
 Priority Objective 7 - Sustaining tenancies by providing a range of housing related services:-  
 

• Providing help to tenants to enable them to budget effectively, to claim the correct welfare 
benefits and to mitigate the impact of welfare reforms.  

• Referring council tenants in need of money and debt advice to the right agencies. 
• Providing advice to tenants on energy usage and other measures to help save money. 
• Providing assistance to tenants requiring help with benefit claims and appeals including 

Employment Support Allowance and Personal Independence Payment. 
• Closely monitoring the impact of the full role out of Universal Credit on tenants, resources 

and homelessness.  
• Raising awareness amongst elected members and staff of the full role out of Universal 

Credit and the potential impacts. 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Housing Services and our outlined priorities, contribute to a minimum of 6 out of the 7 well-

being goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015, including: 
 

• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 

Page 15



8.2 This report contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above.  It is 
consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle of the Act in that: 

 
Long Term – supports the sustainability of cohesive communities for tenants and residents; 
providing a fair and transparent service for tenancy support and sustainment. 

 Prevention – supports tenants and assists in the prevention of eviction and homelessness. It 
supports the health and well-being of tenants and residents. 

 Integration – improved standards of housing support which contribute to stable community 
environments.  
Collaboration – The service focuses on internal collaboration and wider partnerships. Joined 
up working arrangements within the organisation and with outside agencies support tenant 
engagement and tenancy sustainment. 

 Involvement –The engagement of tenants, residents and support agencies in relation to 
sustainment of tenancies.  

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1  An EIA screening has previously been completed in accordance with the Council's Strategic 

Equality Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or 
low level or minor negative impact was identified therefore a full EIA has not been carried out 
to date.  

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 In 2012 additional resource was necessary to support tenants with Welfare Reform Changes, 

and 5 additional posts were created within the tenancy support team at a cost of £190k.  
 
10.2 Despite the positive impact of this increase in support provision over the last 3 years the level 

of tenant arrears has increased sharply from 2.67% in 2016/17 to 7.52% in 2018/19.  Although 
these arrears include all charges to tenants (e.g. rent, service charges, water and fuel 
charges) officers are confident that the increase is as a direct result of the introduction of 
Welfare Reform. 

 
10.3 Furthermore, due to the increase of tenants’ arrears, it is necessary to ensure sufficient Bad 

Debt Provision is accounted for within the HRA.  This is a reserve for future recognition of 
certain accounts being uncollectable and is an accounting requirement within the HRA.  This 
level of provision has also risen over the past 3 years from 3.58% in 2016/17 to 10.73% in 
2018/19.  The current level of Bad Debt Provision is £1.6m which equates to 2.99% of the rent 
debit. 

 
10.4 The level of write offs have also increased from £267k in 2016/17 to £283k in 2018/19 

although the percentage of this against the total rent charges has remained around about 
0.5%. 

 
10.5 The above are clearly significant costs to the HRA resulting from Welfare Reform. 
 
10.6 There is a Welfare Reform Provision that has been set up within the HRA of some £398k over 

the past few years.  The Chief Housing Officer reports to PDM on a quarterly basis due to 
concerns over UC linked to rent arrears, tenancy support and the potential for increasing 
homelessness.  Whilst resources have increased there will probably be a need to increase 
further, with the unknown impact of Brexit adding to concerns, along with the likelihood of 
increased fuel poverty, foodbank use, and living costs generally.  We are already seeing 
increased levels of persons presenting as homeless and we are obviously keen to avoid 
evictions which will only add to the homeless problem.  The Welfare Reform Provision has 
therefore been set up to assist with this.   

Page 16



11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The roll out of UC is ongoing with an average of 15 tenants per week moving over to this 

benefit.  If we are to be able to offer the same level of support to future tenants moving on to 
UC it may be necessary to increase the number of support staff. 

 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 The report reflects the views of the consultees. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Not applicable. 
 
 
Author:  Sandra Isaacs, Rents Manager 
  (Tel: 01443 811409, Email: issacs@caerphilly.gov.uk) 
Consultees: Cllr Dave Poole - Leader of the Council 

Cllr Lisa Phipps - Cabinet Member for Homes and Places 
Cllr Sean Morgan  - Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Economy, 

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Champion 

 Christina Harrhy         - Interim Chief Executive 
David Street   - Corporate Director of Social Services and Housing 
Shaun Couzens     - Chief Housing Officer 
Robert Tranter            - Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Steven Harris  - Interim Head of Business Improvement Services 
Fiona Wilkins    - Housing Services Manager         
Lesley Allen  - Principal Accountant 
Amanda Main             - Benefits Manager 
Mark Jennings  - Housing Strategy Officer 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Universal Credit case studies 

Page 17

mailto:issacs@caerphilly.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 
Case Study 1 

Single tenant and non-dependant daughter both made a claim for Universal Credit the same 
day.  Tenant wasn’t able to access the online journal as she had forgotten her email address 
and rang to request a TSO visit to assist as she had used the service previously.   

• Completed a discretionary housing payment application as tenant and daughter were 
in a 3 bedroom house and affected by the bedroom tax.  This additional income 
was granted 

• Completed a water tariff reduction form with tenant reduced by £6.50 per week 
• Assisted tenant to set up a new email and added it to the Universal Credit claim to 

enable tenant to manage claim online.   Tenant could now manage her claim 
online with the assistance of her daughter 

• Tenant receiving incorrect amount of housing costs, contacted the Universal Credit 
service centre and resolved this. Backdate received of correct housing costs 

 

Case Study 2 

Single tenant, with mental health issues, not digitally literate and with no access to 
online/internet services. Tenant had contacted the Universal Credit service centre who told 
her to go to her local Job Centre Plus to make a claim.  She was advised by the Job Centre 
Plus that due to her vulnerabilities and lack of digital skills she could make a claim by 
telephone.  At this time her phone had been disconnected 

TSO visited – contacted Universal Credit and a claim was made using the TSO’s telephone. 
Request made for the DWP to carry out a home visit to verify ID   Universal credit now in 
payment 

 

Case Study 3 

Tenant claiming Job Seekers Allowance found not fit for work and informed he should claim 
Universal Credit.  Tenant attempted to complete his own claim but did not finalise this as he 
did not complete the verification process 

Support officer visited to assist tenant to claim Personal Independence Payments and found 
he was not in receipt of UC. Tenant had selected he preferred to be contacted by email but 
was not digitally literate 

Tenant assisted to make a new claim for Universal Credit and contact was made to book a 
verification interview.  A request was made for a backdate of UC due to vulnerabilities and a 
request was made for the tenant to manage his UC manually and not online – Universal 
credit now in payment and tenant manages claim manually. Backdate of universal 
credit successful.  The tenant was signposted for digital support at their local library  

 

Page 18



 
Case Study 4 

Tenant in receipt of job seekers allowance two working non dependants living with her. 
Struggling to cover rent as was not entitled to Housing Benefits due to the amount that the 
non-dependants were earning. Non dependants were not contributing towards rent which led 
to rent arrears on account. 

The tenancy support officer visited and carried out a “better off” calculation which showed 
she would be £60.00 per week better off on Universal Credit. The nondependent flat rate 
charge entitled her to help opposed to the Housing Benefit non dependant charge that 
disqualified her. Tenant was supported to make a Universal Credit claim  

Tenancy support officer followed up this initial visit a month later to see how the tenant was 
coping with her new benefit claim and she advised me that she was unable to manage her 
money monthly and was left with nothing by the end of the month, she had attended a 
budgeting class with the Job Centre but this had done very little in helping her.   Tenancy 
support officer applied for more frequent payment which amended her payment from 
monthly to fortnightly  

 

 

 

. 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 12TH JUNE 2019 
 

SUBJECT: PROVISIONAL OUTTURN FOR 2018/19 
 

REPORT BY: INTERIM HEAD OF BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT SERVICES AND 
ACTING S151 OFFICER 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide Cabinet with details of the provisional outturn for the 2018/19 financial year prior to 

the annual audit by the Authority’s External Auditor, Grant Thornton.    
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In advance of the 2018/19 Financial Statements being audited and presented to Council on 

the 30th July 2019, this report provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the 
budget for the 2018/19 financial year. Members receive detailed budget monitoring reports as 
part of the Scrutiny process throughout the financial year.   

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: - 
 
3.1.1 Notes the provisional 2018/19 outturn position. 
 
3.1.2 Supports a recommendation to Council that the General Fund balance should be maintained 

at £11.660m as previously agreed by Council on the 21st February 2019. 
 
3.1.3 Supports a recommendation to Council that the increase in the General Fund balance of 

£2.380m over the previously anticipated level should be transferred to Capital Earmarked 
Reserves, pending a report that will be presented during the autumn in respect of unallocated 
capital reserves and proposals for investments in a number of key strategic projects. 

 
3.1.4 Agrees the proposals set out in paragraphs 5.28 and 5.29 that the remaining balance of 

£192k on the  Intensive Fostering Support Service (IFSS) pilot scheme reserve in Social 
Services be utilised as follows: - 

 

 £91k to fund 2 additional fixed-term Social Workers for 12 months to address a 
backlog in case reviews. 

 £72k to fund backfill for staff undertaking Advanced Mental Health Professional 
(AMHP) training.  

 £29k to top up the Social Services Invest to Save specific reserve.  
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that Cabinet Members are aware of the provisional outturn for the 2018/19 financial 

year and proposals for the use of reserves in specific areas.  
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The provisional outturn position is attached as Appendix A and is summarised below:- 
 

 £m 

Net Service Directorate Underspends 3.469 

Miscellaneous Finance Underspend 3.355 

Council Tax Surplus 1.412 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Underspend 5.461 

Schools Overspend (0.550) 

  

Total: -  13.147 

 
5.2 The 2018/19 Service Directorate underspend of £3.469m represents 1.85% of net Directorate 

budgets. During the year Officers have continued to be mindful of the continuing programme 
of austerity and expenditure has been curtailed in a number of areas to support the Medium-
Term Financial Plan (MTFP). This prudent approach has resulted in a number of savings 
being achieved in advance and underspends being higher than would normally be the case. 

 
5.3 After adjusting for earmarked reserves, 50% of underspends are carried forward by 

Directorates and are available to meet the requirements of these service areas. The 
remaining balance is transferred to the General Fund. Overspends are normally funded from 
future Directorate budgets or balances brought forward from previous years. Service reserves 
held by Directorates can be used to fund one-off cost pressures or to pump-prime service 
reconfiguration but they cannot be relied upon to deliver balanced budgets on a recurring 
basis. 

 
5.4 The table in Appendix B shows the movements on the General Fund balance from the 1st April 

2018 to the 31st March 2019, along with agreed commitments for 2019/20. The forecast 
General Fund balance as reported to Council on 21st February 2019 was £11.660m. The 
updated position is a projected balance £14.040m, an increase of £2.380m. The variations to 
the forecast are as follows: - 

 

 £m 

Increased Contribution from Service Areas (including Miscellaneous Finance) 2.018 

Additional 2018/19 Council Tax Surplus 0.012 

Council Tax Collection Rate Change 0.350 

  

Net Increase:- 2.380 

 
5.5 The Section 151 Officer normally recommends a minimum General Fund balance of £10m 

(circa 3% of the net revenue budget). Cabinet will recall that anticipated savings of circa £44m 
will be required for the four-year period 2020/21 to 2023/24. This is clearly extremely 
challenging and it is inevitable that some very difficult decisions will need to be made. With 
this in mind Cabinet is asked to support a recommendation to Council that the General Fund 
balance should be maintained at £11.660m as previously agreed by Council on the 21st 
February 2019. It is further recommended that the increase in the General Fund balance of 
£2.380m over the previously anticipated level should be transferred to Capital Earmarked 
Reserves, pending a report that will be presented during the autumn in respect of unallocated 
capital reserves and proposals for investments in a number of key strategic projects. 

 

Page 22



5.6 The following paragraphs comment on the 2018/19 underspends as detailed in Appendix A. 
 
 Education and Lifelong Learning (£899k Overspend)    
 
5.7 Overall the Directorate including schools is reporting an overspend of £899k. This includes an 

overspend of £550k by schools which necessitated a take from earmarked school balances. 
Consequently, the revised position for Central Education & Lifelong Learning (including Home 
to School/College Transport) is an overspend of £349k.  

 
5.8 The most significant variances in arriving at the £349k overspend were as follows: -  
   

 (Over)/ 
Under 
£000’s 

Cwmcarn High (on closure) (267) 

Home to School/College Transport 63 

School Rationalisation/Vacant Properties (63) 

Retirement/Pension Costs School Based Staff (55) 

Relief Supply Cover (Sickness SRB’s & Maternity) (114) 

Management & Support Services 58 

Psychological Service 57 

EOTAS, Addn. Support, Out of County (1,217) 

Early Years – Rising 3’s 60 

Early Years Central Team 265 

EAS – Main Contract & EIG Match 56 

Community Education (Adult & Youth) 227 

Libraries 254 

Net Underspend on Other Budgets 327 

  

Net Overspend: - (349) 

 
5.9 In February 2018, as part of the 2018/19 budget process, Members will recall that agreement 

was made to set aside £1.4m from the General Fund to meet the projected deficit on the 
closure of Cwmcarn High School (October 2018). This deficit position is updated to a figure of 
£1.667m, a variance of £267k, which is a slight improvement on the projected variance of 
£295k in January 2019. The increase above the £1.4m is due to costs linked to the loss of 
posts on closure and this was very much an unknown in early 2018. As reported previously to 
Members, at closure there were 14 compulsory redundancies, consisting of 4 teaching/SMT 
staff and 10 support staff.  

 
5.10 The variance on Home to School/College Transport is circa 1% of the total budget.  This 

underspend arose with some late savings linked to snow days.   
 
5.11 The successful investment of 21st Century Band A funding and associated closures (Oakdale 

& Pontllanfraith), together with the closure of Cwmcarn High School has resulted in some 
residual revenue costs linked to the rationalisation of the sites.  These are unavoidable costs 
linked primarily to the short-term security of the Pontllanfraith and Cwmcarn sites.  

 
5.12 The overspend on the Early Retirement Pension Costs budget for school based staff is also 

impacted by staff losses resulting from the closure of Cwmcarn High School.  The Authority 
contributes 40% to the share of the release of staff costs in Secondary Schools.  

 
5.13 Due to the unpredictability of sickness absence in our Special Resource Bases and the 

maternity absences across all school sectors, the Relief Supply Cover spend on school based 
staff is very difficult to predict.  The outturn is an overspend of £114k.  

 

Page 23



5.14 The underspend in relation to Management & Support costs relates predominantly to in-year 
 savings on staff costs. This variance is largely due to in-year vacancies that are not ongoing 
 as posts are linked to delivering support through Service Level Agreements (SLAs) with our 
Schools.  

 
5.15 The underspend on the Psychological Service has originated due to delays in the recruitment 

of appropriately qualified staff. This is a consequence of a shortage of such staff in the 
profession.   

 
5.16 The significant cost pressure within the Directorate continues to be in relation to our most 

vulnerable learners, in particular in relation to our EOTAS (Education Other Than at School) 
provision. The provision accommodates learners who are unable to attend and learn in a 
mainstream setting. In reviewing the continuum of additional support provided to pupils, our 
alternative EOTAS provision and Out of County Placements, the outturn is an overspend of 
£1.217m. Whilst the cost pressure associated with supporting our most vulnerable learners 
has been recognised as part of the Authority’s 2019/20 budget (budget growth of £800k), this 
outturn position is a significant concern. To advise Members, a review of demand, costs and 
structures is ongoing.  

 
5.17 The spend on Early Years – Rising 3’s is very much demand led as it is driven by the number 

of age 3 pupils who access nursery provision in the term following their 3rd birthday. This can 
vary from year to year, with spend based on the birth rate and parental choice with regards to 
accessing this “early” provision. This budget is reduced by £50k in 2019-20 as part of MTFP 
savings. The underspend against the Early Years Central Team is largely due to accessing 
additional grant funding in-year.  

 
5.18 In 2018/19 the main contract charge from the Education Achievement Service (EAS) was less 

than the current budget provision. Similarly, the budget for the Authority’s match funding 
requirement against the Education Achievement Grant is greater than required. These savings 
are part of the MTFP budget reductions in 2019/20. 

 
5.19 The underspend within Community Education is a mix of both the Adult Education and Youth 

Services. In Adult Education an underspend of £96k is attributable largely to a vacant 
management post following a retirement, a further in-year vacancy gap and savings linked to 
exam fees spend. The on-going elements of this underspend are recognised in the 2019/20 
budget with a reduction of £50k. The £132k underspend in the Youth Service relates primarily 
to in-year savings on staff costs, largely in-year gaps within the part time youth service and a 
vacant administrative post, both of which form part of MTFP savings of £125k in 2019/20.      

 
5.20 The Library Service variance relates primarily to a one-off rebate for NNDR (National Non- 

Domestic Rates) charges of £130k.This refund relates to 4 Libraries covering financial year 
2010/11 through to 2017/18. A further saving of £76k relates largely to in-year vacancies and 
supply cover arrangements. In 2019/20 the Library Services MTFP savings proposals include 
an amount of £80k that is staffing related.  

 
 Social Services (£1.924m Underspend) 
 
5.21 The overall outturn position in respect of Social Services for 2018/19 is an underspend of 

£1.924m. This is after accounting for an overspend of £22k relating to the Integrated 
Transport Unit (ITU) within the Communities Directorate which is largely due to increasing 
demand for transport in respect of Looked After Children and Adults with Learning Disabilities. 
The remaining underspend of £1.946m relates to budgets held within the Directorate of Social 
Services. 

 
5.22 This underspend position includes a number of non-recurring issues that masked an 

underlying financial pressure in respect of increasing demands for social care. These non-
recurring issues are highlighted in the following paragraphs. 

 

Page 24



5.23  An underspend of £1.119m is reported in respect of staffing vacancies that were either of a 
short-term nature or where posts will be permanently deleted in order to deliver MTFP savings 
targets for 2019/20. 

 
5.24 A further underspend of £226k is reported in respect of non-staff savings delivered in advance 

of MTFP targets for 2019/20. 
 
5.25 Non-recurring funding streams contributed around £1.340m towards the overall Social 

Services underspend, including £600k in contributions from service reserves; £246k through 
maximisation of grant funding; £419k in respect of refunds relating to earlier years; and £75k 
in respect of slippage in contributions into pooled budgets managed by other local authorities. 

 
5.26 A further underspend of £178k is reported within the Children's Services Division due to fewer 

children than anticipated being referred to the agency responsible for finding adoption 
placements. This is unlikely to be repeated in 2019/20. 

 
5.27 Without these non-recurring underspends the Directorate would have faced an underlying 

cost pressure of around £922k in 2018/19. When taking account of the full-year effect of this 
underlying cost pressure, it is likely that the growth funding awarded to the Directorate in the 
2019/20 final budget settlement is already fully committed. Therefore, the success of the 
various cost avoidance initiatives implemented across the Directorate will be critical in 
delivering a balanced budget in 2019/20. 

 
5.28 During the 2017/18 financial year, a specific reserve of £875k was created to fund an 

Intensive Fostering Support Service (IFSS) pilot scheme. This scheme has proved successful 
in reducing the requirement for residential placements and expensive independent sector 
foster care placements. As a result, Welsh Government grant funding will be used to continue 
the scheme in 2019/20, which means that the £192k remaining balance of reserve funding is 
no longer required. Therefore, Cabinet is asked to agree that £91k of this balance is utilised to 
fund 2 additional fixed-term Social Workers for 12 months, to address a backlog in case 
reviews that built up as a result of a restructuring of the reviewing function as part of the 
MTFP. 

 
5.29 Cabinet is also asked to agree that a further £72k of the reserve balance is utilised to fund 

backfill for staff undertaking Advanced Mental Health Professional (AMHP) training. The role 
of the AMHP was created in the 2007 amendment of the Mental Health Act and is critical in 
the assessment and support of people who are suffering from mental health problems. This 
funding would allow Caerphilly to support 3 trainees without impacting on the workload of the 
remaining staff within the Mental Health Teams. It is also proposed that the remaining £29k of 
the IFSS reserve should be re-directed to top up the Social Services Invest to Save specific 
reserve. This reserve currently amounts to £251k and has been earmarked to fund pilot 
projects which could deliver long-term savings within the Directorate. 

 
Communities (£234k Underspend) 

 
5.30 The overall outturn position for the Communities Directorate after the approved use of 

reserves is an underspend of £234k. However, this net position does include £400k of one-off 
funding from a previously approved corporate earmarked reserve in relation to dry recycling 
treatment. The underspend excludes a ring-fenced over spend of £22k in relation to Social 
Services Transport and a ring-fenced underspend of £63k in relation to Home to School 
Transport. These variations are included in the Social Services and Education & Lifelong 
Learning Directorates’ outturn positions respectively. 

 
5.31 The Regeneration & Planning Division is reporting an overall net underspend of £43k. 

Regeneration has reported a small net underspend of £7k, this includes: - 
 

Page 25



 An underspend of £48k in Business Support and Funding, consisting of a £70k 
underspend in the Community Regeneration Fund (CRF) which is partly offset by an 
overspend in staffing due to pension & voluntary severance costs. 

 An underspend of £64k for the Legacy/C4w grant programmes due to one-off additional 
grant from the Welsh Government. 

 An overspend of £22k for Urban Renewal & Town Centre Management including 
overspend in relation to Bargoed Unit shops of £67k due to units being unoccupied, partly 
offset by additional Urban Renewal fee income and staffing underspend.  

 An overspend of £63k for Industrial Properties due to a shortfall in income from vacant 
properties and increases in building maintenance spend. 

 A net overspend of £15k for Tourism Venues.  
 
5.32 Planning has reported a net overall underspend of £36k. This is primarily due to vacant posts 

in Development Control and Strategic Planning (some of which are MTFP savings in advance) 
and additional income in Development Control (Planning application fees), which is offset by a 
shortfall in fee income in Building Control (Building Regulation fees) and Strategic Planning.    

 
5.33 Overall the Infrastructure Division is reporting a net overspend of £12k. Highway Operations is 

reporting an overspend of £300k, which is primarily in relation to overspends of £68k in winter 
maintenance, £46k in street lighting maintenance, £100k in street lighting energy increases 
and £119k in land/highway drainage, which is partly offset by underspend of £36k on Risca 

Canal maintenance. Transport Engineering is reporting a net underspend of £107k, which is 
primarily in relation to an underspend of £140k on salaries (mostly School Crossing Patrollers 
and a Manager on maternity leave), £39k car park expenditure, and £16k on accident studies. 
These underspends are partly reduced by a £68k shortfall in Car Park income and £23k 
overspend on traffic signals. The Engineering Projects Group is reporting a £20k underspend 
and Infrastructure General an underspend of £37k.  Passenger Transport is reporting a £74k 
underspend and Network Contract Services (NCS) has reported a net surplus of £50k due to 
additional income.    

 
5.34 The Public Protection Division is reporting an overall underspend of £346k, with underspends 

in Trading Standards, Licensing, CCTV and Registrars (£47k) and Environmental Health 
(£142k) and Catering (£157k). The underspend in Trading Standards, Licensing CCTV and 
Registrars is primarily due to a combination of staffing and CCTV reduced line rental costs 
(which is an MTFP saving for 2019/2020). The Environmental Health underspend is primarily 
due to vacant posts and maternity leave, some of which is again a MTFP saving in advance 
for 2019/2020. The Catering underspend is primarily due to one-off grant funding of £152k 
from WG in relation to the role out of Universal Credit and the impact on free school meal 
entitlement.  

 
5.35 The Community & Leisure Division has reported an overall overspend of £118k, however as 

already noted this is after £400k one-off corporate contingency has been allocated in relation 
to dry recycling treatment costs. 

 
5.36 The overall Community & Leisure overspend includes an underspend of £162k in Waste 

Strategy & Operations. This includes an overspend of £307k in Waste Management (net of the 
£400k contingency funding) which is due to a combination of factors including additional costs 
associated with tonnage of waste going to Civic Amenity sites, a shortfall in Commercial 
Waste income and additional waste collection costs linked to staff cover (sickness absence), 
partly offset by not purchasing any new vehicles in 2018/19 and thereby generating an 
underspend on the Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO) budget. The Waste 
Management overspend is, however, more than offset by an underspend in street cleaning of 
£464k, primarily due to vacant posts some of which is MTFP in advance for 2019/2020. It 
should be noted that there is still £400k in the corporate contingency reserve to help fund 
costs pressures in dry recycling treatment in the 2019/2020 financial year.  

 

Page 26



5.37 Parks, Countryside & Cemeteries services reported an overall overspend of £30k. This 
includes a £62k underspend in relation to Cemeteries where underspends are ring-fenced to 
an earmarked reserve to help support future capital investment in cemetery provision. Parks & 
Countryside reported an overspend of £92k, which was primarily due to additional RCCO 
costs (revenue contributions to capital outlay) to fund the acquisition of tractors; this was 
partly offset by additional work and income generated by the Parks Special Team from 
undertaking work for other departments and various projects.  

 
5.38 Leisure & Sports Development Services overspent by £331k, including a £234k overspend in 

relation to Leisure Centres due to a shortfall in income, partly offset by underspends in 
operating costs. There was also a net overspend of £154k in relation to Outdoor Education 
due to overspends in staffing, however these overspends were partly offset by underspends in 
relation to Central Leisure and HQ costs.   

 
5.39 Community Centres underspent by £38k, Building Cleaning generated an underspend of £55k 
 and Vehicle Maintenance & Fleet Management reported an overspend of £12k.  
 

Corporate Services – (£1.660m Underspend) 
 
5.40 The final outturn position for the Directorate of Corporate Services is an underspend of 

£1.660m, prior to the outturn appropriation to Earmarked reserves of £427.5k for Digital 
Services (Abavus), agreed by Cabinet on 31st October 2018. The most significant elements of 
the underspend are the following: - 

 

 Corporate Finance is reporting an overall underspend of £311k. This relates in the main to 
delays in appointing to vacant posts, vacancies that have been held to support MTFP 
savings requirements and additional one-off grant funding. 

 Legal & Governance is reporting a net underspend of £265k due to delays in filling posts 
and withholding vacancies pending the appointment of the new Head of Service and a 
restructure. This net underspend position is after the agreed transfers to earmarked 
reserves for underspends in Members Services and Election Services   

 Business Improvement Services is reporting an overall underspend of £192k. This 
includes a £41k underspend due to the delay in filling the Interim Head of Service post, a 
£48k underspend in the Policy budget, an underspend in Equalities of £78k, an 
underspend of £33k in Community Safety Partnerships, and an overspend of £7k in the 
Performance Management Unit. These underspends are partly due to MTFP savings in 
advance and the reduced need for external translation costs as vacant translator posts 
became filled.    

 There is an overall underspend of £241k for Customer & Digital Services. Information 
Technology is reporting an underspend of £10k, Procurement an underspend of 147k (due 
in the main to vacancies) and Central Services an underspend of £132k, also due to 
vacancies (some of which were being held to support MTFP savings in advance). Theses 
underspends were partly offset by Customer Services which is reporting an overspend of 
£49k.  

 For People Services there is a combined underspend of £374k. The main elements of this 
are a £181k underspend in Human Resources due in the main to vacancies being held to 
support the MTFP, an overspend in Communications of £77k largely due to reduced 
income levels, and an underspend of £277k in the Health & Safety budget due to 
additional income and vacant posts being held to support the MTFP.  

 Corporate Property Services is reporting a net underspend of £159k. The main variances 
are an overspend of £330k on maintenance budgets and a £4k overspend on energy, 
which was offset by underspends of £64k on Estates, £37k on Non-Operational 
Properties, £232k on Corporate Facilities and £139k on Building Consultancy. The 
Facilities underspend is due in the main to the successful lease agreement on Ty Duffryn 
which is also a MTFP savings in advance for the 2019/20 financial year. 

 Other budgets within Corporate Services are showing a net underspend of £84k.  

Page 27



 General Fund Housing Services is reporting a net £20k underspend. Overspends in 
providing housing advice and temporary accommodation have been offset by salary 
savings in the Allocations budget and Community Wardens recharges. Annual renewal 
funds for Ty Croeso and Ty Fesen have not been appropriated this year due to insufficient 
resources. 

 Private Housing is reporting a £13k underspend. The recovery of agency fee income has 
remained a concern throughout the year and there was a shortfall against budget of £51k. 
This was offset by underspends against salary budgets. 

 
  Miscellaneous Finance - (£3.355m Underspend) 
 
5.41 Budgets in Miscellaneous Finance underspent by £3.355m, prior to the agreed transfer of 

funds to earmarked reserves. The most significant elements of the underspend are: - 
 

 An underspend of £1.089m on Capital Financing budgets mainly due to the following:- 

- Assumed borrowing in 2018/19 being deferred to 2019/20, this includes the 21st 
Century Schools and HRA, partly offset by a reduced contribution from HRA for the 
debt costs due to the deferred borrowing. 

- Improved returns on investments. 

 Pension Contributions for former Authorities - £91k underspend. 

 Bank Charges and External Audit Fees - £100k underspend. 

 Additional one-off income of £314k. 

 NNDR Authority Empty Properties - £584k underspend due in the main to one-off prior 
year reductions in valuations 

 An underspend of £119k on the City Deal programme due to deferred borrowing 
requirements. 

 HMRC VAT Rebate on Leisure Facilities of £792k (transferred to a Capital Earmarked 
Reserve as previously agreed by Cabinet). 

 Balance Sheet Review - £336k. 
 

Council Tax Collection – (£1.412m Surplus) 
 
5.42 This represents an increase of £12k above the assumed level of £1.4m for the 2018/19 

financial year.  
 
Housing Revenue Account (£5.461m Underspend) 

 
5.43 £1.3m of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) underspend is in the Building Maintenance 

budget, in particular the cyclical budget (£415k) and revenue projects (£850k).A further 
underspend of £1.8m is reported on non-pay budgets including Housing Response, Bad Debt 
Provision and various departmental projects. 

 
5.44 £749k of the HRA underspend is in Capital Financing Recharges due to lower interest rates 

than projected and the assumed level of borrowing in-year was not required until later in the 
year. A further £833k of the underspend is due to salary savings, mainly from the turnover of 
staff throughout the year. Income achieved was slightly higher than budgeted (£179k) and the 
WHQS delivery team reported a £590k underspend due to vacant posts within the year which 
directly benefitted the WHQS programme as it resulted in less fees being recharged to capital. 

 
5.45 The HRA allocated £16.9m as a contribution towards the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 

(WHQS) Programme during the 2018/19 financial year.   
 

5.46 HRA Working Balances stood at £4.6m at the start of 2018/19 all of which was utilised to fund 
the WHQS programme. The in-year surplus of £5.4m will replenish these balances and will be 
earmarked for the 2019/20 WHQS Programme.  £99k has also been added to earmarked 
provisions to assist with Welfare Reform. 

Page 28



Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital 
 
5.47 Total expenditure on the HRA Capital Programme for 2018/19 was £51.9m, which is the 

highest level of expenditure since the WHQS programme began. This expenditure was funded 
from the £7.4m Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) received from the Welsh Government (WG), 
revenue contributions from the HRA of £16.9m, HRA balances of £4.6m and the remaining 
funding of £23m from borrowing. This is the first year that borrowing has been required to fund 
the WHQS programme.  

 
5.48 85% of the housing stock has now received internal WHQS work and 71% has received 

external WHQS work. Full WHQS compliance has been achieved on 57% of properties, with 
100% full compliance on target to be achieved by December 2020. As we head into the final 
stage of the WHQS programme we are anticipating a £261m total capital spend, of which 
circa 20% will be funded from the MRA (£52m) , 22% from borrowing (£58m), and the 
remaining 58% (£151m) will have been funded directly from the HRA. 

 
5.49 January 2019 saw The Right to Buy (Wales) Act abolished. During 2018/19 53 council homes 

were sold resulting in a useable (25%) capital receipt of £1.1m. This will be earmarked for 
supporting the Welsh Government’s agenda of increasing affordable housing supply. 

 
General Fund Capital Programme 

 
5.50 The General Fund Capital Programme for 2018/19 resulted in total targeted spend of £64.2m 

after including all in-year grant allocations and Section 106 monies. An amount of £37.6m 
remains unspent at the financial year-end, the majority of which represents slippage that will 
be carried forward into the 2019/20 financial year. The most significant areas of slippage 
relate to the Engineering Division £6.2m (of which £0.5m is Section 106 monies); Social 
Services £3.2m; Education £4.2m; Community & Leisure Services related schemes £2.1m (of 
which £0.3m is Section 106 monies); Land Reclamation £2.1m; Property Services £0.6m; 
Corporate Services £14.6m; Urban Renewal £1.7m; Public Protection £0.2m and Private 
Housing £2.7m. 

   
5.51 The 2018/19 Capital Outturn Report will be prepared for the Policy & Resources Scrutiny 

Committee on the 1st October 2019. 
 
  General Usable Service Reserves 
 
5.52 As outlined in paragraph 5.3, after adjusting for earmarked reserves 50% of underspends are 

carried forward by Directorates and are available to meet the requirements of these service 
areas in subsequent financial years. The table below provides a summary of the reserves 
arising from cumulative Directorate underspends along with projected balances after taking 
account of the approved use of reserves in 2018/19 and the current approved use of reserves 
for 2019/20:- 

 

Service Area Opening In-Year Closing Approved  Projected 

  Balance Movement Balance Use Of Balance 

  (01/04/18) 2018/19  (31/03/19) Reserves (31/03/20) 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Education & 
Lifelong Learning 0.919 (0.349) 0.570 (0.071) 0.499 

Social Services 1.875 0.453 2.328 0.00 2.328 

Environment 0.733 (0.216) 0.517 (0.196) 0.321 

Corporate Services 1.700 0.128 1.828 (0.018) 1.810 

       

Totals: - 5.227 0.016 5.243 (0.285) 4.958 

 

Page 29



5.53 The Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee receives an annual report on usable reserves 
and the next report has been scheduled for the 14th January 2020.  

 
 Conclusion 
 
5.54 Despite the ongoing challenges faced by the Council the financial position has been well 

managed during the 2018/19 financial year. This will become much more difficult moving 
forward as further savings of circa £44m are anticipated for the four-year period 2020/21 to 
2023/24.   

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 Some accounting assumptions have been made in respect of sums payable and receivable at 

year-end in accordance with best accounting practice and guidance.  
 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES  
 
7.1 The Provisional Outturn Report encompasses all the resources used by the Council to 

achieve its strategies.  
 
7.2 Effective financial planning and maintaining expenditure within approved budgets support the 

following Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: - 
 

 A prosperous Wales. 

 A resilient Wales. 

 A healthier Wales. 

 A more equal Wales. 

 A Wales of cohesive communities. 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 

 A globally responsible Wales. 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 Effective financial planning and the management of expenditure within approved budgets are 

key elements in ensuring that the Well-being Goals within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (Wales) 2015 are met. 

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no direct equalities implications to this report in terms of the financial information 

being presented for 2018/19. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 As detailed throughout the report. 
 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 30



12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no consultation responses that have not been reflected in this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
Author: Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services & Acting S151 

Officer       Tel:  01443 863022  E-mail:  harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Corporate Management Team 
 Cllr Barbara Jones, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance 

and Governance 
Mike Eedy, Finance Manager, Environment 

 Andrew Southcombe, Finance Manager, Corporate Finance 
 Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager, Education & Lifelong Learning 
 Mike Jones, Interim Financial Services Manager, Social Services 
 Lesley Allen, Principal Accountant, Housing 
 Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 
Background Papers: 
Stephen Harris (Ext. 3022) – Final Accounts working papers for 2018/19. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Provisional Outturn Summary 2018-19 
Appendix B - Movement on General Fund 
 

Page 31

mailto:harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



APPENDIX A 

 
PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 2018-19 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 
SERVICE AREA UNDERSPEND 

(OVERSPEND) 
£’000’S 

TAKE TO GENERAL 
FUND 

£’000’S 

   

Education & Lifelong Learning (349) 0 

   

Social Services 1,924 962 

   

Communities 234 27 

   

Corporate Services 1,660 158 

   

Miscellaneous Finance 3,355 2,531 

   

Council Tax Surplus 1,412 1,412 

   

TOTALS 8,236 5,090 

 
 
OTHER  UNDERSPEND 

(OVERSPEND) 
£’000’S  

TAKE TO GENERAL 

FUND 
£’000’S 

   

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 5,461 N/A 

   

Schools (550) N/A 

   

OVERALL TOTAL SURPLUS 13,147 5,090 

 
 
 
Service area surpluses are subject to a 50% take to General Fund balances after specific 
agreed earmarking of funds. 
 
Miscellaneous Finance has been subject to specific previously agreed earmarking of funds prior to 
transfer to working balances. 
 
Council Tax surpluses are transferred in total to General Fund balances. 
 
School and HRA balances must be ring-fenced to those service areas. 

 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



1 

APPENDIX B 
 

MOVEMENT ON GENERAL FUND 
 

 £000’s £000’s 
 

Opening Balance 01/04/2018  13,200 

   

Use of Funds as Previously Agreed by Council: -    

   

MTFP Savings Delivery Fund (1,800)  

Budget Strategy Contribution 2018/19 (1,400)  

   

   

Total Funds Taken In-Year  (3,200) 

   

Funds Transferred into General Fund: -   

   

Social Services, - 50% of 2018/19 Underspend 962  

Communities – 50% of 2018/19 Underspend 27  

Corporate Services – 50% of 2018/19 Underspend 158  

Miscellaneous Finance – 2018/19 Underspend 2,531  

Council Tax Surplus 2018/19 1,412  

   

   

Total General Fund Contribution 2018/19  5,090 

   

   

Total In-Year Movement   1,890 

   

Closing Balance 31/03/2019  15,090 

   

2018/19 Commitments Previously Agreed by Council :-   

2018/19 Council Tax Surplus to Support 2019/20 Budget (1,050)  

   

  (1,050) 

   

   

   

Anticipated Closing Balance 31/03/2020  14,040 

 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 12TH JUNE 2019 
 

SUBJECT: FUTURE CAERPHILLY TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY - 
#TEAMCAERPHILLY – BETTER TOGETHER 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES  

 

 

1.1 The attached report and appended ‘#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together’ Transformation 
Strategy was considered by the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019, 
prior to its presentation to Cabinet.   

 

1.2 Members were advised that the Transformation Strategy provides details of a new whole-
authority operating model for the Council that examines how services are prioritised, how they 
can become more business efficient, explores opportunities for greater customer focus and 
digital delivery, considers alternative delivery models and opportunities to take a more 
commercial approach to service delivery. 

 

1.3 #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together has been developed in view of the significant 
challenges faced by the Authority and the need to establish a new way of thinking to deliver 
services to residents in the future.  The Strategic Action Plan attached to the Strategy 
provides details of the forward work programme and activities to deliver on the key elements 
of the new operating model.   

 

1.4 Officers explained that the Strategy will support the successful delivery of outcomes, continue 
the provision of high quality, resilient, value for money services in an environment that will 
require new approaches and new skills, and build a new relationship with staff and 
communities.  The Strategy recognises the Council’s commitment to public services and the 
needs of citizens, whilst also demonstrating a commitment to explore commercial and 
investment opportunities to generate income that can be reinvested in services to help them 
remain resilient.  The strategic programme of “whole-authority” work will be delivered through 
a number of key themes (set out in Section 5.8 of the report) to underpin this new operating 
model. 

 

1.5 In view of the need to ensure sufficient capacity to help drive forward the new approach, the 
report proposed the appointment of three Transformation Managers, initially on fixed-term 
contracts for a period of two years.  The new ways of working will lead to efficiencies, savings 
and additional income to help the Authority deal with continuing financial challenges, and in 
that regard the posts should be seen as an ‘invest to save’ approach. 

 

1.6 Ms Lianne Dallimore (Unison) addressed the Scrutiny Committee in respect of the proposals, 
and explained that Unison welcomed the Strategy as a means to protecting livelihoods and 
services for communities during these challenging times, as well as the key aims to build a 
relationship with staff and explore different ways of working.  Ms Dallimore expressed a need 
for the “culture book” being developed as part of the Strategy to emphasise a two-way 
relationship and to incorporate the expectations of employees in addition to the Council’s own 
expectations of its staff already being included.  Unison urged caution regarding the 
embracing of new digital technologies, were of the view that outsourcing should be avoided in 
all forms, and that the Council should have regards to the existing workloads of staff in its 
development of a corporate volunteering policy as part of the Transformation Strategy. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 

1.7 During the course of the ensuing discussion, Officers confirmed that the proposed fixed-term 
posts would be advertised both internally and externally to attract the highest possible calibre 
of candidates.  A Member referred to queries on the report that he had emailed to the Interim 
Head of Business Improvement Services, the responses to which  had subsequently been 
circulated to all Members of the Scrutiny Committee.  Concerns were expressed regarding the 
cost of the fixed-term posts (£425k) and the effect on public perception in view of the savings 
needed to support the Medium-Term Financial Plan.  It was also suggested that the Scrutiny 
Committee should have greater involvement in monitoring the success of the posts and the 
delivery of the Transformation Strategy, such as setting up a Task and Finish Group.   

 
1.8 Officers emphasised the need for investment in order to drive forward the ambitious 

transformation programme, and reiterated the intention of the ‘invest to save’ approach for the 
posts.  It was noted that progress against the Strategic Action Plan will be reviewed quarterly 
by the Corporate Management Team (in its capacity as the #TeamCaerphilly Project Board).  
Six-monthly progress reports will also be presented to Cabinet, and the Scrutiny Committee 
will receive an annual progress report.  It was suggested that the Scrutiny Committee might 
wish to recommend that the six-monthly progress reports be brought for their consideration.  
Additionally, one-off investments to pump-prime the service changes required will be 
supported by robust businesses cases and subject to further Cabinet reports as they arise. 

 
1.9 It was confirmed that the GMB union had also responded positively to the Transformation 

Strategy and no representation had been received from other unions.  Discussion took place 
regarding the exploration of commercial and investment opportunities and Officers confirmed 
that specific proposals in these areas moving forward would be presented to the Scrutiny 
Committee prior to consideration by Cabinet.  Members also discussed the high expectations 
associated with the new posts and the positive contribution and benefits that these 
appointments could make to the delivery of the Strategy. Officers confirmed that the success 
of the posts would be monitored and the contracts reviewed after the initial fixed-term period 
of two years.   

 
1.10 Following consideration of the report and in noting the content of the Strategy and Strategic 

Action Plan, and in endorsing an additional recommendation for the six-monthly progress 
report to be brought to the Scrutiny Committee, the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
by the majority present (and in noting there was 1 against) recommended to Cabinet that:- 

 
(i) the content of the Strategy and Strategic Action Plan as appended to the report be 

noted; 
 
(ii) £425k be set aside to fund three fixed-term posts for an initial 2 years, to provide the 

additional capacity required to support the delivery of the Strategy; 
 
(iii) the £425K for the proposed three fixed-term posts be funded from the £1.8m earmarked 

reserve approved by Council on 31st July 2018, which was established to provide 
funding for one-off costs associated with delivering savings to support the Medium Term 
Financial Plan; 

 
(iv) the six-monthly progress reports on the Transformation Strategy be brought to the Policy 

and Resources Scrutiny Committee ahead of consideration by Cabinet. 
 
1.11 Cabinet are asked to consider the report and the above recommendations. 
 
1.12 Cabinet are advised that attached at Appendix A is the amended Transformation Strategy 

which reflects minor changes to the graphics.   
 
 

Page 38



Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A  Updated Transformation Strategy 
Appendix B Report to Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019 - 

Agenda Item 8  
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



TRAFODAETH CAERFFILI
THE CAERPHILLY CONVERSATION

#TeamCaerphilly  
BETTER TOGETHER
A new “whole-authority” operating model to ensure a 
resilient Caerphilly County Borough for the future

APPENDIX A

Page 41



1 #TeamCaerphilly

CONTENTS
Page

1 FOREWORD 
 Cllr David Poole, Leader and Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 2

2 INTRODUCTION 3

3 OUR VISION AND PURPOSE 5

4 OUR NEW OPERATING MODEL 7

5 CREATING THE RIGHT ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE 9

6 ENCOURAGING AND SUPPORTING INNOVATION 11

7 EMBRACING NEW TECHNOLOGIES – “DIGITAL FIRST” 12

8 ESTABLISHING A STRUCTURED PROGRAMME  
 OF SERVICE REVIEWS 13

9 ADOPTING A COMMERCIAL APPROACH 15

10 ENGAGING AND WORKING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES 17

11 ACTIVELY SEEKING OPPORTUNITIES FOR COLLABORATION 19

12 RESOURCES AND CAPACITY 21

13 ENSURING THAT WE HAVE A WORKFORCE THAT IS FIT FOR  
 THE FUTURE 23

14 PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 24

15 THE #TEAMCAERPHILLY STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN 25

16 HOW TO FIND OUT MORE 26

APPENDIX 1 - THE #TEAMCAERPHILLY STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN 27

Page 42



BETTER TOGETHER 2

FOREWORD

Cllr David Poole
Leader

1
Our core purpose is to support sustainable 
and resilient communities across the County 
Borough. For the last few years we have managed 
the tension between reduced funding and the 
growing demands for services. The disparity 
continues to increase, and to thrive within this new 
environment, demands a new way of thinking. 
We are a strong, resilient Council with a detailed 
knowledge of our people and place, so we are 
well placed to rise to the challenge and seize the 
opportunities our journey of transformation will 
bring.
We need to be assured that we are providing 
services that meet the diverse needs of our people, 
which are sustainable, efficient and effective with 
the full support of our communities. We must also 
find our place within an ever more complex set of 
relationships which are now needed between the 
public and private sectors, community and place.
We provide over 800 services to the citizens of 
Caerphilly and there are many demands placed 
upon them: -
• The financial challenge and the need to deliver 

more with less;
• Our ageing population who want to be able 

to live in their own homes whilst managing 
complex health needs;

• Our varied communities and the gap we have 
between poverty and prosperity underlying 
the need for high quality jobs and an attractive 
local environment;

• Climate change and increasing energy costs, 
which demands a focussed approach to green 
energy; and finally

• The fast pace of digital technology, which can 
offer so many opportunities to change the 
services we provide and how we work with our 
communities.

A simple response to these challenges might be 
to reduce service provision and staff numbers - 
an approach we are trying to resist. Our current 
organisational operating model is described as 
“traditional”, but it has served us well. However, 
we now have to stretch ourselves, to think about 
the future and how our County Borough will look 
in the next decade and beyond.

The challenge is big but the opportunities to  
re-purpose and re-shape the Council and the 
County Borough are even greater!
Our transformation journey must happen at 
scale and at pace, and our core principle that 
underpins this movement is a Council that has a  
Social Heart and a Commercial Head.
We must be bold and brave. We must be able to 
anticipate future opportunities and be ready to 
make the most of them. We need to ensure we are 
ready for the challenges facing us.
This ‘whole organisation’ new operating model 
is being launched as #TeamCaerphilly - Better 
Together. It has a clear purpose: “to create capacity 
and foresight to develop solutions to some of the 
County Borough’s biggest challenges, ensuring the 
Council understands and responds to the changing 
needs and priorities of our communities”.
The programme takes us initially to our first key 
milestone of 2022 (to coincide with the current 
administration) and then beyond. It will consider 
everything we do and how we will do it in the 
future.
Real impact can only be made if we are all working 
towards the same objectives together and this is 
where the power of #TeamCaerphilly will really 
work. We all love and cherish our County Borough 
and we all have an equal role to play in shaping it - 
whether you are an individual, a business, a school, 
a community group, a Councillor, or Council official 
- we each have a vested interest in making our 
people and place successful.
This is our collective call to action and we’re 
confident that through working together as 
#TeamCaerphilly, we have a real opportunity to 
thrive.

Christina Harrhy
Interim Chief Executive

Page 43



#TeamCaerphilly3

INTRODUCTION2
The authority is embarking on a major 
transformation programme to examine 
how services are prioritised, how they can 
become more business efficient, to explore  
opportunities for greater customer focus and 
digital delivery and to consider alternative 
delivery models and seek out commercial 
opportunities.

To enable us to continue providing high quality 
value for money services in an environment that 
will require new approaches and new skills, we 
will also need to build a new relationship with 
our staff and our communities.

This ambitious programme of change 
articulates the combined vision of the Cabinet 
and the Corporate Leadership Team and has 
been developed over the last 12 months. In 
making this Strategy a reality, courageous 
political and officer leadership will be essential 
to ensure that we successfully deliver the 
outcomes that we are aiming to achieve.

Our transformation strategy #TeamCaerphilly 
- Better Together is multifaceted and is 
based on a range of key components that will 
underpin everything that we do and will be 
fully embedded into our new operating model 
(see diagram below).

The outcomes we aim to achieve are: -

• To have strong working relationships with 
our communities and partners to maximise 
the use of our collective resources to ensure a 
resilient county borough for the future.

• To embed a new operating model that will 
encourage innovative approaches to service 
delivery and ensure that we are making the 
best use of our resources.

• To help close the gap between poverty and 
prosperity through improving educational 
attainment and stimulating the local economy 
to create high quality jobs.

SOCIAL HEART 
COMMERCIAL HEAD

RESOURCES

DIGITAL FIRST

WORKFORCE 
PLANNING

CULTURE

INNOVATION

COLLABORATION

SERVICE 
REVIEWS

COMMERCIALISATION

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Page 44



BETTER TOGETHER 4

• To make Caerphilly County Borough a better 
place to live, work and visit.

The case for change is well understood. Since 
the 2008/09 financial year the Council has 
cut over £100 million from its budget due 
to the ongoing programme of austerity and 
further savings totalling circa £44 million are 
anticipated for the four-year period 2020/21 to 
2023/24.

This, coupled with the rising demands 
associated with an ageing population, helping 
people with complex health needs to remain 
in their own homes, the gap between poverty 
and prosperity, climate change and digital 
advancement, demands a new approach that 
enables us to deliver “more with less”.

To date the Council has responded to the 
financial challenge with limited impact on 
front-line services. However, in planning for the 
future of the County Borough we know that the 
needs of our communities are changing and 
that the demographic profile of our population 
is shifting. For example, by 2036 the number of 
people living in the County Borough over the 
age of 85 will increase by 119%.

We know that future jobs, skills, employment 
and education will be underpinned by 
technology. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
will provide the most important opportunity for 
stimulating the local economy for generations 
to come. Employment leads to prosperity and 
equality of opportunity.

We have a duty to be globally responsible in 
everything we do and we must deliver our 
services in an efficient, effective and sustainable 
way.

Our partners are operating in similarly 
challenging environments and we need to 
maximise our collective abilities through 
working in collaboration across the public, 
voluntary and community sectors.

We are redefining our vision and values as an 
organisation. Our operating principles will 
need to change to meet our vision for the 
future. We are developing a new set of values 
and our staff have been actively engaged in this 

exciting opportunity for positive change. We 
will help them with this through new support 
and development practices.

We have identified the key local authority 
projects that will increase our resilience and we 
will deliver these through robust programme 
management. Our recently adopted Sport and 
Active Recreation Strategy is a good example 
of our future approach - consolidating and 
supporting viable services into the future.

The Council is committed to protecting 
vulnerable people and providing services as 
equitably as possible across the whole of the 
county borough. However, we must be more 
commercially minded in our approaches to 
service provision and look for opportunities 
to increase income that can be reinvested in 
services.

The way in which we interact and engage with 
our communities must be more meaningful 
and integrated fully into our strategies, so our 
current approach will need to change. We have 
to manage the expectations of our communities 
and we must develop a mutual understanding 
that we simply cannot deliver services in the 
same ways that we always have. We will listen 
carefully to the views of our communities in 
shaping future services and we will explain the 
rationale behind any decisions made.

Tough choices will need to be made and we will 
need to prioritise essential services. We will be 
open and honest in how we make these choices 
and we want our communities and staff to be 
part of the discussion.

Our staff are a dedicated and valued resource 
and we will ensure that we support and equip 
them with the required skills and competencies 
they will need to ensure the successful delivery 
of the new operating model that will underpin 
this transformation programme.

Page 45



5 #TeamCaerphilly

OUR VISION AND PURPOSE3

Page 46



BETTER TOGETHER 6

The Council’s current Cabinet will lead the 
administration until the next local government 
elections in May 2022. The Cabinet launched a 
set of commitments to the organisation, to staff 
and to communities early on in its tenure, which 
are incorporated into the Council’s Corporate 
Plan 2018-2023.

The Cabinet commitments are: ‐
• We will always do our best to protect jobs 

and services within the current challenging 
financial climate.

• We will build on Caerphilly County Borough 
Council’s reputation as an innovative, high 
performing local authority.

• We will ensure we have an engaged and 
motivated workforce.

• We will always strive to ensure Caerphilly 
County Borough Council delivers value for 
money in everything it does.

• We will help protect the most vulnerable 
people in our society and make safeguarding 
a key priority.

• We will always welcome feedback and 
consider the views of residents, staff and 
other key stakeholders.

• We will be open, honest and transparent in 
everything we do.

These commitments will be an integral element 
of the emerging service transformation 
programme, and future changes to service 
delivery models will also need to align with the 
6 Well-being Objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan 2018-2023, namely: -

• Improve education opportunities for all.
• Enable employment.
• Address the supply, condition and 

sustainability of homes throughout the 
County Borough and provide advice, 
assistance or support to help improve 
people’s health and well-being.

• Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable 
transport system that increases opportunity, 
promotes prosperity and minimises the 
adverse impacts on the environment.

• Creating a County Borough that supports 
a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle in the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.

• Support citizens to remain independent and 
improve their well-being.

Our Well-being Objectives are reflected in, 
and support, those of our partners on the 
Caerphilly Public Services Board. Across the 
public and voluntary sector we are working in 
collaboration to secure the well-being of our 
future generations.

The new operating model has a clear purpose 
- “to create capacity and foresight to develop 
solutions to some of the County Borough’s biggest 
challenges, ensuring the Council understands and 
responds to the changing needs and priorities of 
our communities”.

The real strength and impact of the new 
approach set out in our transformation strategy 
will only be realised if we are all collectively 
working towards the same aims and objectives. 
We have approximately 9,000 staff across the 
Council and we serve approximately 180,000 
residents. We have a significant business 
community located across the County Borough, 
86 schools and many community groups.

‘Working Together for the Good of All’ has been 
the authority’s mission statement since it was 
created in 1996. This concept is still relevant, 
but is now mainly used in a civic context.

We are all very proud of our County Borough 
and each of us has an equal role to play in 
helping shape it. It is this collective approach 
that we wish to harness and reinforce through 
our new delivery approach as #TeamCaerphilly 
- Better Together.

Our new approach will reflect the ‘team ethos’ 
that we will instil throughout the organisation 
and indeed the wider County Borough and our 
communities.

Page 47



#TeamCaerphilly7

#TeamCaerphilly - Better Together is a 
strategic programme of “whole-authority” 
transformational change delivered through 
a new operating model for the way that we 
provide services.

We will need to move away from traditional 
models of service delivery, embrace change, be 
prepared to innovate and take well managed 
risks. We will also need to modernise through 
harnessing emerging technologies and fully 
engaging with our workforce and communities.

At the core of this programme of change 
will be our new mantra of Social Heart 
and Commercial Head. This recognises 
our commitment to public service and the 
needs of our citizens, but also demonstrates 
a commitment to explore commercial and 
investment opportunities, where appropriate, 
to generate income that can be reinvested in 
services to help them remain resilient.

This strategic programme of “whole-authority” 
work will be delivered through the following 
key themes: - (see diagram below)

These key themes will underpin the new 
operating model for the Council and alongside 
this over the next 3 years we will begin to  
re-shape our communities across the County 
Borough through an integrated, but focused 
programme of transformation, which will 
include: -

• The completion of a £261m physical 
improvement programme to our housing 
stock by 2020, through the delivery of the 
Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS). 
Using Phase 2 of the emergent WHQS 
programme we will continue to invest in our 
existing housing stock to provide high quality, 
energy efficient, affordable homes for life. 
This will be further enhanced with an exciting 
and innovative new build programme. 

OUR NEW OPERATING MODEL4

SOCIAL HEART 
COMMERCIAL HEAD

RESOURCES

DIGITAL FIRST

WORKFORCE 
PLANNING

CULTURE

INNOVATION

COLLABORATION

SERVICE 
REVIEWS

COMMERCIALISATION

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Page 48



8BETTER TOGETHER

• Implementing the Shared Ambitions Strategy 
to raise standards and ensure our learners are 
healthy, confident, proud and ambitious and 
can benefit from high quality educational 
opportunities, settings and experiences.

• The commencement of the second phase 
of the 21st Century schools programme, 
providing £110m of new educational facilities.

• Delivering the Council’s emerging Digital 
Strategy by opening the Digital Front Door 
and introducing a wide ranging digital 
transformation programme that transforms 
every aspect of service delivery.

• The provision of a new Children’s Centre, which 
will be a “state of the art” centre of excellence 
providing respite care and therapeutic 
services for our vulnerable children and their 
families.

• Continuing the delivery of the Sports and 
Active Recreation Strategy, providing a 
sustainable approach to leisure and physical 
activity provision.

• The introduction of an integrated “one-stop 
shop” public service offer located within 
the heart of our communities, through the 
provision of strategically located integrated 
hubs, enhancing our engagement and service 
offer to the public.

• An exciting programme of economic, social 
and environmental investments to enable 
inclusive growth and opportunity across the 
County Borough, that aligns and positions 
us firmly with the City Region’s economic 
ambitions. This will also include maximising 
our Green energy credentials through 
effective and innovative use of our assets.

• Making best use of our financial resources 
through a managed “risk-based” investment 
approach to enable delivery of the 
programme.

Robust governance and programme 
management arrangements will be established 
to ensure that key milestones are agreed to 
support the successful delivery of these key 
strategic projects.

Page 49



#TeamCaerphilly9

Our new ways of working will require a resetting 
of our culture and effective, purposeful political 
and officer leadership to drive the ambitious 
change agenda forward. Employees and Elected 
Members at all levels need to understand why 
the organisation is changing, and they will also 
need to embrace a culture that will help shape 
the way the Council delivers in the future. They 
are the key enablers and the success of our 
transformational journey is dependent on the 
‘buy in’ and support from our workforce.

It is important that every employee understands 
where they fit within their own service areas 
and within the wider organisation. Each 
service area is developing their own purpose 
statements, that will help staff at all levels 
better understand the key role they play in the 
#TeamCaerphilly ethos.

A new #TeamCaerphilly Culture Book is in the 
process of being developed, and this will include 
purpose statements for each Directorate, along 
with details of key priorities for service areas. 

This Culture Book will be made available in 
both digital and printed formats, and will also 
include details of the values and behaviours 
that we will encourage in our staff to support 
the culture that we will need to deliver our new 
operating model.

Whilst there is an implied set of values and 
behaviours that staff are expected to observe 
(as outlined in the Council’s Code of Conduct), 
we do not have a ‘user friendly’ reference tool 
which outlines the day-to-day values and 
behaviours that the Council expects from its 
employees in the workplace.

The Culture Book will be an a key reference 
source for staff, as well as being a useful 
management tool to be used during staff 
inductions, 1-2-1 meetings and performance 
development reviews etc.

Following a series of Staff Roadshows in 2018, 
staff told us the type of environment they 
wanted to work in and what was important to 
them: -

CREATING THE RIGHT 
ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE5

Page 50



BETTER TOGETHER 10

We will honour this in our interactions with 
our staff. Communication of the vision for the 
authority and the values and behaviours that we 
share will be key to transforming the authority, 
and this will be captured in our Culture Book.

We have already shared a new set of values and 
behaviours with our staff at various internal 
engagement events, and these will now be fully 
embedded into our new operating model: -

• Innovative: We will empower staff to 
develop innovative and creative responses 
to challenges faced within a safe culture of 
mutual respect.

• United and Connected: We share a vison that 
serves the common good; we will actively 
collaborate and engage in healthy internal 
communication.

• Trusted: We will act credibly, reliably, and 
will foster, support and maintain positive 
relationships.

• Resilient: We will build teams that are able 
to rise to the challenges we face and adapt to 
any adverse conditions.

• Open and Transparent: We will communicate 
openly, share information, listen and 
appreciate other perspectives, give prompt 
feedback and learn from our mistakes.

These values and behaviours complement our 
already adopted Customer Service Standards, 
which are that we will always be: -

WELCOMING... 
Providing a 
courteous, positive 
and lasting impact.

PASSIONATE... 
In our aim to 
change things for 
the better.

PASSIONATE... 
In our aim to 
change things for 
the better.

DEPENDABLE... 
Building long 
term relationships 
on trust and 
transparency.

FAIR... 
We will always 
strive to do the 
right thing.

IN TOUCH... 
Interactive and 
diverse in our 
communication.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Culture Book to be finalised, approved and 
formally launched with staff

30th November 2019

Page 51



#TeamCaerphilly11

We need to challenge existing service models 
and embrace emerging technologies to 
increase efficiency and secure value for money.

We will need to learn from best practice 
nationally and internationally and be prepared 
to take well managed risks.

We will undertake extensive research to identify 
successful innovative service delivery models, 
and alongside this staff will be encouraged to 
explore alternative ways of providing services 
through a Licence to Innovate.

If staff have good ideas they will be asked to 
check them against the following criteria: -

• Is it something we are able to do?
• Have the potential risks been considered?
• Do we have the money to do it?
• Is it the right thing to do for our businesses and/

or our communities?

If these criteria are met then staff will have a 
“Licence to Innovate”.

Full details of the “Licence to Innovate” initiative 
will be launched at Staff Roadshows that are 
scheduled to take place during the Autumn.

We will also recognise staff commitment and 
will introduce a recognition scheme; Striving for 
Excellence. Often good work goes unnoticed, 
we want to take the time needed to breathe, 
look around, and reward the efforts of our 
workforce.

We want our staff to make suggestions, trial new 
approaches and contribute to transforming the 
authority through the Licence to Innovate.

We will recognise, acknowledge and support 
ideas that drive forward innovation for 
#TeamCaerphilly.

Our new staff mantra will be: - 
BE BOLD!   BE BRAVE!   BE BRILLIANT!

ENCOURAGING AND 
SUPPORTING INNOVATION6

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Licence to Innovate initiative to be 
launched

During staff roadshows 
(Autumn 2019)

Striving for Excellence staff recognition 
scheme to be launched

During staff roadshows 
(Autumn2019)

Page 52



BETTER TOGETHER 12

EMBRACING NEW TECHNOLOGIES 
- “DIGITAL FIRST”7

We will need to embrace new technologies to 
modernise the way that we work, streamline 
processes, improve workflow and drive out 
efficiencies. 

We will explore opportunities for automation 
wherever appropriate and will aim to improve 
the customer experience in interactions with 
the Council.

During 2018 the Cabinet approved  
one-off funding of £600k for investment in 
new technologies and a Customer and Digital 
Strategy and Strategic Action Plan has been 
developed which is available on the Council’s 
website.

The Council will embrace digital as a culture, 
rather than just technology. We will adopt a 
learning ethos which will allow us to be open 
and learn from our mistakes, challenging the 
status quo to bring about real value public 
services for our citizens.

It is our aim to keep pace with the growing 
expectations from the customer for sustainable, 
effective public services.

Caerphilly will become a Digital Organisation, 
with clear leadership that will cultivate a “can 
do” attitude to support all of our stakeholders.

Our Customer and Digital Strategy will be a 
living programme; flexible, adaptable and 
alive to the changing environment; modular in 
nature so that it is easy to review and updated 
annually in line with developments in the 
digital landscape.

Our approach will be continuous improvement 
to bring about real change, and to improve 
the lives of those who live and work within 
the County Borough. Where appropriate our 
interactions with our customers and wider 
stakeholders will be digital by default.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Customer and Digital Strategy to be 
approved by Cabinet

12th June 2019

Progress against key actions in the 
Customer and Digital Strategy to be 
regularly reported to and monitored by 
the Digital Leadership Group

Frequency to be agreed

Page 53



13 #TeamCaerphilly

We will introduce a structured programme of 
service reviews that will evaluate the services 
that we provide and ensure that they remain 
relevant, and are provided in the most effective 
and efficient ways to ensure that value for 
money is being achieved.

The service reviews will also provide an 
opportunity to generate financial savings and 
will consider the following as a minimum: -

• The objectives of each service review.
• What is the service being delivered and why do 

we do it?
• Why do we deliver the service in the way that we 

do?
• Who is the service delivered to and does it add 

value?
• What outcomes are being achieved and are 

they good enough?
• What is the current cost of delivery?
• How do costs compare with other providers?
• How can the service be delivered with less 

resource?
• What are the other options for delivering the 

service?
• Is there potential to eliminate waste and 

duplication?
• Can processes be automated to deliver savings 

and efficiencies?
• Are there opportunities to work with citizens, 

communities and the third sector to promote 
further engagement in shared local delivery?

• Are there commercial opportunities to generate 
additional income?

ESTABLISHING A STRUCTURED 
PROGRAMME OF SERVICE REVIEWS8

Page 54



BETTER TOGETHER 14

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Service Review pilots in Catering and 
Building Cleaning to be completed

31st July 2019

Service Directory to be completed 30th September 2019

Consistent methodology for Service 
Reviews to be adopted

30th September 2019

Structured programme of Service Reviews 
to be agreed and implemented

Cabinet approval by 31st October 2019

A consistent approach to service reviews will 
be adopted, and a service directory will be 
prepared to provide an evidence base to help 
identify those services that will be prioritised 
for review in the early years of the Council’s 
transformation programme.

The programme of service reviews will allow 
our senior officers, staff and Elected Members 
to meaningfully engage with decisions about 
future delivery, aligned to our Medium-Term 
Financial Plan. To support this we will ensure 
that our central services (Finance, Human 
Resources, Procurement, IT Services and 
Business Improvement) are actively supporting, 
enabling and challenging programme delivery 
and performance outcomes.

Where we are considering service changes 
we will engage fully with our communities, to 
ensure that their views are part of the decision-
making process.

We will define service standards following each 
review so everyone is clear of what we will 
deliver and what (if applicable) others will do.

Service Review pilots are currently being 
undertaken in the Catering Service and the 
Building Cleaning Service and the learning 
from these will inform the structured approach 
that we will adopt moving forward.

Page 55



15 #TeamCaerphilly

Central to our whole-authority programme of 
transformational change is our new mantra 
of Social Heart and Commercial Head. 
This recognises our commitment to public 
service and the needs of our citizens, but also 
demonstrates our desire to explore commercial 
opportunities where appropriate, to generate 
additional income to reinvest in services to 
help them remain resilient.

The Council provides ‘cradle to grave’ services 
to local residents. It supports local enterprise 
and investment, educates our young people, 
protects vulnerable people, and is the steward 
of our environment and infrastructure. 
Social justice and fairness are at the centre of 
everything we do.

However, this is a new era for local  government, 
and whilst we will be maintaining our focus 

on our customers and essential services, 
we will need to seek out innovation, find 
alternative ways of delivering services and 
adopt a more commercial approach to Council 
business. We will find and articulate the right 
balance between our public sector ethos and 
commercial practices.

As a large local authority we have been able to 
protect services to a greater extent than many 
other local authorities in Wales. However, we 
are on the cusp of a new era for the County 
Borough and our operating practices must 
alter so that we can deliver what is needed 
for our residents and, particularly, our future 
generations.

The Council must be more commercial and 
will seek opportunities to generate additional 
income, and explore investment opportunities 

ADOPTING A COMMERCIAL 
APPROACH9

Page 56



BETTER TOGETHER 16

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Nominate a Cabinet Member as the 
Council’s Commercial Champion

12th June 2019

Commercial and Investment Strategy to 
be drafted and approved by Cabinet

Cabinet approval by 31st October 2019

Establish a Commercial Panel 30th November 2019

Undertake a review of the Council’s 
portfolio of investments

31st December 2019

to achieve returns that can help secure future 
service delivery. We are not considering the 
largescale outsourcing of services, but will 
instead focus on a more business-like approach 
to take advantage of commercial opportunities 
for the services that we provide.

We will develop a new Commercial and 
Investment Strategy to create new economic 
and social networks to recycle economic 
benefit back to delivering quality services to 
our communities i.e. Profit for Purpose. This 
will require new thinking and may be the 
most challenging aspect of our transformation 
strategy.

Adopting an entrepreneurial approach will 
require different skills and attitudes, and 
we must change our culture to increase our 
resilience. To facilitate this we will foster 
and embed an innovative and commercial 
culture, through a commercial development 
programme across the Council.

We will also seek nominations for a Cabinet 
Member to be the Council’s Commercial 
Champion and establish a Commercial Panel 
that will consider commercial opportunities.

This new thinking will take us beyond income 
generation into the marketing of our services. 
The Council, and the professionalism of our 
staff, are a trusted brand that we will explore 
as part of the #TeamCaerphilly transformation 
programme. As part of this process we will look 
at potential trading vehicles that will provide 
the appropriate platform for us to trade with 
other public sector organisations and beyond.

Our commercial approach will also involve a 
review of our current Treasury Management 
Strategy. This will focus on exploring prudent 
investment opportunities beyond our 
traditional approaches, to improve returns that 
can then be reinvested in services to help them 
remain resilient.

Explore potential trading vehicles that 
would allow us to trade with other public 
sector organisations and beyond

31st March 2020

Page 57



#TeamCaerphilly17

Our #TeamCaerphilly transformation 
programme is about reshaping the Council 
for the future. We must do things differently 
to protect the services that are required and 
valued.

We must also acknowledge that the 
organisation will undoubtedly be smaller and 
will deliver fewer services, and may deliver its 
remaining services in a different way.

We want to do this in a considered way, which 
understands need, considers our communities, 
plans for what we must deliver, and supports 
our staff in helping us to do this.

Effective communication and engagement is 
fundamental to the transformation agenda, 
and we will achieve this with our communities 
through the Caerphilly Conversation.

We must be open and honest with our 
communities in order to manage expectations; 
we want our communities to play a key part in 
this transformation journey and we want to do 
this with the support of our residents.

It is important that our communities understand 
and support the path we have taken; they too 
will be concerned about services for future 
generations. We are confident that we have a 
common understanding that we must look 
to the future, while upholding our social 
principles, in order to protect and future-proof 
our services.

We have already committed to the National 
Principles for Public Engagement in Wales, and 
we would like to extend the level of community 
involvement in our shared aims. We will use the 
best practice of the International Association of 
Public Participation to Inform, Consult, Involve, 
Collaborate and Empower our communities. We 
will develop a Consultation and Engagement 
Framework to support this.

We currently deliver a wide range of 
discretionary services which our communities 
have become accustomed to. If we are going to 
continue to deliver some of these discretionary 
services in the future (i.e. the things that we 
don’t legally have to do), we will need the help 
of communities and the voluntary sector to 
support us in delivering them.

The role of empowered, resilient communities 
in this transformation journey cannot be 
underestimated. Whilst these are difficult times, 
it is also an opportunity to embrace change 
and develop new ways of delivering Council 
services, with the support of our communities 
for the benefit of all.

The South Wales area has a unique sense of 
community that is not present in many other 
parts of the UK. It is our social capital; we look 
out for each other. The #TeamCaerphilly 
ethos must be such that, regardless of who we 
are - Councillors, staff, residents, the business 
community, partners, young people etc. - we 
all have a part to play in doing our bit for the 
good of our area.

We will work with our communities to 
encourage them to continue the good practices 
they already have i.e. practices such as recycling 
more, not dropping litter, volunteering in 
their local area, supporting grassroots sport, 
taking part in environmental clean ups etc. 
We can all do our bit for Caerphilly County 
Borough, empowered communities are vital in 
transforming the County Borough.

ENGAGING AND WORKING 
WITH OUR COMMUNITIES10

Page 58



BETTER TOGETHER 18

To support this, our transformation strategy 
will include the principle of encouraging our 
staff to volunteer to work in the community. 
Corporate Volunteering is common in the 
private sector and increasingly so in the public 
sector. Our staff are passionate public servants, 
most of who live in the County Borough, who 
have grown up here, and have families here. 
They care about the area as much as others 
in our community. We want to explore the 
potential to release some of our staff capital 

into our communities.

We will also look at the assets we hold and 
where there is a strong case to do so, we 
will consider releasing assets for social and 
community purposes. We will develop a 
Community Asset Transfer Policy that will be 
an important part of this new approach, by 
equipping and empowering our communities 
to take direct ownership of service delivery 
where appropriate.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Corporate Volunteering Policy to be 
developed and initially piloted in one 
service area

31st December 2019

Community Asset Transfer Policy to be 
finalised and approved by Cabinet

31st December 2019

Develop a Consultation and Engagement 
Framework to support empowered 
communities to come on this journey with 
us

31st December 2019

EMPOWERED COMMUNITIES 
Supporting Community Capacity 
and Harnessing Social Capital

US 
Empowered 

#TeamCaerphilly

WE 
Council 

Collaboration

THEM 
Involved 

Communities

ME 
Informed 

Individuals

Page 59



#TeamCaerphilly19

As part of the transformation programme we 
will build on existing collaborative frameworks. 
We will also explore the potential for new 
collaborative opportunities with other public 
sector bodies, where there are tangible benefits 
for our communities and/or the opportunity to 
reduce costs. 

There will be particular emphasis on new 
opportunities that will help services remain 
resilient and where there are sound business 
cases to support proposals to collaborate.

Our approach will be twofold. There may 
be instances where there is a strong case to 
collaborate where others will lead; but we will 
also take well managed risks and seek out 
opportunities where we feel the council should 
be the Partner of Choice.

We will also consider how we can share assets 
with our public sector partners to maximise 
efficiencies and to explore the development 
of Community Hubs, which would provide 
one-stop shops where services from a range of 
partners can be provided from single locations.

The Council is currently working with the 
Aneurin Bevan University Local Health Board 
and Heddlu Gwent Police to develop proposals 
for Community Hubs across the County 
Borough.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Explore potential new collaborative 
opportunities where the Council can be 
the Partner of Choice

30th November 2019

Report to be prepared outlining proposals 
for the development of Community Hubs 
across the County Borough

31st December 2019

ACTIVELY SEEKING 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
COLLABORATION

11

Page 60



20BETTER TOGETHER Page 61



#TeamCaerphilly21

The scale of the financial challenge facing the 
Council has already been clearly set out in this 
Strategy. To meet this challenge the Cabinet has 
agreed a set of revised Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) Savings Principles, which are as 
follows: -

• We will seek to protect services for the most 
vulnerable whilst continuing to evaluate all 
other services.

• We will limit the impact of cuts on front-line 
services where we can whilst continuing to 
reduce expenditure and explore opportunities 
to generate new sources of income.

• We will adopt a longer-term approach to 
financial planning that considers the impact 
on future generations.

• We will need to accept that we will not be able 
to maintain existing levels of service but will 
introduce more innovative ways of working 
through the use of emerging technologies.

• We will engage with our communities to 
understand their needs and explore options to 
deliver some services through collaboration, 
partnerships, community trusts etc. to ensure 
that communities remain resilient and 
sustainable in the longer-term.

The #TeamCaerphilly - Better Together 
Transformation Strategy aligns with these 
principles, and developing new ways of 
working will be a key element in ensuring that 
the Council remains financially resilient moving 
forward.

As the various elements of the Strategy are 
further developed there will be a need for  
one-off investments to pump-prime the service 
changes required. Investments will need to be 
supported by robust business cases clearly 
demonstrating how the funding will lead to 
service efficiencies and savings.

There will also be a need to ensure that we 
have sufficient capacity within the Council to 
drive forward the ambitious transformation 
programme to a successful delivery. We will 
harness the range of skills and experience  
within our workforce and create opportunities 
for staff to lead and be involved in various 
workstreams that will ensure successful  
delivery of the programme.

The Council’s Corporate Policy Unit will be the  
central point of co-ordination and 
administration of the transformation 
programme. Furthermore, the Performance 
Management Unit has worked with Directorate 
Management Teams in recent months to 
introduce a new approach to service planning 
and performance management. This has 
resulted in the introduction of new Directorate 
Performance Assessments, which are designed 
to provide a ‘single source of the truth’ and will 
give insight into the how each Directorate is 
performing, as well as highlighting any actions 
that are being taken to drive improvement.

The Corporate Policy Unit will also have a key 
role to play in terms of researching innovative 
best practice and sharing this across the 
Council.

Whilst we will maximise the use of existing staff, 
there will be a requirement to establish some 
additional capacity to help drive forward our 
new approach at pace. It is therefore proposed 
to appoint three Transformation Managers 
initially on fixed-term contracts for a period of 
two years. The individual portfolios for these 
managers will be:-
• Innovation
• Commercial Investment
• Workforce planning

RESOURCES AND CAPACITY12

Page 62



22BETTER TOGETHER

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Cabinet approval to be sought to appoint 
three Transformation Managers initially on 
fixed-term contracts for a period of two 
years

Cabinet approval on 12th June 2019

Embed the new Direct Performance 
Assessments across the Council

Quarterly reporting from June 2019 
onwards

As we move forward there may be a need for  
further staffing capacity as the various 
elements of the new operating model are 
further developed. However, it is anticipated 
that this will be on an ‘invest to save’ basis as 

new ways of working will deliver sustainable 
savings year-on-year.

Page 63



#TeamCaerphilly23

Our staff are our most important resource. We 
have a committed and dedicated workforce that 
provides excellent services to our communities 
on a daily basis.

Local government can be a challenging 
environment in which to work, but the 
satisfaction of providing good quality local 
services is rewarding. Our staff are the backbone 
on which we are able to deliver to a consistent 
high quality. In return for the commitment of 
our staff the authority is committed to their 
development and support.

We expect certain behaviours of our staff, and 
in return they expect to work in an environment 
that nurtures their development and provides 
them with the support they need to do their 
jobs more effectively, and that recognises the 
contribution they make.

We have excellent work life balance policies, 
including a generous flexible working scheme. 
We have recently adopted a set of agile working 
principles which will not only be of value to staff, 
but will also provide the potential to rationalise 
buildings through new ways of working.

The emerging transformation programme will 
mean that we will need to change the ways in 
which we support staff to deliver services. The 
relationship between staff and their managers 
will need to be supportive and based on a 
continuous conversation. Staff will need to be 
equipped with the right skills to underpin the 
new ways of working and in some cases staff 
will need to be retrained to undertake different 
roles in the Council.

We will review our Staff Appraisal Process 
and introduce a new Workforce Development 
Strategy: Better Together, a key component 
of which will be a robust training and 
development programme, including leadership 
and management development, to ensure that 
we have the right mix of skills and abilities to 
meet the needs of the Council in the future.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Performance Development Review 
process to be reviewed

30th September 2019

Workforce Development Strategy: Better 
Together to be finalised and approved by 
Cabinet

31st January 2020

ENSURING THAT WE HAVE A 
WORKFORCE THAT IS FIT FOR 
THE FUTURE

13

Page 64



BETTER TOGETHER 24

Effective programme management 
arrangements will be an essential requirement 
to ensure successful delivery of the 
Transformation Strategy. The key elements will 
be the following: -

Programme Sponsor (Chief Executive)

To be accountable for the programme, lead 
the business change and provide top level 
endorsement of the rational and objectives of 
the programme.

Sponsoring Group (Leadership Team)

To provide senior level commitment and 
support for the programme, as well as 
championing implementation within their 
respective service areas.

Senior Responsible Officer (Head of Business 
Improvement Services)

To take day-to-day responsibility for overseeing 
the implementation of the programme, 
and ensuring appropriate governance and 
reporting arrangements are established to 
monitor the delivery of key actions.

Project Board (Corporate Management 
Team)

To provide strategic oversight for the 
programme and support the Senior 
Responsible Officer in driving and monitoring 
overall implementation.

The Terms of Reference for the Project Board 
will be formally signed-off by the Board at its 
inaugural meeting in July 2019.

Programme Co‐ordination/Administration

The Corporate Policy Unit will be the central 
point of co-ordination and administration for 
the transformation programme.

Progress against the #TeamCaerphilly 
Strategic Action Plan will be reviewed on a 
quarterly basis by the Corporate Management 
Team, in its capacity as the #TeamCaerphilly 
Project Board.

Six-monthly progress reports will also be 
presented to Cabinet, and the Policy and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee will receive an 
annual progress report.

The strategic actions of the transformation 
programme will also be incorporated into 
Directorate Performance Assessments, to 
ensure that there is detailed review and 
monitoring at Directorate level, with any 
emerging issues being escalated to the Project 
Board.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Terms of Reference for the Project Board 
to be agreed and formally signed-off

July 2019

PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT 
ARRANGEMENTS14

Page 65



#TeamCaerphilly25

Some of this Transformation Strategy is already 
in progress. 

The #TeamCaerphilly Strategic Action Plan 
attached as Appendix 1 will help us manage 
the transformation journey, and will allow us to 
demonstrate our progress.

As the initial high-level strategic actions are 
brought to fruition, a range of further specific 
actions, key milestones and measures will 
emerge. The overarching Strategic Action 
Plan will be regularly updated to reflect these 
changes.

We will encourage feedback on the Action Plan 
and any constructive ideas and suggestions to 
help us achieve the scale and pace of change 
that is required.

KEY ACTIONS TIMESCALE

Progress reports on the Strategic Action 
Plan to be presented to: -
• the Project Board on a quarterly basis;
• Cabinet on a six-monthly basis; and
• the Policy & Resources Scrutiny 

Committee on an annual basis

Timescales as shown in ‘Key Actions’

Key actions in the Strategic Action Plan 
to be incorporated into Directorate 
Performance Assessments

Quarterly

THE #TEAMCAERPHILLY 
STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN15

Page 66



26BETTER TOGETHER

Visit the Caerphilly County Borough Council 
website www.caerphilly.gov.uk

For more information on this Strategy, please 
contact us on 01443 811365, or 
e-mail us policyteam@caerphilly.gov.uk

HOW TO FIND OUT MORE16

Page 67



27 #TeamCaerphilly

No. ACTION POLITICAL/OFFICER LEADS TIMESCALE

CREATING THE RIGHT ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE (SECTION 5): -

1. Culture Book to be
finalised, approved and
formally launched with
staff

Leader Chief Executive 30th  
November 
2019

ENCOURAGING AND SUPPORTING INNOVATION (SECTION 6): ‐

2. Licence to Innovate
initiative to be launched

Leader Chief Executive During Staff
Roadshows
(Autumn 2019)

3. Striving for Excellence
staff recognition scheme to 
be launched

Leader Chief Executive During Staff
Roadshows
(Autumn 2019)

EMBRACING NEW TECHNOLOGIES – “DIGITAL FIRST” (SECTION 7): ‐

4. Customer and Digital
Strategy to be approved by 
Cabinet.

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate
Services

Head of  
Customer and 
Digital Services

12th June 2019

5. Progress against key  
actions in the Customer 
and Digital Strategy to be 
regularly reported to and 
monitored by the Digital 
Leadership Group

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate
Services

Head of  
Customer and 
Digital Services

Frequency to 
be agreed

ESTABLISHING A STRUCTURED PROGRAMME OF SERVICE REVIEWS (SECTION 8): ‐

6. Service Review pilots in
Catering and Building
Cleaning to be
completed

Cabinet Member 
for Environment
and Public
Protection

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

31st July 2019

7. Service Directory to be
completed

Leader Chief Executive 30th  
September 
2019

THE #TEAMCAERPHILLY  
STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN

APPENDIX 1

Page 68



28BETTER TOGETHER

No. ACTION POLITICAL/OFFICER LEADS TIMESCALE

8. Consistent methodology 
for Service Reviews to be
adopted

Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

30th
September
2019

9. Structured programme
of Service Reviews to
be agreed

Cabinet Head of Business
Improvement
Services

Cabinet 
approval by 
31st October
2019

ADOPTING A MORE COMMERCIAL APPROACH (SECTION 9): ‐

10. Nominate a Cabinet
Member as the Council’s 
“Commercial Champion”

Cabinet Head of Business
Improvement
Services

12th June 2019

11. Commercial and  
Investment Strategy to
be drafted and approved 
by Cabinet

Leader Chief Executive Cabinet
approval by 
31st October
2019

12. Establish a Commercial
Panel

Cabinet Head of Business
Improvement
Services

30th
November 
2019

13. Undertake a review of
the Council’s portfolio
of investments

Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Chief Executive 
and Section 151
Officer

31st December
2019

14. Explore potential trading 
vehicles that would allow 
us to trade with other  
public sector organisations 
and beyond

Leader and
Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Chief Executive,
Section 151
Officer and Head 
of Legal Services

31st March
2020

ENGAGING AND WORKING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES (SECTION 10): ‐

15. Corporate Volunteering
Policy to be developed 
and initially piloted in one 
service area

Cabinet Member 
for Social Care 
and Wellbeing

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

31st December
2019

16. Community Asset Transfer 
Policy to be finalised and 
approved by Cabinet

Cabinet Member 
for Homes and
Places

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

31st December
2019

Page 69



29 #TeamCaerphilly

No. ACTION POLITICAL/OFFICER LEADS TIMESCALE

17. Develop a Consultation and 
Engagement Framework to 
support empowered
communities to come on 
this journey with us

Leader and  
Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Chief Executive 31st December
2019

ACTIVELY SEEKING OPPORTUNITIES FOR COLLABORATION (SECTION 11): ‐

18. Explore potential new
collaborative opportunities 
where the Council can be 
the Partner of Choice

Cabinet Leadership Team 30th  
November 
2019

19. Report to be prepared
outlining proposals for the 
development of  
Community Hubs across 
the County Borough

Cabinet Member 
for Social Care 
and Wellbeing

Corporate 
Director for  
Social Services 
and Housing

31st December
2019

RESOURCES AND CAPACITY (SECTION 12): ‐

20. Cabinet approval to be
sought to appoint three 
Transformation Managers 
initially on fixed-term  
contracts for a period
of two years

Cabinet Head of Business
Improvement
Services

Cabinet
approval
on 12th June 
2019

21. Embed the new Direct
Performance Assessments 
across the Council

Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

Quarterly
reporting from 
June 2019
onwards

ENSURING THAT WE HAVE A WORKFORCE THAT IS FIT FOR THE FUTURE (SECTION 13): ‐

22. Performance Development  
Review process to be  
reviewed

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate
Services

Head of People
Services

30th
September
2019

23. Workforce Development 
Strategy: Better Together to 
be finalised and approved
by Cabinet

Cabinet Member 
for Corporate
Services

Head of People
Services

31st January
2020

No. ACTION POLITICAL/OFFICER LEADS TIMESCALE

Page 70



30BETTER TOGETHER

PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS (SECTION 14): ‐

24. Terms of Reference for the 
Project Board to be agreed 
and formally signed-off

Leader Project Board July 2019

THE #TEAMCAERPHILLY STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN (SECTION 15): ‐

25. Progress reports on the
Strategic Action Plan to
be presented to: -
• The Project Board on a 

quarterly basis
• Cabinet on a six monthly
• basis
• Policy & Resources  

Scrutiny Committee on an 
annual basis

Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

Timescales 
as shown in 
‘Action’

26. Key actions in the Strategic 
Action Plan to be  
incorporated into  
Directorate Performance
Assessments

Cabinet Member 
for Finance,
Performance &
Governance

Head of Business
Improvement
Services

Quarterly

Page 71



TRAFODAETH CAERFFILI
THE CAERPHILLY CONVERSATIONPage 72



 

 
 

 

POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
28TH MAY 2019 

 

SUBJECT: FUTURE CAERPHILLY TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY – 
#TEAMCAERPHILLY – BETTER TOGETHER 

 

REPORT BY: INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To present the Scrutiny Committee with the draft Future Caerphilly Transformation Strategy, 

#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together. 
 
1.2 To seek the views of Members on the draft Strategy and associated Strategic Action Plan 

prior to its consideration by Cabinet on the 12th June 2019.   
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Council’s #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together Transformation Strategy is attached at 

Appendix 1.  
 
2.2 The Strategy sets out details of a new ‘whole organisation’ operating model, which has the 

following clear purpose: - 
 
 “To create capacity and foresight to develop solutions to some of the County Borough’s 

biggest challenges, ensuring the Council understands and responds to the changing needs 
and priorities of our communities”. 

 
2.3 The Strategic Action Plan attached to the Strategy provides details of a forward work plan and 

activities to deliver on the key elements of the new operating model. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are asked: - 
 
3.1.1 To consider and comment upon the content of the Strategy and Strategic Action Plan prior to 

its consideration by Cabinet on the 12th June 2019. 
 
3.1.2 To support a recommendation to Cabinet that £425k be set aside to fund 3 fixed-term posts 

for an initial period of 2 years, to provide the additional capacity required to support the 
delivery of the Strategy. 

 
3.1.3 To support a recommendation to Cabinet that the £425k for the proposed 3 fixed-term posts 

should be funded from the £1.8m earmarked reserve approved by Council on the 31st July 
2018, which was established to provide funding for one-off costs associated with delivering 
savings to support the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

APPENDIX B

Page 73



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that the views of the Scrutiny Committee are considered prior to the 

#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together Transformation Strategy being presented to Cabinet. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Our core purpose is to support sustainable and resilient communities across the County 

Borough.  For the last few years we have managed the tension between reduced funding and 
the growing demands for services.  The disparity continues to increase, and to thrive within 
this new environment, demands a new way of thinking.  We are a strong, resilient Council with 
a detailed knowledge of our people and place, so we are well placed to rise to the challenge 
and seize the opportunities our journey of transformation will bring.  

 
5.2 We provide over 800 services to the citizens of Caerphilly and there are many demands 

placed upon them: - 
 

• The financial challenge and the need to deliver more with less; 
 
• Our ageing population who want to be able to live in their own homes whilst managing 

complex health needs; 
 
• Our varied communities and the gap we have between poverty and prosperity, underlying 

the need for high quality jobs and an attractive local environment; 
 
• Climate change and increasing energy costs, which demands a focussed approach to 

green energy; and finally 
  
• The fast pace of digital technology, which can offer so many opportunities to change the 

services we provide and how we work with our communities. 
 
5.3 A simple response to these challenges might be to reduce service provision and staff 

numbers; an approach we wish to resist.  Our current organisational operating model is 
described as “traditional”, but it has served us well.  However, we now have to stretch 
ourselves, to think about the future and how our County Borough will look in the next decade 
and beyond. 

 
5.4 The authority is embarking on a major transformation programme to examine how services 

are prioritised, how they can become more business efficient, to explore opportunities for 
greater customer focus and digital delivery, and to consider alternative delivery models and 
seek out commercial opportunities. 

 
5.5 To make this ambitious programme of change a reality, courageous political and officer 

leadership will be essential to ensure that we successfully deliver the outcomes that we are 
aiming to achieve. Furthermore, to enable us to continue providing high quality value for 
money services in an environment that will require new approaches and new skills, we will 
also need to build a new relationship with our staff and our communities.  

 
5.6 The Transformation Strategy #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together is attached as Appendix 1 

and articulates the combined vision of the Cabinet and the Corporate Leadership Team that 
has been developed over the last 12 months. 

 
5.7 The Strategy is multi-faceted and at the core of this programme of change will be our new 

mantra of Social Heart and Commercial Head. This recognises our commitment to public 
service and the needs of our citizens, but also demonstrates a commitment to explore 
commercial and investment opportunities, where appropriate, to generate income that can be 
reinvested in services to help them remain resilient. 

Page 74



5.8 The strategic programme of “whole-authority” work will be delivered through the following key 
themes, which will underpin the new operating model of the Council: - 

 

 
 
5.9 Underpinning this model of delivery will be an integrated programme of social, economic and 

environmental regeneration projects that will begin to reshape the County Borough.  These 
are: - 

 
• The completion of a £261m physical improvement programme to our housing stock by 

2020, through the delivery of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS).  Using 
Phase 2 of the emergent WHQS programme we will continue to invest in our existing 
housing stock to provide high quality, energy efficient, affordable homes for life.  This will 
be further enhanced with an exciting and innovative new build programme 

 
• Implementing the Shared Ambitions Strategy to raise standards and ensure our learners 

are healthy, confident, proud and ambitious and can benefit from high quality educational 
opportunities, settings and experiences. 

 
• The commencement of the second phase of the 21st Century schools programme, 

providing £110m of new educational facilities.   
 
• Delivering the Council’s emerging Digital Strategy by opening the Digital Front Door and 

introducing a wide ranging digital transformation programme that transforms every aspect 
of service delivery. 

 
• The provision of a new Children’s Centre, which will be a “state of the art” centre of 

excellence providing respite care and therapeutic services for our vulnerable children and 
their families. 

 
• Continuing the delivery of the Sports and Active Recreation Strategy, providing a 

sustainable approach to leisure and physical activity provision. 
 
• The introduction of an integrated “one-stop shop” public service offer located within the 

heart of our communities, through the provision of strategically located integrated hubs, 
enhancing our engagement and service offer to the public. 

 

Page 75



• An exciting programme of economic, social and environmental investments to enable 
inclusive growth and opportunity across the County Borough, that aligns and positions us 
firmly with the City Region’s economic ambitions.  This will also include maximising our 
Green energy credentials through effective and innovative use of our assets.  

 
• Making best use of our financial resources through a managed “risk-based” investment 

approach to enable delivery of the programme.  
 
5.10 Through this cohesive, whole-authority programme we are aiming: -  
 

• To have strong working relationships with our communities and partners to maximise the 
use of our collective resources to ensure a resilient County Borough for the future. 

 
• To embed a new operating model that will encourage innovative approaches to service 

delivery and ensure that we are making the best use of our resources. 
 
• To help close the gap between poverty and prosperity through improving educational 

attainment and stimulating the local economy to create high quality jobs. 
 
• To make Caerphilly County Borough a better place to live, work and visit. 

 
5.11 There will be a need to ensure that we have sufficient capacity within the Council to drive 

forward the ambitious transformation programme to achieve successful delivery.  We will 
harness the range of skills and experience within our workforce and create opportunities for 
staff to lead and be involved in various workstreams. 

 
5.12 Whilst we will maximise the use of existing staff, there will be a requirement to establish some 

additional capacity to help drive forward our new approach at pace.  It is therefore proposed to 
appoint three Transformation Managers; initially on fixed-term contracts for a period of two 
years.  The individual portfolios for these Managers will be: -  

 
• Innovation 
 
• Commercial Investment 
 
• Workforce Planning 

 
5.13 The new ways of working will lead to efficiencies, savings and additional income that will help 

us deal with the continuing financial challenge that we face. In that regard the proposed 
investment in the three fixed-term posts should be seen as an ‘invest to save’ approach.  If we 
do not create the capacity and embed the new ways of working then we will inevitably revert 
to a ‘salami slicing’ approach to achieving financial savings. 

 
5.14 Effective communication and engagement will form a key part in the implementation of the 

#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together Strategy as it is vitally important that all our 
stakeholders (internal and external) are aware of this exciting new approach and get the 
chance to fully engage with the process to help shape our services in the future. 

 
5.15 If Cabinet are minded to approve the Strategy, the first phase of communication will focus on 

‘launch’ activity to raise initial awareness about the new approach.  The main aim initially will 
be to signpost people to further information about the Strategy, which will be hosted on the 
CCBC website.  

 
5.16 This will be done using a mix of digital and traditional communication channels to reach as 

many stakeholders as possible across the County Borough.  A short video will be produced 
and the Council’s popular social media channels will be fully utilised.  The June edition of 
Newsline will include a prominent feature about the new Strategy and this will be delivered to 
every home in the County Borough.  Information will also be issued to the local media outlets.  

Page 76



5.17 A significant amount of internal communication will be required to ensure that staff at all levels 
across the organisation are fully briefed and engaged in the process.  Video blogs, 
newsletters, briefing notes and Intranet information will be made available to employees and 
Elected Members to coincide with the launch activity.  We will also be arranging a new series 
of Staff Roadshows during the autumn. 

 
5.18 Looking further ahead, this work will form a key part of the Council’s ‘Caerphilly Conversation’ 

campaign as we seek to engage with all sections of the community in our journey of 
transformation moving forward.  

 
5.19 We will also ensure that effective feedback mechanisms are in place to enable us to update 

our residents, staff and other stakeholders and maintain a two way flow of communication 
throughout the process. 

 
5.20 The Strategic Action Plan for #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together is appended to the 

Strategy document and identifies both political and officer leads for the key actions that will 
help us manage the transformation journey, and will allow us to monitor and demonstrate our 
progress. 

 
5.21 As the initial high-level strategic actions are brought to fruition, a range of further specific 

actions, key milestones and measures will emerge.  The overarching Strategic Action Plan will 
be regularly updated to reflect these changes. 

 
5.22 Progress against the Strategic Action Plan will be reviewed on a quarterly basis by the 

Corporate Management Team, in its capacity as the #TeamCaerphilly Project Board. 
 
5.23 Members will note that six-monthly progress reports will also be presented to Cabinet, and the 

Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee will receive an annual progress report. 
 
 Conclusion 
 
5.24 With reducing budgets, mounting demand pressures, and commitments to localism, place- 

shaping and focussing more upon the needs of citizens; our current operating model is no 
longer fit-for-purpose. 

 
5.25 The #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together Transformation Strategy sets out details of a new 

‘whole-authority’ operating model to meet the significant challenges that lie ahead, and to 
ensure a resilient Caerphilly County Borough for the future. 

 
5.26 The challenge is big but the opportunities to repurpose and reshape the Council and the 

County Borough are even greater! 
 
5.27 This is our collective ‘call to action’ and we’re confident that through working together as 

#TeamCaerphilly, we have a real opportunity to thrive.  
 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 It is assumed that the Council will continue to face significant financial and service challenges 

as we move forward and the ‘business as usual’ approach is no longer appropriate.  This 
underpins the need for the programme of change in the #TeamCaerphilly – Better Together 
Transformation Strategy.  

 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The #TeamCaerphilly - Better Together Transformation Strategy introduces a new operating 

model for the local authority.  For this reason it supports whole-authority delivery. 

Page 77



7.2 Corporate Plan 2018-2023: -   
 
 The Strategy, and associated Strategic Action Plan, supports the delivery of the Corporate 

Well-being Objectives in the Corporate Plan 2018-2023: -     
 
 Objective 1 - Improve education opportunities for all. 
 
 Objective 2 - Enabling employment. 
 
 Objective 3 - Address the availability, condition and sustainability of homes throughout the 

County Borough and provide advice, assistance or support to help improve people’s well-
being. 

 
 Objective 4 - Promote a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system that increases 

opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse impacts on the environment 
 
 Objective 5 - Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with 

the sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015. 

 
 Objective 6 - Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being. 
 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The #Team Caerphilly – Better Together Transformation Strategy will assist the authority in 

its duties as a public body under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to 
contribute to the well-being goals for Wales: - 

  
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 
• A globally responsible Wales 

  
8.2 Delivery of the Strategy is dependent on using the sustainable development principle within 

the new operating models: - 
 

• Long Term – The Strategy will enable the authority to meet its long-term aims and secure 
sustainable services. Its approach takes a long-term view of assessing all services to 
ensure their fitness for the future. 

 
• Prevention – Taking a commercial approach will allow reinvestment in services and will 

enable us to protect delivery that may be at risk of further budget cuts. 
 
• Integration – Working with communities will support a shared understanding of community 

well-being; releasing our staff capacity and considering the use of our assets for community 
purposes are part of our contribution to #TeamCaerphilly, in which we expect communities 
to play their part. 

 
• Collaboration – The Strategy sets out a strategic approach to collaboration that maximises 

opportunities and outcomes.  
 
• Involvement – We support greater engagement with communities and will support our staff 

to be more innovative in finding solutions to problems. 
 

Page 78



9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 

9.1 An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s Strategic Equality 
Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential unlawful discrimination and/or low level or 
minor negative impact has been identified; therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 The “#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together” Transformation Strategy aligns with the Cabinet’s 
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) savings principles, and the new operating model will be 
a key element in ensuring that the Council remains financially resilient moving forward. 

 

10.2 Whilst we will maximise the use of existing staff, there will be a requirement to establish some 
additional capacity to help drive forward our new approach at pace. It is therefore proposed to 
appoint three Transformation Managers; initially on fixed-term contracts for a period of two 
years. The individual portfolios for these Managers will be: -  

 

• Innovation 
• Commercial Investment 
• Workforce Planning 

 

10.3 The total cost of the proposed 3 fixed-term posts for a period of two years will be £425k. It is 
recommended that this should be funded from the £1.8m earmarked reserve approved by 
Council on the 31st July 2018, which was established to provide funding for one-off costs 
associated with delivering savings to support the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

 

10.4 As the various elements of the Strategy are further developed there will be a need for one-off 
investments to pump-prime the service changes required. Investments will need to be 
supported by robust business cases, clearly demonstrating how the funding will lead to 
service efficiencies and savings. These additional investments will be subject to further 
Cabinet reports as they arise.   

 
 

11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1 Apart from creating the required capacity to drive forward the ambitious transformation 
programme at pace there are no other direct personnel implications at this stage. 

 
 

12. CONSULTATIONS 
 

12.1 All consultation responses have been reflected in this report. 
 
 

13. STATUTORY POWER  
 

13.1 The Local Government Acts 1998 and 2003. 
 
 

Author: Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Business Improvement Services & Acting S151 
Officer      Tel: 01443 863022  E-mail:  harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk 

Consultees: Leader and Cabinet Members 
Corporate Management Team 
Heads of Service and Management Network 
Cllr J Pritchard, Chair of P&R Scrutiny Committee 
Cllr G Kirby, Vice-Chair of P&R Scrutiny Committee 
Cllr C Mann, Leader, Plaid Group 
Cllr K Etheridge, Leader, Independent Group 
Lianne Dallimore, Unison 
Kelly Andrews and Neil Funnell, GMB 

Page 79

mailto:harrisr@caerphilly.gov.uk


Background Papers:  
Cabinet Report (27/06/18) - Provisional Outturn for 2017/18 
Council Report (31/07/18) - Financial Statements 2017/18 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix 1 – Future Caerphilly Transformation Strategy – “#TeamCaerphilly – Better Together” 
 

Page 80



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 12TH JUNE 2019 
 

SUBJECT: CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY AND STRATEGIC ACTION 
PLAN 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES  

 

 
1.1 The attached report, which outlined the draft Customer and Digital Strategy and associated 

Strategic Action Plan for Caerphilly CBC, and which sought the views of Members on its 
content, was considered by the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019, 
ahead of its presentation to Cabinet for endorsement. 

 
1.2 By way of an interactive digital interface that will be made available on the Council’s website 

and will be continually updated, the Scrutiny Committee were referred to the key sections of 
the Strategy as appended to the report.  Members were advised that the Strategy sets out a 
proposed vision for “Investing in our Future by Opening the Digital Front Door”.  The Strategy 
includes a number of guiding principles and a narrative for #DigitalCaerphilly, including 
connectivity with customers and staff via this “Digital Front Door”, helping and supporting 
business by driving innovative solutions, will embrace the wider Welsh agenda by adhering to 
digital principles and development of digital service standards, and will connect internally with 
a digital culture to promote and support the use of modern day technology.  The Action Plan 
attached to the Strategy sets out a forward work plan and activities to deliver on the Key 
Objectives of the Strategy, and the Strategy will set the scene for future direction of travel for 
the service and the Council. 

 
1.3 It was explained that the Strategy will put the customer at the heart of service delivery, whilst 

also continuing to support traditional customer service and a personal approach.  Officers 
emphasised that the Strategy will not take away existing customer services but rather, is 
intended to enhance these services.  It was noted that it is important for the Council to retain 
its ability to direct its own resources to the successful delivery of this strategy, and whilst this 
by no means closes the door on future collaborations of ICT and digital provision, will allow 
the Council to focus on the tasks at hand at a key time in its transformation journey.  Although 
Cabinet has approved the setting aside of £600k to fund some of the key initial investments to 
support the Strategy, it is anticipated that further investment will be required moving forward 
and will be subject to further Cabinet reports as matters progress. 

 
1.4 Discussion took place regarding the possible impact of the Strategy on customer interaction, 

and Officers emphasised that the new Abavus Customer Portal being launched as part of the 
Strategy will not take away the existing face to face service preferred by some customers.  
Rather, this will create more avenues to contact the Council and will offer greater flexibility for 
residents, particularly those who prefer to contact the Council in the evenings.  It was 
explained that the system will rely on help points and an automation service outside of office 
hours, and will be set up in such a way as to reduce repetitive tasks for staff in daytime hours.    

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



1.5 In response to a Member’s query, it was confirmed that the system will not replace staff and 
will offer support for back office staff and allow them to be retrained to concentrate on other 
customer services areas.  It was also confirmed that Unison welcomed the potential to allow 
repetitive tasks to be eliminated and allow for the retraining and reskilling of staff.  Members 
noted that the new Abavus system will offer ease of use and provide directionality to where it 
is needed, and that several staff from Customer First and IT Services with the relevant 
knowledge base have been deployed to work on the new Strategy in order to maximise its 
potential. 

 
1.6 The Scrutiny Committee were pleased to note the enthusiasm of Officers involved in the 

development and delivery of the Strategy and asked that their thanks to the relevant staff be 
placed on record.   

 
1.7 Following consideration of the report and in noting its contents, the Policy and Resources 

Scrutiny Committee unanimously recommended to Cabinet that the Customer and Digital 
Strategy and Strategic Action Plan as appended to the report be endorsed. 

 
1.8 Cabinet are asked to consider the report and the above recommendation. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A Report to Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019 –  

Agenda Item 9 
 

Page 82



 

 
 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  

28TH MAY 2019 
 
SUBJECT: CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY AND STRATEGIC ACTION 

PLAN 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To present to Members of the Scrutiny Committee the draft Customer & Digital Strategy and 

associated Strategic Action Plan for Caerphilly CBC.  
 
1.2 To seek the views from the Committee’s Members on the draft Customer & Digital Strategy 

and associated Strategic Action Plan prior to submitting and presenting the information to 
Cabinet for endorsement.   

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Council’s Customer & Digital Strategy (‘the Strategy’) is attached at Appendix 1 and the 

associated Strategic Action Plan (‘the Action Plan’) is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
2.2 The Strategy sets out a proposed vision “Investing in our Future by Opening the Digital Front 

Door”. 
 
2.3 The Strategy includes a number of guiding principles and a narrative for #DigitalCaerphilly. 
 

• Caerphilly will connect with it Customers and staff via the “Digital Front Door”   
• Provide help and support to business by driving innovative solutions.   
• Embrace the wider Welsh agenda by adhering to digital principles and development of 

digital service standards.  
• Connect internally with a digital culture which will promote and support the use of modern 

day technology.    
 
2.4 The Action Plan attached to the Strategy sets out a forward work plan and activities to deliver 

on the Key Objectives of the Strategy. 
 
2.5 The Strategy sets the scene for future direction of travel for the service and the Council. 
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider and comment on the content of the 

Strategy and the Action Plan prior to submitting and presenting the information before its 
onward submission to Cabinet for endorsement.   

Page 83



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that the views of the Scrutiny Committee Members are considered prior to the 

Strategy being submitted and presented to Cabinet. 
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The appended Strategy has been under development since October 2018.  Staff and key 

Officers have been instrumental in its development.   
 
5.2 The proposed vision within the Strategy is described as follows: “Investing in our Future by 

Opening the Digital Front Door”. 
 
5.3 A set of strategic themes and guiding principles have been developed with the aim of 

transforming the Council and the way it delivers services to internal and external Customers.  
 
5.4 The Strategy is an ambitious transformation programme, which will require senior executive 

leadership and scrutiny to remain engaged.  It is proposed to introduce a Digital Leadership 
Group to oversee the implementation of the Strategy and the deployment of appropriate 
technology and systems within the Council.  The Corporate Director for Education & 
Corporate Services will chair the group in order to challenge the Councils approach to digital.   

 
5.5 In recognising the importance of Digital transformation, we also recognise the need to 

maintain an inclusive approach to customer interaction and provide equal access to all 
citizens.  We will ensure that where we have digital services there will be face to face 
provision available should the customer wish to use it.   

 
5.6 Members of the Digital Leadership Group are yet to be confirmed, however, it is envisaged 

that the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services will sit on the group along with the Head of 
Customer and Digital Services.  Other representatives will be requested once the terms of 
reference are defined in draft. 

 
5.7 #DigitalCaerphilly, sets out how we will embrace modern technology which is the approach 

that the Council intends to take in everything it will do to improve outcomes and customer 
service delivery.   

 
5.8 The Strategy has 6 strategic themes which supports the Council’s Wellbeing objectives and 

the wider Welsh agenda.  
 

• Public Service by design 
• Leadership 
• Service Standards 
• Staffing, skills and development 
• Spend control  
• Timetable for change. 

 
5.9 As a key Strategy for the Council there is a need for a flexible approach, therefore the 

Strategy and Action Plan will ensure we keep abreast of the evolving world of “digital” with our 
“how to find out more” page being continuously updated. It is envisaged that the primary 
source for the Strategy will be electronic, however, paper copies can be made available upon 
request.   

 
 Conclusion 
 
5.10 The Strategy and Action Plan sets out the Council’s plans for the delivery of its Customer and 

Digital Services.  It is a bold and ambitious Strategy that puts the Customer at the heart of 
everything we do.  It will provide the basis for embracing new technologies and innovation as 
we deliver citizen centric services.  

Page 84



 
5.11 With such a bold and ambitious Strategy the future delivery model for Customer & Digital 

Services must be established.  
 
5.12 Over recent years the Council has explored a range of opportunities for developing and 

enhancing its ICT and Digital provision.  Some of these have been through internal changes 
and some have been through collaborations with other local authorities.  

 
5.13 As the Council begins the next phase of its transformational journey, it is considered vitally 

important that the ability to direct its own resources to the successful delivery of this Strategy 
is retained by the Council.  

 
5.14 This by no means closes the door on future collaborations of ICT and digital provisions, but it 

does allow the Council to focus on the tasks in hand at a key time in the Council’s 
transformation journey.  Opportunities to collaborate will continue to be explored, indeed, 
opportunities may ultimately arise from aspects of the Strategy itself. 

 
5.15 It is worth highlighting the fact that Customer and Digital Services contributed almost £420k to 

the Council’s savings requirement for the 2018/19 financial year with a further £451k of 
savings also identified and approved for 2019/20.   

 
5.16 While the service looks to achieve further savings over coming years, it should also be noted 

that the tools and structures are now very much in place to enable other Council functions to 
reduce expenditure and improve both productivity and the customer experience. 

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 All details within the report, strategy document and action plan are reflective of issues and 

technology as of May 2019.  All financial information is reflective of costs in 2018/19.  These 
may increase or decrease through the duration of the strategy.  Any fluctuations in costs 
associated with the implementation of the strategy which is outside pre-established budget will 
be subject to the necessary approval process in line with the Authority’s governance policy. 

 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The Strategy is aligned to the Councils Corporate plan and 6 well-being objectives by 

providing a gateway to Council services and supporting citizen centric services.  The Strategy 
will encourage and support communities to interact and use online solutions to deliver the 
services they require.   

 
 
8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Strategy is aligned to the Wellbeing of future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 as it sets out 

to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of the people of Wales.  
The adoption of the Strategy will provide a long term joined up approach to the delivery of 
public services.   

 
8.2 The Wellbeing and Future Generations Act calls for a massive step change in how 

organisations such as ourselves plan and deliver public services. Digital transformation will 
also require a different mind-set.  Our Strategy is focused on “user need” and improved 
service delivery therefore providing opportunities for a prosperous and resilient Wales.  
Providing an equal opportunities to Council services which are safe and well connected.   

 

Page 85



9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 The Strategy supports: 
 
 Strategic Equality Objective 4-Improving Communication Access 
 Strategic Equality Objective 5- Inclusive Engagement and Participation 
 Strategic Equality Objective 6- Compliance with the Welsh Language Standards 
 
9.2 An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s Strategic Equality 

Plan and supplementary guidance.  There are no identified negative impacts on the target 
equality groups.  The completed EIA is attached at Appendix 3. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 During the 2018/19 financial year Cabinet has already approved the setting aside of £600k to 

fund some of the key initial investments to support the Strategy.  However, it is anticipated 
that further investments will be required moving forward and these will be subject to further 
Cabinet reports as matters progress. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Currently there are no personnel implications to the adoption of the Strategy.  Any changes 

that emerge beyond its adoption will be reported as required in line with corporate policies.  
 
 
12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Local Government Acts 1998 and 2003. 
 
 
Author: Elizabeth Lucas, Head of Customer & Digital Services, lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Cllr, Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services  

Cabinet Members  
Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
Corporate Management Team (CMT) 
All Heads of Service.   
Customer & Digital Services – Management team 

 Councillor James Pritchard – Chair of P&R Scrutiny 
 Councillor Gez Kirby – Vice Chair of P&R Scrutiny 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Customer and Digital Services Strategy (‘the Strategy’) 
Appendix 2 Draft Customer and Digital Services Strategy Action Plan (‘the Action Plan’) 
Appendix 3 Completed EIA  
 

Page 86

mailto:lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk
https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=97
https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=59


Investing in our Digital Future 1
TRAFODAETH CAERFFILI
THE CAERPHILLY CONVERSATION

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

CUSTOMER AND 
DIGITAL STRATEGY
Investing in our Digital Future 
Connecting technology and knowledge to deliver excellent customer 
experience and opportunities through digital transformation.

2019-2023

APPENDIX 1

Page 87



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 1

Page
1 FOREWORD  
 Cllr Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 2

2 INTRODUCTION 3

3 CAERPHILLY CUSTOMERS AT THE HEART OF OUR BUSINESS 4

4 OUR VISION 5

5 OUR LEADERSHIP 6

6 DIGITAL CAERPHILLY 7

7 OUR STRATEGIC PRINCIPLES 9

8 HOW TO FIND OUT MORE 11

CONTENTS

Page 88



Investing in our Digital Future 2

Caerphilly council wants to be an innovative, 
forward looking local authority and we are 
committed to modernising our approach 
to service delivery, therefore our customer 
experience is of vital importance. 

We also recognise that we need to take 
an inclusive approach to ensure that we 
provide equal access to our services for all 
sections of the community. Developing our 
digital offering to create a positive customer 
experience must be tempered with options of 
alternative service options for those who are 
not able or are yet to develop the ability to 
transact and communicate in a digital way.

Our digital transformation must start with 
a step change in our understanding and 
appreciation of the customer experience. Our 
customer is at the heart of everything that we 
do and we will be brave in embracing new 
technologies and innovation to deliver citizen 
centric services. 

We will also embrace an agile, iterative 
approach to our work. Embracing digital as a 
core culture for the whole organisation, rather 
than just technology. 

We will be bold in our approach, we will 
explore innovation and, if necessary, we 
will learn from our mistakes to ensure 
continuous improvement in delivering Digital 
Services that work for everyone within our 
communities.

FOREWORD

Cllr Colin Gordon
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services

1
As the council’s Cabinet Member for Corporate Services, I’m delighted to be associated 
with this bold and  ambitious strategy that will help transform the way we deliver digital 
services in the future.

Page 89



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 3

The Council will embrace 
digital as a culture rather 
than just technology. We will 
adopt a learning ethos which 
will allow us to be open and 
learn from our mistakes, 
challenging the status quo to 
bring about real value public 
services to our customers. 

It is our aim to keep pace with 
the growing expectations 
from the Customer for 
sustainable, effective Public 
Services. 

Caerphilly will become 
a Digital Organisation, 
with clear Leadership that 
will cultivate a “can do” 
attitude to support all of our 
stakeholders.

Digital in Caerphilly will 
be seen as a whole system 
approach which is stakeholder 
led so that we improve the 
customer experience and 
outcome of public services.  

This strategy will  evolve so 
that it continues to support 
national strategies and 
legislation such as:

It will reflect on the System Reboot 
report from Lee Waters AM to ensure 
that the Council is at the forefront of 
Digital Transformation in Wales. Our 
Customer and Digital Strategy needs 
to be a living programme, flexible, 
adaptable and alive to the changing 
environment; modular in nature so 
that it is easy to review and update 
annually in line with developments in 
the Digital landscape. Our approach will 
be continuous improvement to bring 
about real change and to improve the 
lives of those who live and work within 
our borough. Where appropriate our 
interactions with our customers and 
wider stakeholders will be Digital by 
default.

The Council is committed to ensuring 
it achieves value for money from its 
Customer and Digital services. It also 
recognises the value of using Digital 
tools to support its wider Cultural, 
Social, Economic and Environmental 
objectives, in ways that offer real long-
term benefits to the community it 
serves. 

The Strategy will build on the Council’s 
success to meet the overarching Well-
being objectives, our customer charter 
and our service standards.

INTRODUCTION2

1. Digital Vision for Wales    https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/111116dwexecutivesummaryen.pdf
2. The Wales Digital First    https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/150421-digital-first-en.pdf
3. The Digital Action Plan    https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/171020-digital-action-plan-17-20-en.pdf
4. The Future Generations Act    https://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/160401-wfg-easy-read-en.pdf
5. Cymraeg 2050 strategy    https://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/170711-welsh-language-strategy-eng.pdf

In adopting this strategy the Council will set out its vision for developing 
and managing its interface with customers and its digital environment.

1

2

3

4

5

Page 90



www

i

Investing in our Digital Future 4

CAERPHILLY CUSTOMERS AT  
THE HEART OF OUR BUSINESS3

 My Health Online is a 
secure NHS Wales web-

based service which enables 
patients to book appointments 

and order repeat prescriptions 
online. It is currently installed in 89% 

of GP practices in Wales.

Citizen Digital 
Exclusion level for 
CCBC - 9.  Scale 
of 1-9 where 9 is 
highest likelihood 
of exclusion.

Caerphilly Schools use 6.5k 
tablets and 12k computers.

18%

2,161

26%

percentage of 
Welsh internet 

users who bought 
things online in 
the last 4 weeks.

Overall take up of digital 
online public services in 
Wales could be as low as 

percentage of CCBC residents 
who pay their council tax 
manually with cash.

of households in 
Wales access the 
internet. This 
has grown by 
8% in 7 years.

services which 
can be transacted 
online within the 

Caerphilly county 
borough. 

people per 
month are 
using the 
CCBC website.

100k+

During a year the CCBC 
website has 189k views of 
job adverts 34k council tax 
payments 37k planning 
application views 30k bin 
collection day views.22

followers of the Council’s 
Facebook page.

followers 
of the 

Council’s 
Twitter 

account.

of people accessing the 
CCBC website are 
using a mobile 
or tablet 
device.

of Welsh children use
electronic devices for 

at least 2 hours on a weekday.

of jobs 
nationally 
require digital 
skills to some 
degree.

WIFI access points 
across Caerphilly 
county borough.

of the working 
age population 

who use the internet and 
are in employment visited 
public service websites, 
compared with 71% 
of working age people 
who were economically 
inactive and 67% who 
were unemployed.

79%

90%

1 2k

16k

20k

6.5k

73

110+

85%

73%

Page 91



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 5

OUR VISION4
Investing in 
our future by 
opening the 
digital front door.

Investing in 
our future by 
opening the 
digital front door.

Page 92



Investing in our Digital Future 6

Customer and Digital Services within Caerphilly County Borough Council will have a Senior 
Executive Leadership. The Corporate Director for Education & Corporate Services will chair 
a Digital Leadership Group formed from the Council’s leadership Team.

OUR LEADERSHIP5

Cabinet

The Director for Education and Corporate 
Services will represent the Customer and 
Digital Services Management Team.

The Head of Customer and Digital Services will 
head the service and lead the transformation 
agenda. 

The Council will embrace Collaboration when 
there is a compelling reason to do so. 

We will strive to be the “best connected” Welsh 
Authority, delivering high-level customer 
services, technology driven educational 
opportunities and enabling internal council 
services.

Technology will be embraced to support and 
change links and strengthen our communities, 
which includes business.

Leader

Cllr Dave Poole

Cllr Sean Morgan

Cllr Eluned Stenner

Cllr Carl Cuss

Cllr Barbara Jones

Cllr Nigel George

Cllr Philippa Marsden

Cllr Colin Gordon

Cllr Lisa Phipps

Corporate Management Team

Chief Executive

Christina Harrhy

Richard Edmunds Dave Street Mark S Williams

Head of Customer & Digital Services

Liz Lucas

Customer & Digital Management Team

Ian Evans Ruth Betty Gwyn Williams

Page 93



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 7

The Council will increase the opportunities 
for communities to interact and use online 
solutions to deliver and develop local services.

Using technology innovation to support 
vulnerable people more effectively.

Identifying and using data to improve all our 
services, have the ability to predict the services 
for the future, and use our data effectively to 
solve problems. 

Protecting our data, 
information and services 
by the development 
of excellence in Cyber 
Security and Information 
management.

To enable the transformation of how people 
work productively and drive efficiency 
savings internally.

Put the citizens of 
Caerphilly at the 
heart of our business. 
Ensure that our 
digital solutions do 
not exclude sections 
of our communities 
through our approach. 

The Council will use our digital solutions 
to enable, enhance and connect - offering 
greater opportunities to the citizens of 
Caerphilly and Wales as a whole.

The Council will invest in its digital 
infrastructure, solutions and skills to enable 
this strategy.

DIGITAL CAERPHILLY6
It has been reported that Wales is riding high on a Digital Wave.  
Caerphilly will become connected to:

●  The Citizen through the Digital front door
●  Business by driving innovative solutions
●  Public Bodies by adherence to Digital Principles and Service Standards 
●  Internally connected via a digital culture which promote the use of technology

To empower the 
Council organisation 
and develop the digital 
skills of our staff. 

Today we all have online lives. 
As a result, the Council will 
need to evolve to facilitate 
this shift in our culture, and 
its move to online services.  

Page 94



Investing in our Digital Future 8

Investing in our digital future

Page 95



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 9

OUR STRATEGIC PRINCIPLES7
STRATEGIC THEME PRINCIPLES

PUBLIC SERVICE DESIGN
The Customer experience will come 
first in all that we aspire to do. It will be 
our aspiration to deliver an exceptional 
experience to all our customers 
through a range of different channels. 
Our customers and staff will be at the 
heart of our business. The approach to 
service will be Welcoming, providing a 
courteous, positive and lasting impact. 
Passionate in our aim to change our 
service for the better. Dependable 
by building long term relationships 
based on trust and transparency. We 
will strive to do the right thing and be 
fair in our approach. We will remain in 
touch being interactive and diverse in 
our communications. Our policies and 
systems will be citizen centric.

   Customers are to be at the heart of our 
business

   Our policies and systems will be citizen 
centric

  Adopt a user first approach to delivery

LEADERSHIP
We will become a Digital Organisation 
through strong leadership. Our Culture 
will be shaped to embrace digital as 
the way of doing things not just about 
technology. We will adapt a multi 
discipline teams approach so that we 
see digital as a whole system issue. We 
will challenge our supply chains to bring 
innovation and value for money. We will 
protect our citizens privacy and security.

   Appoint a digital leader for Caerphilly 
County Borough Council

   Agree Customer and Digital Standard 
monitor process

   Develop Digital Leadership Group

   Lead a culture of Digital by default

   Promote the Customer and Digital 
strategy and adopt the correct level of 
security and privacy of Data

   Support the Welsh Agenda

Page 96



Investing in our Digital Future 10

STRATEGIC THEME PRINCIPLES

SERVICE STANDARDS
Developing modern, fit-for-purpose 
technology that will be used to ensure 
efficiency whilst reducing our impact on 
the environment. We will develop a set of 
Digital service standards that will put the 
customer at the heart of our Business.

   Develop and embed Customer Service 
Standards. Ensure these are sustained 
through the lifetime of the Strategy

   Develop and embed Digital Service 
Standards. Ensure these are sustained 
through the lifetime of the Strategy

   Support the Welsh agenda

STAFFING, SKILLS  
AND DEVELOPMENT
Create value through our workforce by 
understanding exciting talent and future 
talent. We will invest in our people to 
deliver the very best Digital Authority.

   Assess the skills required and develop 
a gap analysis

   Assess the capabilities required and 
develop a gap analysis 

   Support the Welsh agenda

   Develop a pool of experts to support 
the Council on the delivery of Digital 
services

   Develop a people strategy

SPEND CONTROL
Our Digital Service will align with our 
digital principles and service standard.  
The Governance and Leadership will 
be overseen by the Digital Leadership 
Group. All future spend will be 
evaluated against our standards and 
endorsed by the Digital leadership 
Group. There will be a review of all ICT 
systems and infrastructure to ensure 
we eradicate duplication. 

   Complete infrastructure review for 
corporate and schools

   Complete system and budget review

   Develop Digital capabilities of our 
Partners and Supply Chains

TIMETABLE FOR CHANGE
The Council will have a clear plan which 
will focus on the short term, within 18 
months, the medium 3 years and longer 
term 5 years.

   Agree the strategy

   Agree the forward work plan

➜

Page 97



Caerphilly County Borough Council   CUSTOMER AND DIGITAL STRATEGY 11

HOW TO FIND OUT MORE
   Visit the Caerphilly County Borough Council website at  
www.caerphilly.gov.uk

   To access the action plan which supports this strategy go to  
www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-
and-policies/Procurement-strategies-and-plans.aspx

   For more information on this Strategy phone 01443 863161 
or email procurement@caerphilly.gov.uk

Elizabeth Lucas, Head of Customer and Digital Services 
Phone: 01443 863160 
Email: lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk

   Caerphilly Customer Services: Service Standards 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Complaints-and-
feedback/Customer-Services-Standards

   Welsh Government 
Educational Digital Guidance for Schools 
https://gov.wales/education-digital-guidance

   Key Performance Indicators 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk

Page 98



Caerphilly County Borough Council  

Digital Action Plan 
2019 -2023 
Investing in our Digital Future  

Connecting technology and knowledge to deliver excellent customer 

experience and opportunities through digital transformation. 

  

APPENDIX 2

Page 99



 

Table of Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Digital Action Plan ........................................................................................................................... 4 

3. How to find out more ................................................................................................................... 23 

 

  

Page 100



1. Introduction  
 

The Caerphilly Council Digital Strategy has been published and can be found 

www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Procurement-strategies-

and-plans.aspx 

The strategy gives us our vision and strategic principles for a #Digital Caerphilly.  

Supporting this strategy a series of more detailed actions have been developed and they are 

contained within this document.   The Customer and Digital Services action plan will be a 

living document that will be updated and amended as the Service and Council transforms.   

The action plan will be reviewed on a regular basis via the Directorate performance 

assessment every quarter.   

These actions will be delivered by the Caerphilly Customer and Digital Services team, and 

monitored and assured by the Caerphilly Digital Leadership Group.  A set of Key 

Performance indicators will be developed over the life time of the strategy to ensure we 

continuously improve.  These will be categorized into groups of indicators and reported on  

Our vision being: 

“Investing in our future by opening the digital front door” 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



2. Digital Action Plan 

 
The Customer experience will come first in all that we aspire to do. It will be our aspiration to deliver an exceptional experience to all our customer through 
a range of different channels. Our customers and staff will be at the heart of our business. The approach to service will be welcoming, providing a 
courteous, positive and lasting impact. Passionate in our aim to change our service for the better. Dependable by building long term relationships based on 
trust and transparency.  We will strive to do the right thing and be fair in our approach.  We will remain in touch being interactive and diverse in our 
communications. Our policies and systems will be citizen centric. 
 

Strategic Theme – Public Service Design 

Ref Key Principles What we want to achieve What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

PS
D1 

Customers are 
to be at the 
heart of our 
business   

The Council will encourage 
its communities to interact 
and use online solutions to 
deliver and develop local 
services 
 
 
 
 

Implementation of new digital 
platform for citizen transactions.  My 
Council Services, includes citizen 
identity, a unified interface and 
standard consistent platform 
 
 
 
The Caerphilly Customer Charter has 
been implemented.  Customer and 
digital services will adopt this charter 
in its customer service  
 
Customer Service standards have 
been approved by Cabinet and 
launched across the Authority.   

Customer standards to be 
integrated into job 
descriptions and 
performance reviews. 
 
 
 
 
The Customer Service 
Standards need to be 
embraced by all CCBC 
employees 
 
Customer service 
standards to be 
integrated within job 
descriptions and 

Connected to our 
citizens through the 
digital front door with 
an increased trend of 
customer satisfaction  
 
 
 
Easy, user friendly 
interaction. With 
resolution at first point 
of contact.  
 
Improved and 
consistent approach to 
customer services 
delivery and customer 
satisfaction  

When 
Ongoing 
through 
lifetime of 
the strategy 
2019-2021 
 
Who 
Customer 
and Digital 
service 
team 

KPI – Group 1  
Customer 
satisfaction 

P
age 102



employee performance 
reviews.  
 
 

 
 

PS
D2 

Our policies 
and systems 
will be citizen 
centric 

Digital projects will have a 
positive impact on the 
customer experience.   
 
Whether we are delivering 
changes to customer 
facing processes or behind 
the scenes we will ensure 
that the current standard 
of customer experience is 
maintained or improved  
 
 
 
Develop formal customer 
and stakeholder 
engagement (internal, 
business, supplier, citizen ) 
to ensure we have insight, 
intelligence and feedback 
on our digital strategy and 
services 
 

Investment in new  digital platforms 
to support self-service and 24 hour 
on line services (currently on a 
phased implementation programme) 

Full implementation of: 
 
 
 
Scan Station 
The provision of software 
to enable customers to 
provide the Council 
documented evidence 
where required using 
self-service or supported 
service scanning 
solutions. 
 
My Council Services via 
the Abavus platform. 
The provision of a 
customer portal to enable 
online service delivery 
tailored to individual 
preferences. To give the 
ability for customers to 
have a holistic view of 
their online interactions. 
 
Capita 360 payments 
platform. 
The delivering of 
integrated payment 

Improved accessibility 
and Customer 
Satisfaction. 
 
Overall transformation 
of back office support 
services to release 
resource to the front 
line of delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 
Ability for Customers to 
interact and make 
payments 24hours a day 
365 days of the year.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When 
Projects to 
start April 
2019.  Full 
implementa
tion over 
the next 
two years.  
Who 
Return on 
investment 
audit to be 
maintained 
by Head of 
Service – 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services.  
 
Strategic 
lead Digital 
Leadership 
Group.  

KPI – Group 1 
Customer 
Satisfaction 
 
KPI – Group 2 
Channel shift 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment    

P
age 103



function providing a quick 
and seamless payment 
experience 
 
Implementation of 
Thoughtonomy, an 
intelligent automation 
platform  
 

 
 
 
 
Streamline back office 
functions and 
prioritization and 
release of resource to 
the front line of 
delivery. 
 
Ensure we deliver 
services that are 
important to us and our 
customers in an 
appropriate manner.  
Contribute to the 
Medium term financial 
plan through better 
resource allocation.  

PS
D3 

Adopt a user 
first approach 
to delivery 

To deliver easy to use, 
efficient and attractive 
digital services that 
customers will choose to 
use.   We refer to this as 
making our services 
“Digital by Default” 
 
We will design digital 
services so that the widest 
group of customers will be 
able to use them.  
 

Online process for requesting 
resident and visitor parking permits 
as part of the Civil Enforcement 
initiative live. The process can be 
accessed in Customer service centres 
for those who choose not to interact 
digitally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As listed above  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ensure we maintain and 
evolve fit for purpose 
alternatives to on line 
digital services 
 

Deployment of systems 
which supports the use 
both internally and 
externally, across 
various channels.  
Accessible 24 hours a 
day/365 days per year.  
 
To keep pace with 
the growing 
expectations 
from the Customer for 

When - 
Throughout 
the lifetime 
of the 
strategy 
starting 
April 2019 
 
Who –  
Strategic 
lead 
Cabinet, 
Corporate 

KPI – Group 1 
Customer 
Satisfaction 
 
KPI – Group 2 
Channel shift 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment  
 
 
 

P
age 104



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
We will always ensure that 
there is an alternative 
solution for customers 
who are unable to use 
digital solutions 
 
Where appropriate we will 
share data across the 
organisation in support of 
improved service delivery.  
 
 
 
Ensure we engage with 
business through 
innovative solutions 

 
 
 
Contact Centre and alternative face 
to face service provisions are 
available 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Supplier portal and end to end 
eProcurement 

 
 
 
Develop authority wide 
data analytics policy and 
tools to support decision 
making. (ability to make 
decisions based on facts 
and data) 
 
Develop interactive 
business solutions 

Sustainable, effective 
Public Services. 
 
 
Alternative service 
provision for those who 
need it.  Inclusive 
authority.   
 
 
Allow business to work 
with the Authority in a 
streamline manner 

Manageme
nt team.   
Operational 
Digital 
leadership 
group and 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services 
team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
When: 
during 
period 
2019/20 
Who: 
Procuremen
t and 
Information 
Manager 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment  
 
Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 105



We will become a Digital Organisation through strong leadership.  Our Culture will be shaped to embrace digital as the way of doing things not just about technology.   

We will adapt a multi discipline teams approach so that we see digital as a whole system issue.  We will challenge our supply chains to bring innovation and value for 

money.  

We will protect our citizen’s privacy and security. 

Strategic Theme – Leadership      

Ref Key Principles What we want to 
achieve  

What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

L1 Appoint a 
digital leader 
for Caerphilly 
County 
Borough 
Council 

We wish to achieve an 

innovative progressive 

Authority with a 

modern approach to 

business and Customer 

Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commitment to 

breakdown the silos 

within the Council to 

develop flexi work flows 

and delivery teams 

 

 

Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services has Customer and Digital 
responsibility within his portfolio and 
will act as the Digital lead 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Identify a Digital 

Champion within 

Cabinet – to ensure all 

members embrace the 

Digital approach set out 

within the strategy and 

work in a digital way. 

 
Formulate a Digital 
Leadership Team.  Obtain 
representation from each 
of the Directorates. The  
Corporate Director for 
Education & Corporate 
Services will chair 
 
Deployment of relevant 
technology to support 
cross functional working 
– such as Thoughtonomy 
and Abavus 
 
 
 

Clear leadership and a 
development of a 
culture within the 
authority to embrace 
problem solving 
through innovation 
and appropriate 
technology.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Continuous 
improvement through 
embracing change as a 
positive whereby 
technology is part of a 
solution not the 
totality. 
 

When -  June 
2019 
Who - 
Cabinet and 
Corporate 
Management 
team   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment    

P
age 106



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explore opportunities to 

work on a regional and 

national basis. Embrace 

collaboration on digital 

initiative and 

opportunities in the 

Cardiff Region City Deal.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Service sits on the Cardiff 
region City Deal digital group. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agreed strategy/policy 
for collaborative working  
 
 
 
 

The Council to be seen 
as leaders in Digital 
transformation and 
Service 
modernization. 
 
Ensuring value for 
money service 
solutions.  All new 
deployments to 
demonstrate return 
on investment and 
contribution to MTFP 
 
Collaborative Council  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
When – 
Within 12 
months 
starting  June 
2019 
Who - 
Cabinet and 
Corporate 
Management 
team   

L2 Develop Digital 

Leadership 

Group 

Clear Leadership of 
Customer and Digital 
services within the 
Council 
 
 
 
Organisation 
transformation within 
the customer and digital 

 Establishment of the 
Digital Leadership Team, 
Corporate Director for 
Education & Corporate 
Services will chair, 
Develop Terms of 
Reference for the group 

Corporate approach to 
Customer and Digital 
service delivery 
 
 
 
 
Rationalisation of 
products and services 
to support the 

When- June 
19 
 
Who – 
Director 
Education 
and 
Customer 
Services 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 107



services and business 
improvement functions 

transformation 
programme and MTFP 

L3 Agree 

Customer and 

Digital 

standards 

monitoring 

process  

 

Development of a 
Digital Culture to 
support digital services 
teams to promote 
flexibility, agility and 
leadership  
 
 

Customer Service standard approved 
by Cabinet and currently in the 
process of being embedded into the 
organisation 
 

Develop core set of 
Digital Service standards 
that will support the 
business transformation.    
 
Obtain approval of Digital 
Standards by Cabinet.  
 
Ensure Customer and 
Digital standards 
implementation is 
measured as part of the 
Performance monitoring 
framework 

Standardization of 
Customer Service 
throughout the 
organisation.  
 
Standardization of 
Digital Service 
standards throughout 
the Organisation.   

When – 
Within 12 
months 
starting  June 
2019 
Who - 
Cabinet and 
Corporate 
Management 
team   

KPI – Group 1 
Customer 
Satisfaction 
 
KPI – Group 2 
Channel shift 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment    

L4 Lead a culture 
of Digital by 
default. 

Focus on the culture of 
our digital services 
teams to promote 
flexibility, agility, 
leadership, confidence 
and support of our 
people.  

 People development 
programme developed to 
enable required skills, 
behaviours, leadership 
and responsibilities in the 
customer and digital 
services teams  

People obtaining the 
correct support.  An 
improving 
organisation whereby 
we embrace a culture 
of trying new things 
and growing in ability.  
 
Part of Caerphilly  
transformation 
programme 

When – 
Within 12 
months 
starting  June 
2019 
Who - 
Cabinet and 
Corporate 
Management 
team   

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

L5 Promote the 
Customer and 
Digital strategy 
and adopt the 
correct level of 

Confidence from our 
customers and all other 
stakeholders that we 
“the Authority” 
understand the value of 
our data assets and that 

ISO270001:2013 
Public Services Network compliance 
Cyber Essentials 
Cyber Essentials Plus 
Payment Card Industry standards 
 

Independent checks on 
our security readiness are 
performed annually by 
external organisation. 
 

Protecting our data, 
information and 
services 
 
 
 

When – 
throughout 
the lifetime 
of Strategy 
(to keep up 
with new 

KPI – Group 4 
Information 
Governance and 
Security 

P
age 108



security and 
privacy of Data. 

they feel is secure and 
used in an appropriate 
manner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Look to integrate our 
customer data 
wherever possible to 
avoid data islands and 
to encourage data 
sharing whilst ensuring 
compliance with data 
protection legislation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We will implement 
standards around our 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Privacy notices outline which 
functions will share personal data 
together with lawful basis, to ensure 
legal compliance and transparency.  
Wales Accord on sharing Personal 
Information (WASPI) facilities sharing 
of personal data across organisations 
where appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We use the National 
Cyber Security Centre 
recommendations as a 
baseline for our security 
readiness. 
 
ISO27001:2013 audits are 
performed bi-annually by 
external organisation. 
 
Monthly checks are 
performed across the 
infrastructure monthly 
using accredited security 
monitoring tools. 
 
 
 
Raise confidence of staff 
in sharing data when 
appropriate via 
training/coaching. Data 
protection impact 
assessments whenever 
new technology is 
implemented or new 
initiative are proposed 
 
Promote more “tell us 
once” services across the 
Authority. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stakeholders trust 
Council to manage 
personal information 
appropriately. 
Stakeholders do not 
have to resubmit the 
same information to 
multiple service areas. 
Any requests to 
restrict or limit data 
use within the Council 
are recognised and 
handled in line with 
law 
 

Cyber Crime 
coming 
forward) 
Who –  
Procurement 
and 
Information 
Manager 
supported by 
Information 
Governance 
Officer and 
Security 
Officer 
 
 
When – 
throughout 
the lifetime 
of Strategy  
Who –  
Procurement 
and 
Information 
Manager 
supported by 
Information 
Governance 
Officer 
 
 
 
 

P
age 109



data to support its 
creation, use, quality, 
how it is handled and 
timely disposal when it 
is no longer needed to 
reduce risks and comply 
with the Section 46 
Statutory Code of 
Practice under the 
Freedom of Information 
Act. 
 
We will ensure 
compliance with 
information rights 
legislation such as  Data 
Protection and Freedom 
of Information 
 
 
 
 
 
We will use data to 
improve performance 
reporting, corrective 
action, 
prediction/capacity 
management, and 
enhanced decision 
making. 
 
 

Policies on records management, 
information risk management and 
data protection in place, together with 
associated guidance and training. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Training for all staff on responsibilities 
as well as clear guidance and 
processes available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Predictive analytics and examples 
from NESTA report* communicated to 
CMT as part of presentation on 
making better use of Council’s data. 
CMT supportive. 
 
 
 
 

Expand methods of 
training and awareness 
raising e.g. eLearning and 
embed  standards into 
working practice, 
including automatically 
via digital  solutions 
where possible, address 
records backlogs 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue training and 
awareness raising. 
Scrutinise new proposals 
and audit existing work 
processes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Develop skills in 
predictive analytics 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Data information will 
be proactively 
created, managed and 
used to support 
services. Minimal data 
stored in physical 
locations and 
electronics systems by 
correct 
implementations of 
retention periods. 
 
 
 
Data Protection 
Impact Assessments 
will be undertaken as 
early as possible 
whenever there is a 
new proposal.  
Information will be 
well managed so it is 
easy to locate for an 
information request. 
 
Services actively use 
Council data to inform 
service delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
When: 
Throughout 
the lifetime 
of the 
strategy 
Who: 
Information 
Governance 
Officer 
supported by 
Digital 
Services 
 
 

P
age 110



We will look to share 
appropriate data 
through open data 
techniques to enable 
new opportunities for 
others to access, 
analyse and develop 
innovation by the use of 
our data. 

 
Publication of datasets online to 
satisfy FOI requirements.  
Contribution to City Deal Open Data 
initiative. 
Information Asset Registers document 
all our information, so we can assess 
what is suitable for proactive 
publication.  
Corporate file plan developed that can 
be used to structure network drives 
open by default (permissions in sub-
folders as necessary) (similar to WG 
practice). 

 
 
Restructure network 
drives and address 
records backlogs to 
facilitate internal re-use 
through relevant data 
retention policies. 
 
Utilise Information Asset 
Registers to identify 
datasets that could be 
proactively published, 
working in conjunction 
with City Deal Open Data 
group. 

 
 
All Council information 
open by default, to 
foster internal re-use. 
Council datasets 
proactively published 
externally, to benefit 
local economy. 

L6 Support the 
Welsh Agenda.  

Caerphilly County 
Borough Council seen as 
a leader in Wales and 
support excellence in 
Customer and Digital 
Services  
 
Deliver customer centric 
services. 
 
Where appropriate align 
actions to the Future 
Generations Act. 

Head of Service is an active member 
of Socitm and Cardiff region City Deal 
Digital Group.  

Continue to develop 
relationships and support 
the Welsh agenda which 
appropriate to Caerphilly 
County Borough Council  

Fit for Purpose 
Customer and Digital 
Services that is 
appropriate for wider 
Collaboration with 
Local Authorities and 
public sector in 
general  
 
To support national 
strategies and 
legislation such as: 
Digital Vision for 
Wales 
The Wales Digital First 
The Digital Action Plan 

When –
Throughout 
the lifetime 
of the 
strategy 
starting  June 
2019 
Who - 
Cabinet and 
Corporate 
Management 
team   

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 111



*https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/wise-council-insights-from-the-cutting-edge-of-data-driven-local-government/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Future 
generations Act 
Cymraeg 2050 
strategy 

P
age 112

https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/wise-council-insights-from-the-cutting-edge-of-data-driven-local-government/


Developing modern, fit-for-purpose technology that will be used to ensure efficiency whilst reducing our impact on the environment.  We will develop a set of Digital 

service standards that will put the customer at the heart of our Business. 

Strategic Theme – Service Standards     

Ref Key Principles What we want to 
achieve  

What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

SS1 Develop and 
embed 
Customer 
Service 
Standards. 
Ensure these 
are sustained 
through the 

lifetime of the 

Strategy 

Standard approach to 

Customer Services 

throughout the Council 

 

 

Standards approved by Cabinet and 
currently being embedded into the 
organisation 

Incorporate standards in 
to relevant HR policies 
where possible 

A standard approach 
and good outcomes 
for the Customer 

When: 
Through the 
lifetime of 
the Strategy. 
Agreed by 
Cabinet 2018 
Who: 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services 
management 
team 

KPI – Group 1  
Customer 
satisfaction 
 

SS2 Develop and 
embed Digital 
Service 
Standards. 
Ensure these 
are sustained 
through the 

lifetime of the 

Strategy 

Standard approach to 

Digital Services  

Ensure the workforce 

has the appropriate 

technology to fulfil its 

role and deliver high 

quality service. 

 

Development of a 
Digital Culture to 
support digital services 
teams to promote 
flexibility, agility and 
leadership  
 

 Develop core set of 
Digital Services standard 
that will support the 
business transformation.    
 
Obtain approval of Digital 
Standards by Cabinet.  
 
Ensure Customer and 
Digital standards 
implementation is 
measured as part of the 
Performance monitoring 
framework 

Increasingly agile 
workforce creating an 
environment of trust 
where empowerment 
improves 
effectiveness. 
 
 
Increased number of 
“hot desks” and 
shared 
accommodation. 
 

When: 
Through the 
lifetime of 
the Strategy.  
Who: 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services 
management 
team 
 
 

KPI – Group 1 
Customer 
Satisfaction 
 
Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 113



 

 

 

 

 

 

Provide education 
materials that will 
promote the Digital 
Service Standard. 

SS3 Support the 

Welsh agenda 

Deliver customer centric 
services. 
 
Where appropriate align 

actions to the Future 

Generations Act. 

 Deployment of tools such 
as Abavus, 
Thoughtonomy, O365 
and other public sector 
applications which will 
support the Welsh 
Agenda. 
 
Ensure senior staff are 
fully engaged with the 
Welsh Agenda. 

More collaborative 
organisation which 
has the ability to 
engage and interact in 
a collaborative 
manner with all public 
services. 
 
 

When:  
Lifetime of 
the Strategy 
as the Welsh 
agenda 
develops 
Who: 
Head of 
Customer & 
Digital 
Services 

KPI – Group 1 
Customer 
Satisfaction 
 
KPI – Group 2 
Channel shift 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment   
 
KPI – Group 4 
Information 
Governance and 
Security  
 
Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 114



Create value though our workforce by understanding exciting talent and future talent.   We will invest in our people to deliver the very best Digital Authority.   

Strategic Theme – Staffing, Skills and Development 

Ref Key Principles What we want to 
achieve  

What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

SSD1 Assess the 
skills required 
and develop a 
gap analysis  

A modern, flexible and 
innovative workforce 
that is supporting the 
authority’s digital 
transformation  
 
 
 

Draft agile working principles in 
place.  
 
Draft Strategy developing through 
the governance process. 
 
Draft report on implementation of 
O365 
 
Draft report on products and 
applications for future use.  
 
  
 
 

Development of user 
profile.  Identify the 
profile for each role 
across the Authority to 
define technology 
requirements. 
  
 
Undertake review of 
products/applications in 
use now and proposal for 
the future.  Undertake a 
skills audit which will 
identify skills gap. 
 
Develop training plan for 
skills development on key 
applications 
 
Agile working principles 
embedded 
 
Development of device 
strategy  
 
Development of digital 
self-help and learning 

Continuous 
improvement and 
learning of our staff 
with a core digital 
culture. 
 
 
 
To develop a learning 
ethos which will allow 
us to be open and 
learn from our 
mistakes 
 
Service areas see the 
benefit of skilled 
workforce. 
 
Workforce confident 
to engage with 
citizens through 
technology. 

Currently in 
development 
to be 
completed in 
19/20 financial 
year 
 
 
Customer and 
Digital 
management 
team. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All Heads of 
Services 

KPI – Group 5 
Training & 
Development 

P
age 115



modules to support 
users. 

SSD2 Assess the 
capabilities 
required and 
develop a gap 
analysis 
 
 
 

Work to improve levels 
of digital skills, digital 
culture and inclusion 

 Develop digital skills and 
culture programme with 
a focus on digital 
adoption to focus on 
both authority and wider 
citizen skill development.  
To be co-ordinated 
across other stakeholders 
within public sector and 
wider organisations 
 
Review of digital tools 
that can be made 
available to citizens to 
support inclusion (e.g. 
devices in libraries, self-
scan) 

Develop a scorecard 
of current inclusion 
levels (both within the 
authority and with 
citizens) and measure 
trends.  
 
Trained and confident 
staff, increase range 
of customers and staff 
embracing digital 
services.  
 
Reduction in digital 
exclusion across 
communities where 
there is limited access 
to technology or 
accessibility issues.  

When: 
Lifetime of the 
Strategy 
Who: 
Regeneration  
Social Services 
Education 

 

SSD3 Support the 
Welsh agenda 

Excellence in Digital 
across the Welsh Public 
Sector 

Head of Customer & Digital currently 
engaged with regional and national 
working groups 

More joined up approach 
across Wales 

Shared resource, 
centres of excellence 
and collaborative 
council 

When: 
Lifetime of the 
Strategy as the 
Welsh agenda 
develops 
Who: 
Digital 
Leadership 
Group 

KPI – Group 5 
Training & 
Development 

SSD4 Develop a pool 
of experts to 
support 

Team/Taskforce to 
support transformation 

 Development of the Core 
Team and deployment in 
to service reviews. 

Digital transformation 
of the Authority and 

When: 
Lifetime of the 
Strategy as the 

KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment   

P
age 116



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the Council on 
the delivery of 
Digital 
services 
 

agenda and service 
reviews  

return on investment 
on key applications. 
 
Develop new 
technologies that will 
showcase the 
possibilities available. 
 
Create team to 
promote strategy 
through delivery of 
technology. 
 

2022 
transformation 
agenda 
progresses  
Who: 
Head of 
Customer & 
Digital Services 
and Interim 
Head of 
Business 
Improvement 
Services 
 

 
Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

SSD5 Develop a 
workforce 
strategy 

A working environment 
where staff feel secure 
with digital 
transformation 

 Development of the 
Workforce Strategy with 
appropriate policies to 
work in a digital way 

Confident workforce 
in the digital age 

When: 
By January 
2020 - Lifetime 
of the Strategy 
Who: Head of 
People 
Services 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 

P
age 117



Our Digital Service will align with our digital principles and service standard.  The Governance and Leadership will be over seen by the Digital Leadership Group.   

All future spend will be evaluated against our standards and authorized by the Digital leadership Group.  There will be a review of all ICT systems and 

infrastructure to ensure we irradiate duplication.   

Strategic Theme – Spend Control 

Ref Key Principles What we want to 
achieve  

What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

SC1 Complete 
infrastructure 
review for 
corporate and 
schools 

Robust infrastructure in 
Corporate services and 
Schools with adequate 
funding model to 
support future 
resilience. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A infrastructure which 
allows collaboration and 
innovation 

Limited investment 
 
On premise service  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WG created digital standards for 
schools. 

Review current 
infrastructure and make 
recommendations to 
Cabinet.  
 
Inventory comparison 
with manufacturer’s 
support schedules to 
define roadmap for 
change. 
 
Evaluate the best options 
of delivery in terms of on 
premise or cloud base 
technology. 
 
 
 
School proposals to 
reflect WG digital 
standards. 
 
Development of school 
and corporate 
infrastructure strategies. 

Fit for purpose, cost 
effective and 
sustainable 
infrastructure in 
corporate and schools 
environment 
 
Resilient and cost 
effective 
infrastructure 
providing best 
applications to the 
Customer.  
 
Innovative technology 
and collaborative 
authority 
 
Fit for purpose and 
funded appropriately  
digital applications 
and infrastructure 
within schools 
 

When: 
During 
2019/20 
Who:  
Digital 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
When: 
Lifetime of 
Strategy 
Who:  
Digital 
Manager 
 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment    

P
age 118



 
 
 

SC2 Complete 
system/applica
tion  and 
budget review 

System/application 
Rationalisation 
programme which will 
support the best 
technology.   
 
We aim to use Cloud-
based solutions 
wherever possible in 
order to reduce our 
reliance on physical 
hardware that must be 
maintained, repaired 
and replaced individual 
assessments will be 
made when evaluating 
new requirement and 
we expect to have a 
hybrid solution to allow 
flexibility  

Development of Systems contracts 
register.   

Develop a programme 
focused on reducing the 
portfolio of digital 
solutions/applications, 
supported and governed 
by the digital leadership 
group.  Delivering 
proactive management of 
the digital estate, working 
collaboratively to find the 
right mixture of solutions 
and functionality.  
 
 

Measure and reduce 
the digital portfolio of 
solutions 
 
Ensure true value is 
obtained from the 
digital estate.   
 
Ensure we allow 
innovation 
 
 
 

Procurement 
and 
Information 
Manager/Dig
ital Manager 
 
Report to be 
established 
prior to 
March 2020 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 
 
KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment    

SC3 Develop digital 

capabilities of 

our partners 

and supply 

chains. 

Create an environment 
where transactions 
delivered via standard 
technology. 

Initial contract review Streamline of applications 
in use within the 
Authority. Support 
training and development 
to the supply chain and 
partners 

Increased digital 
transactions with 
partners providing 
greater effectiveness 
and efficiencies. 

When: 
By 2020/21 
Who: 
Procurement 
& 
Information 
Manager 

KPI – Group 3 
Return on 
investment  
 
Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 
   

P
age 119



Strategic Theme – Timetable for Change 
 

The Council will have a clear plan which will focus on the short term, within 18 months the medium 3 years and longer term 5 years.  

 
 

Ref Key Principles What we want to 
achieve  

What has already been done?  
 

What needs to be done? 
How will we achieve it? 

What is the desired 
impact?  
 

When/Who Measurements 

TFC
1 

Agree the 
proposed 
Customer and 
Digital Strategy 

Fit for purpose, 
customer and digital 
function which will 
enable the organisation 
to modernise and 
become more effective 
and efficient. 

Customer and Digital Strategy in draft.  Governance framework 
to be followed.  
PDM – TBC 
P & R Scrutiny – 28th May 
2019 
Cabinet – 12th June 2019 

Better outcomes for 
our customers and 
stakeholders 

When:  
Start June 
2019 
Who:  
Head of 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 
 

TFC
2 

Agree the 
proposed  
Action Plan 
2019 - 2023 

Fit for purpose, 
customer and digital 
function which will 
enable the organisation 
to modernise and 
become more effective 
and efficient. 

Customer and Digital Strategy in draft.  Governance framework 
to be followed.  
PDM – TBC 
P & R Scrutiny – 28th May 
2019 
Cabinet – 12th June 2019 

Better outcomes for 
our customers and 
stakeholders 

When:  
Start June 
2019 
Who:  
Head of 
Customer 
and Digital 
Services 

Strategy 
implementation 
review.  Yearly 
 

P
age 120



3. How to find out more 
 

Visit the Caerphilly County Borough Council Website at: - www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

To access the Customer and Digital Services Strategy document: - 

www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Procurement-

strategies-and-plans.aspx 

For more information on this Strategy then you can telephone us on 01443 863161, 
or email us at procurement@caerphilly.gov.uk or contact the Head of Customer & 
Digital Services on:-  
 
Elizabeth Lucas, Head of Customer & Digital Services 
Tel: 01443 863160 or Email: lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
Caerphilly Customer Services Service Standards: - 
www.caerphilly.gov.uk/mycouncil/complaints-and-
feedback/customerservicestandards. 
 
Welsh Government Educational Digital Guidance for Schools:  
http://gov.wales/education-digital-guidance 
 
Key performance indicators: - www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 
  

 
 
 

 

Page 121

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Procurement-strategies-and-plans.aspx
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Strategies,-plans-and-policies/Procurement-strategies-and-plans.aspx
mailto:procurement@caerphilly.gov.uk
mailto:lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/mycouncil/complaints-and-feedback/customerservicestandards
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/mycouncil/complaints-and-feedback/customerservicestandards
http://gov.wales/education-digital-guidance


 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 
October 2018 

 
THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITIES STATEMENT 
 
This Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and 
we will work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and 
mutual respect within and between our communities, residents, elected members, job 
applicants and workforce. 
 
We will also work to create equal access for everyone to our services, irrespective of 
ethnic origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender reassignment, 
religious beliefs or non-belief, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages, 
nationality, responsibility for any dependents or any other reason which cannot be 
shown to be justified. 
 
The Council is required to have due regard to the need to: 
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that 

is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not 
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not.  
 
The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves:  
 removing or minimising disadvantages experienced by people due to their protected 

characteristics 
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 

different from the needs of other people  
 encouraging people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in 

other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  
 
The protected characteristics are: 

 

 Age  Race 
 Disability  Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
 Gender Re-assignment  Sex 
 Marriage and Civil Partnership  Sexual Orientation 
 Pregnancy and Maternity  Welsh Language* 

 
*  The Welsh language is not identified as a protected characteristic under the Equality 

Act 2010, however in Wales we also have to treat Welsh and English on an equal 
basis as well as promoting and facilitating the use of the Welsh language. 

 
Further advice on completing impact assessments can be found on the equalities pages 
of Corporate Policy Unit Portal. 

APPENDIX 3

Page 122



 
THE EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
NAME OF NEW OR 
REVISED PROPOSAL* 

 
Customer & Digital Strategy 
 

DIRECTORATE  
Education & Corporate Services 
 

SERVICE AREA  
Customer & Digital Services 
 

CONTACT OFFICER Liz Lucas 
Head of Customer & Digital Services 
 
 

DATE FOR NEXT REVIEW 
OR REVISION 

 
Yearly in line with Service Review 
 

 
*Throughout this Equalities Impact Assessment Form, ‘proposal’ is used to refer to 
what is being assessed, and therefore includes policies, strategies, functions, 
procedures, practices, initiatives, projects and savings proposals.  
 
The aim of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is to ensure that Equalities and Welsh Language 
issues have been proactively considered throughout the decision making processes governing 
work undertaken by every service area in the Council as well as work done at a corporate level. 
 
The Council’s work across Equalities, Welsh Language and Human Rights is covered in more 
detail through the Equalities and Welsh Language Objectives and Action Plan 2016-2020. 
 
When carrying out an EIA you should consider both the positive and negative consequences of 
your proposals. If a project is designed for a specific group e.g. disabled people, you also need to 
think about what potential effects it could have on other areas e.g. young people with a disability, 
BME people with a disability. 
 
There are a number of supporting guidance documents available on the Corporate Policy and 
Business Support Portal and the Council’s Equalities and Welsh Language team can provide 
advice as the EIA is being developed.  Please note that the team does not write EIAs on behalf of 
service areas, the support offered is in the form of advice, suggestions and in effect, quality control. 
 
Contact equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk for assistance. 
  

Page 123

mailto:equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk


PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
1 What is the proposal intended to achieve? 

(Please give a brief description and outline the purpose of the new or updated 
proposal by way of introduction.) 
 
In adopting the Customer & Digital Strategy the Council will set out its vision for 
developing and managing its interface with customers, staff and its digital 
environment.   
 
The Council will embrace digital as a culture rather than just technology.  We will 
adopt a learning ethos which will allow us to be open and learn from our mistakes, 
challenging the status quo to bring about real value public services to our 
customers.  

 
It is our aim to keep pace with the growing expectations from the Customer for 
sustainable, effective Public Services.  

 
Caerphilly will become a Digital Organisation, with clear Leadership and support for 
a culture of “can do” to supporting all of our stakeholders. 

 
Digital in Caerphilly will be seen as a whole system approach which is stakeholder 
led so that we improve the customer and staff experience and the outcome of 
public services.   

 
This Digital strategy will be evolving so that it continues to support national 
strategies and legislation such as:  
 

Digital Vision for Wales 
Digital First: Delivering Welsh Public Services Online 
The Welsh Government Digital Action Plan 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act  
Towards a Million Welsh Speakers: Cymraeg 2050 Strategy 
The Equality Act 
 

It will reflect on the System Reboot report from Lee Waters AM to ensure that the 
Council is at the forefront of Digital Transformation in Wales. Our Digital Strategy 
needs to be a living programme, flexible, adaptable and alive to the changing 
environment; modular in nature so that it is easy to review and update annually in 
line with developments in the Digital landscape. Our approach will be continuous 
improvement to bring about real change and to improve the lives of those who live 
and work within our borough.  Where appropriate our interactions with our 
customers and wider stakeholders will be Digital by default. 

 
The Council is committed to ensuring it achieves value for money from its 
Customer and Digital services.  It also recognises the value of using Digital tools to 
support its wider Cultural, Social, Economic and Environmental objectives, in ways 
that offer real long-term benefits to the community it serves.  

 
The Strategy will build on the Councils success to meet the overarching Well-being 
objectives, our customer charter and our service standards. 
 

Page 124



The overall Customer and Digital vision is ‘investing in our future by opening the 
digital front door’. 

  
2 Who are the service users affected by the proposal? 

(Who will be affected by the delivery of this proposal? e.g. staff members, the 
public generally, or specific sections of the public i.e. youth groups, carers, road 
users, people using country parks, people on benefits etc.  Are there any data 
gaps?) 
 
The Customer & Digital Strategy will affect CCBC employees, partners, residents, 
visitors, and businesses and suppliers within the County Borough and beyond. It 
will affect anyone who wishes to access the Council and its services. 

 
 
IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC AND STAFF 
 
3 Does the proposal ensure that everyone has an equal access to all the 

services available or proposed, or benefits equally from the proposed 
changes, or does not lose out in greater or more severe ways due to the 
proposals? 
(What has been done to examine whether or not these groups have equal access 
to the service, or whether they need to receive the service in a different way from 
other people?) 
 
Developing our digital offering to create the best customer and staff experience 
possible will be supported with options of alternative service delivery channels for 
those who are not able or are yet to develop the ability to transact and 
communicate in a digital way.  Our aim is to have an inclusive approach with equal 
access to services. 
 
The strategy also supports the development of a bilingual offering to digital service 
delivery ensuring that compliance to the Welsh Language standards are further 
strengthened. 
 
This will ensure that everyone has equal access to services by adding to  the 
digital offering in addition to existing services and access channels. 

 

 
 
  

Page 125



 

4 Is your proposal going to affect any people or groups of people with 
protected characteristics? 
(Has the service delivery been examined to assess if there is any indirect effect on 
any groups?  Could the consequences of the policy or savings proposal differ 
dependent upon people’s protected characteristics?) 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

What will the impact be?   
If the impact is negative how can it be mitigated? 

Age Neutral 
 
We will deliver services that are designed digitally as 
a default standard.  
 
These services will be in addition to existing services 
and access channels. 
 
Research shows that the vast majority of our 
customers can access digital services (96% at the 
last Household survey).  
 
We provide free internet access at libraries. 
 
 
 
 

Disability Neutral 

Gender 
Reassignment Neutral 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership Neutral 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity Neutral 

Race Neutral 

Religion & Belief Neutral 

Sex Neutral 

Sexual 
Orientation Neutral 

 

5 In line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards. (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, please note below what effects, if any (whether positive or 
adverse), the proposal would have on opportunities for persons to use the 
Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than 
the English language. 
(The specific Policy Making Standards requirements are Standard numbers 88, 89, 
90, 91, 92 and 93.  The full detail of each Standard is available on the Corporate 
Policy Unit Portal.  Although it is important that what is outlined in the proposal is 
available in Welsh and English, please consider wider impacts on Welsh 
speakers.) 
 
The strategy will be available in a bilingual format 
 
Where chosen to do so the digital offering will increase the provision of services in 
the medium of Welsh. 
 
The digital offering is in addition to existing services and access channels. 

 
 
  

Page 126



INFORMATION COLLECTION 
 
6 Please outline any evidence and / or research you have collected which 

supports the proposal?  This can include an analysis of service users. 
(Is this service effectively engaging with all its potential users or is there higher or 
lower participation of uptake by one or more protected characteristic groups? If so, 
what has been done to address any difference in take up of the service?  Does any 
savings proposal include an analysis of those affected?) 
 
The proposed strategy adds to existing services and will provide our customers 
with additional choice in the way in which they interact with us. 
 
Users from protected characteristic groups who may be unable to access digital 
services will still be able to interact with us through existing channels. 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
7 Please outline the consultation / engagement process and outline any key 

findings. 
(Include method of consultation, objectives and target audience.  What steps have 
been taken to ensure that people from various groups have been consulted during 
the development of this proposal?  Have you referred to the Equalities Consultation 
and Monitoring Guidance?) 
 
The proposed strategy adds to existing access channel and, once approved, will be 
communicated to people wishing to access our services. 
 
The 2017 Household Survey shows that 96% of our residents can access services 
via the internet either through a computer or smartphone. The strategy will allow 
people to interact with us through technology. 
 
The strategy will support existing access channels and therefore adds additional 
services. No consultation is proposed.  

 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
8 How will the proposal be monitored? 

(What monitoring process has been set up to assess the extent that the service is 
being used by all sections of the community, or that the savings proposals are 
achieving the intended outcomes with no adverse impact? Are comments or 
complaints systems set up to record issues by Equalities category to be able 
analyse responses from particular groups?)  
 
Customer usage data will be collected and analysed to understand the take up of 
new services 
 
The strategy is part of the authority’s transformation programme and will be 
monitored as part of this. 
 
 

Page 127



9 How will the monitoring be evaluated? 
(What methods will be used to ensure that the needs of all sections of the 
community are being met?) 
 
Monitoring will be evaluated as part of service planning processes. 
 

 
10 Have any support / guidance / training requirements been identified? 

(Has the EIA or consultation process shown a need for awareness raising amongst 
staff, or identified the need for Equalities or Welsh Language training of some 
sort?) 
 
 
No additional support requirement identified. Plans already exist to support Welsh 
language customer services. 
 

 

11 If any adverse impact has been identified, please outline any mitigation action. 
 
None as the strategy is promoting the addition of digital services to extend the 
current offering. 
 

 
12 What wider use will you make of this Equality Impact Assessment? 

(What use will you make of this document i.e. as a consultation response, 
appendix to approval reports, publicity etc. in addition to the mandatory action 
shown below?) 
 
This EIA will be appended to all reports for decision 
 

 
  

Page 128



13 An equality impact assessment may have four possible outcomes, through 
more than one may apply to a single proposal.  Please indicate the relevant 
outcome(s) of the impact assessment below.   

Please tick as appropriate: 
 

No major change – the impact assessment demonstrated that the 
proposal was robust; there was no potential for discrimination or 
adverse impact.  All opportunities to promote equality have been taken.  
 

Adjust the proposal – the impact assessment identified potential 
problems or missed opportunities.  The proposal was adjusted to remove 
barriers or better promote equality.   
 

Continue the proposal – the impact assessment identified the potential 
problems or missed opportunities to promote equality.  The 
justification(s) for continuing with it have been clearly set out.  (The 
justification must be included in the impact assessment and must be in 
line with the duty to have due regard.  Compelling reasons will be 
needed for the most important relevant proposals.) 
 

Stop and remove the proposal – the impact assessment identified 
actual or potential unlawful discrimination.  The proposal was stopped 
and removed, or changed. 
 

 
 

 

Completed by: Elizabeth Lucas 
Date: 16/04/2019 
Position: Head of Customer & Digital Services 
Name of Head of Service: Elizabeth Lucas 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

x 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

Page 130



 

 
 

 

CABINET – 12TH JUNE 2019 
 

SUBJECT: PRINCIPLES ON IMPLEMENTATION OF MICROSOFT OFFICE 365 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 
SERVICES  

 

 
1.1 The attached report, which outlined the principles on implementation of the Office 365 solution 

for Caerphilly County Borough Council, was considered by the Policy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee on 28th May 2019, ahead of its presentation to Cabinet. 

 
1.2 Members were advised that in line with the Council’s Customer and Digital Strategy, the 

Authority has been investigating the implementation of the latest version of the Microsoft 
Office 365 (O365) suite of tools.  These tools offer an extended suite of productivity and 
collaboration tools over the current Microsoft Office suite, and will assist with everyday 
challenges and barriers that officials have in working effectively, efficiently and collaboratively 
in the current systems environment.   The new product range will support the proposed 
Customer and Digital Strategy and the wider transformation strategy, and will be Cloud-based 
to maximise storage opportunities.   

 
1.3 The Scrutiny Committee were directed to the financial implications as set out in the report, 

and it was explained that whilst these costs appear significant, there is no option to continue 
with the current Microsoft offering and pricing model.  The licenses are currently funded from 
the PC replacement fund and based on equal migration of the workforce to O365 over the 
next 18 months, the costs will increase by £13.58k in 2019/20 with a further increase of 
£172.5k in 2020/21.  Other licenses and providers are available but the license cost and cost 
of change would be both significant and limiting.  At the end of this Microsoft agreement 
(2020), the Council will enter into a new agreement which will fix the unit costs for the 
following three years and is estimated to be £720k per annum, which is approximately 20% 
increase on 2020 costs.  Members were asked to note that the public sector across Wales 
has experienced price increase of between 50%-60% on their Microsoft licensing when 
moving to O365 in recent years.  The financial implications of this migration to O365 will be 
kept under close revision during the implementation process and the additional funding 
required will be factored into the budget setting process for the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial 
years. 

 
1.4 The Scrutiny Committee discussed the report and level of costs involved, and sought 

assurances that all alternative options had been explored.  Officers explained that whilst the 
price increase is substantial, a like for like service is not being procured and the existing 
product can no longer be purchased.  Although there are alternatives to Office 365, Caerphilly 
would be a standalone local authority in terms of Information Technology if they did not 
proceed with this product, and should the Council not adopt Office 365, this would remove 
their ability to collaborate across the public sector.  It was explained that the cost of changing 
to another supplier would be excessive and all staff would have to be retrained in the use of 
an alternative system.  Members were referred to the benefits of the new product and the 
huge suite of tools available, which will allow for new functions such as collaboration on 
shared documents and remove the need for a number of existing software packages.  
Additionally, the product will reduce the need to purchase new servers, as data will be stored 
in the Cloud system, and accessibility across devices will be enhanced.  Assurances were 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8



given that all avenues have been thoroughly examined and that the proposals offer access to 
a whole host of new services to complement the Council’s Transformation Strategy and the 
Customer and Digital Strategy.   

 
1.5 In response to Members’ queries, it was confirmed that the new Office 365 product will allow 

the Council to utilise its staff in alternative ways moving forward, and also that the security 
offered by Microsoft’s Cloud service is extremely reliable.   

 
1.6 Following consideration of the report and in noting its contents, the Policy and Resources 

Scrutiny Committee unanimously recommended to Cabinet that the Office 365 solution for 
Caerphilly County Borough Council as set out in the report be implemented. 

 
1.7 Cabinet are asked to consider the report and the above recommendation. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A Report to Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 28th May 2019 –  

Agenda Item 10 
 

Page 132



 

 
 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  

28TH MAY 2019 
 
SUBJECT: PRINCIPLES ON IMPLEMENTATION OF O365 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION & CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To present to the Committee the principles on implementation of the Office 365 solution for 

Caerphilly.  To seek the views of Members on the principles before its onward submission to 
Cabinet.   

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In line with the Council’s Customer & Digital Strategy, we have been investigating the 

implementation of the latest version of the Microsoft Office 365 (O365) suite of tools. 
 
2.2 These tools offer an extended suite of productivity and collaboration tools over the current 

Microsoft Office suite.  The committee will be familiar with tools such as Word, Excel, 
PowerPoint and Outlook.  O365 supplements these tools with further tools to manage team 
collaboration, digital teleconferencing and team planning.  We believe these tools will assist 
with everyday challenges and barriers that officials have in working effectively, efficiently and 
collaboratively in the current systems environment.  The introduction of the new product range 
will support the proposed Customer and Digital Strategy and the wider transformation 
strategy.  

 
2.3 The implementation of this suite of tools will need to be formally managed with a focus on 

both activation of the technology solutions and also ensuring adoption of these solutions by 
officers across the Council.  This will need to include showing the benefits of new ways of 
working that the tools will enable.  There are many scenarios where we believe these benefits 
will show themselves – for example in co-authoring and document collaboration, team and 
cross departmental collaboration, structured to knowledge management, enabling further 
mobility and agile working, and running more effective meetings.  There will also be benefits 
for the IT organisation in both cost reduction and simplification through rationalisation of 
products across the Authority.  

 
2.4 The move of Microsoft to a subscription based licensing model reflects the current trends of 

software vendors and necessitates the implementation of O365.  The changes in Microsoft 
licensing restricts the purchase of perpetual licenses, removing previously agreed 
Governmental discounts for such licenses.  

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider and comment on the proposed 

principles on the implementation of O365 prior to its submission to Cabinet for endorsement.  
The principles are within Appendix 1.  

Page 133



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To ensure that the views of the Scrutiny Committee are considered prior to the proposed 

principles on implementation of O365 being presented to Cabinet. 
 
4.2 The continued use of familiar applications such as Outlook, Word and Excel to aid productivity 

across the Authority combined with the introduction of new applications to support an agile 
workforce through collaboration, effective team working and accessibility to information. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 The appended principles has been under development since January 2019.  Staff and key 

Officers have been instrumental in its development.   
 
5.2 The principles attempt to outline our key principles on the following topics: 
 

• Reason for selecting O365 
• Acquisition approach 
• Implementation and activation approach 
• Adoption and skills development approach 
• Financial plan 

 
5.3  The project to implement this suite of tools will be significant and require careful management 

to ensure the successful implantation of the new technology alongside ensuring the new tools 
are used by the Council, and they get value from them.  

 
5.4 Alongside the implementation of O365 there will be separate projects to review client devices 

and profile our customers; the outcome of these three activities will define appropriate tools 
for each role within the Business creating a seamless set of technologies that will become an 
enabler for greater efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
 Conclusion 
 
5.5 The principles on the implementation of O365 attached in Appendix 1 sets out the Council’s 

approach to the implementation of this pivotal suite of tools.  These tools will provide the basis 
for embracing new ways of working, efficiency, mobile working, and collaboration within the 
Council that in turn will be used to enhance the delivery of citizen centric services.  

 
 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 
 
6.1 All details within the report are reflective of costings as of May 2019 and within budget 

2018/19. Due to the nature of goods and services being procured, costings may increase or 
decrease depending on market fluctuation.  Any fluctuations in costs associated with the 
implementation of the proposal within the report and outside pre-established budget will be 
subject to the necessary approval process in line with the Financial Regulations.  

 
 
7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
7.1 The strategy is aligned to the Councils Corporate plan and 6 well-being objectives by 

providing a gateway to Council services and supporting citizen centric services.  The tools will 
encourage and support communities to interact and use online solutions to deliver services 
they require.   

 

Page 134



8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
8.1 The principles are aligned to the Wellbeing of future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 as it sets 

out to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of the people of 
Wales.  The adoption of the tools will enable a platform to provide an enhanced approach to 
the delivery of public services.   

 
 The Wellbeing and Future Generations Act calls for a massive step change in how 

organisation such as ourselves plan and deliver public services.  Digital transformation will 
also require a different mind-set.  Our proposed strategy is focused on ”user need” and 
improved service delivery therefore providing opportunities for a prosperous and resilient 
Wales.   Providing an equal opportunities to Council services which are safe and well 
connected.   

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s Strategic Equality 

Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or 
minor negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
9.2 The completed EIA is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The existing Microsoft agreement will end in December 2020 and under Microsoft’s licensing 

model we will need to move to O365 if we are to continue using Microsoft Office products and 
benefit from the many other collaborative and business tools available under the O365 suite.  
It is proposed that we move on a phased approach to O365 in readiness for this date ensuring 
our workforce have the confidence and knowledge to utilise the tools available. 

 
10.2 Unfortunately there is not an option to remain as is with the current Microsoft offering & pricing 

model.   
 
10.3 The Microsoft licences are currently funded from the PC replacement fund and the costs in 

the 2018/19 financial year was £424,823.80.  Based on equal migration of the workforce to 
O365 over the next 18 months, the costs will increase by £13,580.00 in 2019/20 with a further 
increase of £172,543.00 expected in 2020/21.  These projected increases are based on E3 
licences. Other licenses and providers are available but these are more expensive than our 
current proposal. 

 
10.4 At the end of this Microsoft agreement (2020) we will enter into a new agreement which will fix 

the unit costs for the following three years.  It is currently estimated that our annual costs will 
increase in Dec 2020 to £720,142.30 which is approximately 20% increase on 2020 costs.  It 
should be noted that the public sector across Wales has experienced price increase of 
between 50-60% on their Microsoft licensing when moving to O365 in recent years.   

 
10.5 The financial implications of the migration to O365 will be kept under close revision during the 

implementation period and the additional funding required will be factored into the budget 
selecting process for 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years. 

 
 
11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Currently there are no personnel implications to the adoption of these new tools, other than 

the new digital skills that may be required and will be addressed within the project.  The tools 
will enable new ways of working and these new mechanisms may require alterative processes 
and procedures to be in place which may have personnel implications.  Any changes will be 
reported as required in line with corporate policies.  

Page 135



12. CONSULTATIONS 
 
12.1 This report has been sent to the Consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The Local Government Acts 1998 and 2003. 
 
 
Author: Elizabeth Lucas, Head of Customer & Digital Services, lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Cllr, Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services  

Cabinet Members (through PDM) 
Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
Corporate Management Team (CMT) 
All Heads of service.   
Customer & Digital Services – Management team 
Councillor James Pritchard – Chair of P&R Scrutiny 

 Councillor Gez Kirby – Vice Chair of P&R Scrutiny 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Principles on Implementation of O365  
Appendix 2 Equality Impact Assessment Form 

Page 136

mailto:lucasej@caerphilly.gov.uk
https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=97
https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=59


APPENDIX 1 - PRINCIPLES ON IMPLEMENTATION OF O365 
 
 
1. REASON FOR SELECTING O365 
 
1.1 Caerphilly is a long term user of the Microsoft Office suite of tools and have been satisfied 

with their applicability to core office scenarios around document creation, management, 
delivery, email, and other core functions.  

 
1.2 The O365 suite of tools is the latest cloud based iteration of this suite of tools and includes the 

following advantages: 
 
Deliver familiar Office apps across mobile, web and PC 
 

• Desktop versions of Office applications on PC or Mac  
• Web versions of Microsoft Word, PowerPoint, Excel, and OneNote  
• Best-in-class mobile apps optimized for mobile phones and tablets  
• Co-authoring in real-time or offline with rich reconciliation tools  
• Easily store, share and access your files from all your devices 

 
 Introduce new ways to work with experiences like Microsoft Teams 

• Microsoft Teams, a digital team hub that brings conversations, content, and apps 
together in one place  

• Integrated video storage for teams and organisations   
• Video broadcasting capabilities (curated or live) to connect your workforce  
• Enterprise social networks to promote a culture of openness, feedback and diversity 
• Vibrant company portals that inform and engage  

 
Amplify human ingenuity with AI-powered tools 

• Tools to augment human creativity with ink, text, voice, 3D, and virtual reality 
• Ask questions using natural language to surface insights from data sets and 

visualizations  
• Cognitive services to set up custom workflows to organize images, trigger notifications, 

or invoke processes  
• Speech recognition that automatically adapts based on presented content with live 

captions and subtitles  
• Discover behaviour patterns with insights that can improve productivity and 

engagement  
 

Trust that your data is secure and compliant 
• Industry-leading privacy and compliance offerings  
• Support for cloud, hybrid, and on-premise deployments  
• Protection that spans across users, devices, apps and data –1st party or 3rd party  
• AI-powered security to identify known and unknown threats in your environment  
• Customer data is only used to provide agreed upon services and if you leave the data 

is removed 
 
1.3 Other office tools are available and our analysis and comparison was based on the Google G 

Suite. Our conclusions are: 
• Fewer training costs and quicker adoption rates due to the familiarity of the Microsoft 

software. 
• The O365 suite of tools offer a wider grouping of functionality in a better integrated 

environment. 
• The success and popularity of the O365 solution provides more integration options 

across other public sector organisations, partners, and suppliers.  

Page 137



• O365 has security advantages in areas such as identity and access management, 
information protection, threat protection, security management, and accessibility and 
inclusiveness.  

  
1.4 Office 365 is available in several options, offering increased functionality and more 

applications with higher license versions. Microsoft also offer the Microsoft 365 (M365) suite 
which includes all those applications in the O365 suite plus the Windows operating system 
and security functionality to protect the Business. The M365 options will reflect the O365 
options ensuring like for like through the licensing models. 

 
 

2. IMPLEMENTATION AND ACTIVATION APPROACH 
 
2.1 The project will be managed by Digital Services and will feed into the transformation 

programme. Digital Services will deliver O365 based on the customer profile of the Business 
role. There are a number of interdependencies for the implantation of O365 and some of 
these are listed in 5.4 of this report however consideration also needs to be given to the 
impact on internet connectivity as O365 is cloud based. The implementation will be complex 
and culturally challenging, the implementation will therefore be completed by December 2020. 
 

2.2  The O365 suite of applications is vast and talking to our colleagues across the public sector 
(including neighbouring Unitary Authorities and Higher Education) it is imperative to define 
those applications that will be implemented initially, providing the solutions without guidance 
and support will quickly create an environment which is difficult to work in, manage and benefit 
from the collaborative tools available. Once such an environment is created it will be difficult to 
change, trying to return to day zero will not achieve a suitable environment, it is therefore 
necessary to start with a clear objective and sound guidance.  
 
It is proposed that the familiar applications such as Outlook, Word, PowerPoint and Excel are 
initiated to continue familiarity and create confidence, alongside these applications the 
collaborative tool of Teams will also be initiated. Guidelines on the use of Teams will be 
delivered as part of the implementation, this will give direction and create the experience 
needed to grow confidence in the new way of working. 
 

2.3 The understanding of the different roles across the Business will be paramount to delivering 
the appropriate technology and tools to create a climate of can do and facilitate improved 
effectiveness. The output from the customer profile project will hold valid, current information 
regarding our customers, these can then be grouped to create personas or roles, which will 
define the tools required to deliver the appropriate services.  
 

2.4 There will be several key stages to the project: 
 

2.4.1 Project Group. The success of the project will be achieved through a dedicated internal team 
with external assistance if required, regular project updates and management through the 
Digital Leadership Team. The reporting structure, alongside resource allocations needs to be 
defined in this stage. 
 

2.4.2 Pilot Stage. Creation of guidelines for the pilot groups and development of these guidelines 
following experiences of the pilot groups. The pilot groups will consist of a technical and 
several functionality pilots. The technical pilot will engage Digital Services who will configure 
and test known customisations and check for technical compatibility and reliability. The 
functionality pilots will engage customers who will operate the applications and provide 
feedback to the project team. 
 

2.4.3 Business Roles. This stage will analyse the results of the customer profiling and device review 
and agree a set of technologies that will become an enabler for the role.  
 

Page 138



2.4.4 Delivery Schedule. Development of an implementation schedule across the Business for 
O365. It will be necessary to develop our training provision, realising that there is not one fit 
for all, offering different channels for the provision of training material.  
 

2.4.5 Communication Strategy. The definition of a clear communication strategy and identification of 
a communication champion. The communication channels and style will need to be agreed, 
incorporating project updates, successes and frequently asked questions. This stage will need 
to define the project reporting line. It will be important to state which applications will be in first 
stage of implementation and ideas of when other applications will be introduced to the 
Business. 
 

2.4.6 Implementation. Implementation of O365 across the Authority as defined in the schedule, at 
pre-defined points update guidelines and lessons learnt in readiness for next group, feeding 
into communication strategy. As part of the implementation activities, “Digital Champions” will 
be identified who will work closely with the project team to support colleagues and develop the 
O365 suite over time. 
 

2.4.7 Phase 1 review. Once O365 has been rolled out across the Business it will be critical to have 
a full review of the project, identifying what went well and not so well and defining lessons 
learnt for subsequent stages. 

 
2.5 We are working closely with Microsoft and benefiting from their experience in such migrations; 

it is our intention to take full advantage of Microsoft’s capabilities in similar such projects and 
will be looking to Microsoft’s technical and “Fast track” teams for assistance. We have worked 
with a Microsoft partner to assist in the initial configurations and to transfer their appropriate 
skills and knowledge to our internal teams. 
 

2.6 The move to O365 will allow us to move our email and documents into the Microsoft cloud, 
allowing those servers in the Data Centre currently providing these services to be redeployed 
within the on-premise infrastructure. As a pre-requisite to this move it will be essential that 
staff perform appropriate housekeeping on the information held in line with data retention 
policies and General Data Protection Regulation. O365 will provide tools to easily search for 
information across documents and email that have been moved into the Microsoft cloud. 
 

2.7 To create an environment that integrates fully with the Corporate network, Digital Services will 
enable access to O365 through the use of your standard network profile and password; to 
protect our Officers and the Authority this is only allowed from the secure Caerphilly CBC 
network. Access will be available from outside of the Caerphilly CBC network but to protect 
the Authority in these circumstances another form of authentication will be required in addition 
to your usual network identification and password, this multi factor authentication is an 
optional service in O365 but is included in the M365. 
 

2.8 The move to a more agile workforce to increase effectiveness, improve efficiencies and 
support the asset management strategy will increase the number of mobile devices in use 
throughout the Authority. To protect the Authority against threats from cyber criminals and 
breaches in GDPR it will be necessary to manage these devices accordingly. The M365 suite 
will allow such management and the option to rationalise solutions will be achievable through 
this suite of applications. Careful consideration is needed to facilitate appropriate use of the 
device whilst offering necessary protection to the Authority. 
 

 
 

Page 139



 
3. ADOPTION AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT APPROACH   
 
3.1  The implementation of the O365 suite will require a widespread cultural change throughout 

the Business to achieve the benefits of the solution. As the interoperability of O365, agile 
working and customer profiles merge into a programme of works there will be a requirement 
to review some of the policies currently in use, and possibly to develop new procedures and 
policies.  

 
Some policies that may need to be reviewed or created are: 

• Those supporting agile and home working 
• Definition of working times 
• Supported devices for roles 
• Acceptable use of Authority supplied equipment 
• Information management 
• Information security 
• Freedom of Information 
• General Data Protection Regulation 
• Health and safety  
• Those supporting the use of social media 

 
3.2 The customer profile will allow identification of the skills gap across the Authority, which will 

enable a programme of training to be developed to bridge the skills gap and facilitate greater 
use of the functionality in each application to drive the effectiveness and creativity across the 
Business. These profiles will be updated bi-annually and help to develop a workforce that will 
embrace change and be confident to use the technology to deliver efficient services. 

 
3.3 It will be crucial to the implementation that Customer and Digital Services are able to support 

customers as they move to, and embrace, O365. The technology pilot will facilitate 
knowledge and combined with various channels of training and greater usage will create the 
experience in Digital Services to support the Business. The IT Service desk will be critical to 
this support and will be included from the start of the project as a key member of the support 
service. 

 
3.4 Customer and Digital Services will be the first full service area migrated to O365, and will lead 

by example, it will be important however to have the project driven from the top within the 
Authority and a senior manager as Sponsor will promote and support the adoption of the 
technology. This approach combined with the elevation of Digital Champions across the 
Business will create empowerment and ownership by the Business, ultimately delivering 
better usage of the applications. Our Digital Champions will have regular interaction with the 
project team and feed into the decision making process for the programme of works. 

 
3.5 Developing various training channels will allow Customers to choose the medium that 

compliments their training preferences, not everyone enjoys classroom based training, we 
live in a multimedia world and our training delivery will develop to reflect this. Where possible 
we will utilise the training materials from Microsoft that is available through O365. 

 
3.6 Communication will be critical to delivering a successful project, and Digital Services will 

create a communication strategy to announce O365, how it can benefit the Business and 
where support can be obtained to benefit from the new technologies. The strategy will 
communicate to the Business at all levels, clarifying the benefits of the technology and where 
possible providing examples to stimulate creativity. The communication strategy will consider 
different options to deliver the messages and information regarding the project.  

 
3.7 Cultural change will be embraced by some who will push the boundaries of the new 

technology and in doing so improve their service delivery, these achievements should be 
acknowledged and where appropriate used as examples of good practice. Understanding 

Page 140



how we embrace technology and use it to benefit our services will be core to the acceptance 
of the changes across the Authority.  

 
There may however be some pockets of reluctance to the new technologies and it will be 
important that these groups are shown the benefits that can be achieved, and this will be 
best shown by real life examples. We will need to work with these groups and engage with 
them to alleviate any concerns they may have and where necessary help to develop the 
technology for their group. Digital Services will work with the Sponsor and Digital Champion 
in such circumstances 
 

 
4. FINANCIAL PLAN   
 
4.1 The existing Microsoft agreement will end in December 2020 and under Microsoft’s licensing 

model we will need to move to O365 if we are to continue using Microsoft Office products 
and benefit from the many other collaborative and business tools available under the O365 
suite.  It is proposed that we move to O365 in readiness for this date ensuring our workforce 
have the confidence and knowledge to utilise the tools available. 

 
4.2 The existing Microsoft agreement will end in December 2020 and under Microsoft’s licensing 

model we will need to move to O365 if we are to continue using Microsoft Office products and 
benefit from the many other collaborative and business tools available under the O365 suite.  
It is proposed that we move on a phased approach to O365 in readiness for this date ensuring 
our workforce have the confidence and knowledge to utilise the tools available. 

 
4.3 Unfortunately there is not an option to remain as is with the current Microsoft offering & pricing 

model.   
 
4.4 The Microsoft licences are currently funded from the PC replacement fund and the costs in 

the 2018/19 financial year was £424,823.80. Based on equal migration of the workforce to 
O365 over the next 18 months, the costs will increase by £13,580.00 in 2019/20 with a further 
increase of £172,543.00 expected in 2020/21. These projected increases are based on E3 
licences. Other licenses and providers are available but these are more expensive than our 
current proposal.  

 
4.5 At the end of this Microsoft agreement (2020) we will enter into a new agreement which will fix 

the unit costs for the following three years. It is currently estimated that our annual costs will 
increase in Dec 2020 to £720,142.30 which is approximately 20% increase on 2020 costs.  It 
should be noted that the public sector across Wales has experienced price increase of 
between 50-60% on their Microsoft licensing when moving to O365 in recent years.   
  

4.6 The financial implications of the migration to O365 will be kept under close revision during the 
implementation period and the additional funding required will be factored into the budget 
selecting process for 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years. 

 

Page 141



 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 
October 2018 

 
THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITIES STATEMENT 
 
This Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and 
we will work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and 
mutual respect within and between our communities, residents, elected members, job 
applicants and workforce. 
 
We will also work to create equal access for everyone to our services, irrespective of 
ethnic origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender reassignment, 
religious beliefs or non-belief, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages, 
nationality, responsibility for any dependents or any other reason which cannot be 
shown to be justified. 
 
The Council is required to have due regard to the need to: 
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that 

is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not 
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not.  
 
The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves:  
 removing or minimising disadvantages experienced by people due to their protected 

characteristics 
 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 

different from the needs of other people  
 encouraging people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in 

other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  
 
The protected characteristics are: 

 

 Age  Race 
 Disability  Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
 Gender Re-assignment  Sex 
 Marriage and Civil Partnership  Sexual Orientation 
 Pregnancy and Maternity  Welsh Language* 

 
*  The Welsh language is not identified as a protected characteristic under the Equality 

Act 2010, however in Wales we also have to treat Welsh and English on an equal 
basis as well as promoting and facilitating the use of the Welsh language. 

 
Further advice on completing impact assessments can be found on the equalities pages 
of Corporate Policy Unit Portal. 

APPENDIX 2

Page 142



 
THE EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
NAME OF NEW OR 
REVISED PROPOSAL* 

 
Microsoft Office 365 
 

DIRECTORATE  
Education & Corporate Services 
 

SERVICE AREA  
Customer & Digital Services 
 

CONTACT OFFICER Liz Lucas 
Head of Customer & Digital Services 
Gwyn Williams 
Digital Manager 

DATE FOR NEXT REVIEW 
OR REVISION 

 
Yearly in line with Service Review 
 

 
*Throughout this Equalities Impact Assessment Form, ‘proposal’ is used to refer to 
what is being assessed, and therefore includes policies, strategies, functions, 
procedures, practices, initiatives, projects and savings proposals.  
 
The aim of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is to ensure that Equalities and Welsh Language 
issues have been proactively considered throughout the decision making processes governing 
work undertaken by every service area in the Council as well as work done at a corporate level. 
 
The Council’s work across Equalities, Welsh Language and Human Rights is covered in more 
detail through the Equalities and Welsh Language Objectives and Action Plan 2016-2020. 
 
When carrying out an EIA you should consider both the positive and negative consequences of 
your proposals. If a project is designed for a specific group e.g. disabled people, you also need to 
think about what potential effects it could have on other areas e.g. young people with a disability, 
BME people with a disability. 
 
There are a number of supporting guidance documents available on the Corporate Policy and 
Business Support Portal and the Council’s Equalities and Welsh Language team can provide 
advice as the EIA is being developed.  Please note that the team does not write EIAs on behalf of 
service areas, the support offered is in the form of advice, suggestions and in effect, quality control. 
 
Contact equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk for assistance. 
  

Page 143

mailto:equalities@caerphilly.gov.uk


PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
1 What is the proposal intended to achieve? 

(Please give a brief description and outline the purpose of the new or updated 
proposal by way of introduction.) 
 
The migration of Microsoft Office products from on premise solutions to cloud 
based solutions, this will include, over time, the introduction of new technologies. 
The move to cloud solutions will support the Authority’s agile strategy and asset 
rationalisation programme. 
 

  
2 Who are the service users affected by the proposal? 

(Who will be affected by the delivery of this proposal? e.g. staff members, the 
public generally, or specific sections of the public i.e. youth groups, carers, road 
users, people using country parks, people on benefits etc.  Are there any data 
gaps?) 
 
Those staff who currently have access to Microsoft Office products. 
 

 
 
IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC AND STAFF 
 
3 Does the proposal ensure that everyone has an equal access to all the 

services available or proposed, or benefits equally from the proposed 
changes, or does not lose out in greater or more severe ways due to the 
proposals? 
(What has been done to examine whether or not these groups have equal access 
to the service, or whether they need to receive the service in a different way from 
other people?) 
 
Access to the products will continue in the same way. 
 

 

 
 
  

Page 144



 

4 Is your proposal going to affect any people or groups of people with 
protected characteristics? 
(Has the service delivery been examined to assess if there is any indirect effect on 
any groups?  Could the consequences of the policy or savings proposal differ 
dependent upon people’s protected characteristics?) 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive, 
Negative, 
Neutral 

What will the impact be?   
If the impact is negative how can it be mitigated? 

Age Neutral 

 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Disability Neutral 

Gender 
Reassignment Neutral 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership Neutral 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity Neutral 

Race Neutral 

Religion & Belief Neutral 

Sex Neutral 

Sexual 
Orientation Neutral 

 

5 In line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards. (No.1) 
Regulations 2015, please note below what effects, if any (whether positive or 
adverse), the proposal would have on opportunities for persons to use the 
Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than 
the English language. 
(The specific Policy Making Standards requirements are Standard numbers 88, 89, 
90, 91, 92 and 93.  The full detail of each Standard is available on the Corporate 
Policy Unit Portal.  Although it is important that what is outlined in the proposal is 
available in Welsh and English, please consider wider impacts on Welsh 
speakers.) 
 
None 
 

 
 
  

Page 145



INFORMATION COLLECTION 
 
6 Please outline any evidence and / or research you have collected which 

supports the proposal?  This can include an analysis of service users. 
(Is this service effectively engaging with all its potential users or is there higher or 
lower participation of uptake by one or more protected characteristic groups? If so, 
what has been done to address any difference in take up of the service?  Does any 
savings proposal include an analysis of those affected?) 
 
The service will be available to all staff who currently use Microsoft Office products. 
Actions Required: staff profiling will be performed to ensure that each staff member 
has access to the appropriate products. 
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
7 Please outline the consultation / engagement process and outline any key 

findings. 
(Include method of consultation, objectives and target audience.  What steps have 
been taken to ensure that people from various groups have been consulted during 
the development of this proposal?  Have you referred to the Equalities Consultation 
and Monitoring Guidance?) 
 
No consultation has taken place at the moment as the products will replace those 
currently in operation and accessibility will not be affected. Actions required: review 
consultation requirements following pilot phases. 
 
 

 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
8 How will the proposal be monitored? 

(What monitoring process has been set up to assess the extent that the service is 
being used by all sections of the community, or that the savings proposals are 
achieving the intended outcomes with no adverse impact? Are comments or 
complaints systems set up to record issues by Equalities category to be able 
analyse responses from particular groups?)  
 
Through pilot groups feedback, and engagement with staff before, during and after 
migration to new service.  
Actions Required: Formal communications and feedback during the project. 
 

9 How will the monitoring be evaluated? 
(What methods will be used to ensure that the needs of all sections of the 
community are being met?) 
 
Continuation of accessibility to Microsoft Office products by staff. 
 
 

 

Page 146



10 Have any support / guidance / training requirements been identified? 
(Has the EIA or consultation process shown a need for awareness raising amongst 
staff, or identified the need for Equalities or Welsh Language training of some 
sort?) 
 
Training has been developed to assist staff in the migration process and support 
will be available following migration. 
 

 

11 If any adverse impact has been identified, please outline any mitigation action. 
 
None  
 

 
12 What wider use will you make of this Equality Impact Assessment? 

(What use will you make of this document i.e. as a consultation response, 
appendix to approval reports, publicity etc. in addition to the mandatory action 
shown below?) 
 
This EIA will be appended to all reports for decision 
 

 
  

Page 147



13 An equality impact assessment may have four possible outcomes, through 
more than one may apply to a single proposal.  Please indicate the relevant 
outcome(s) of the impact assessment below.   

Please tick as appropriate: 
 

No major change – the impact assessment demonstrated that the 
proposal was robust; there was no potential for discrimination or 
adverse impact.  All opportunities to promote equality have been taken.  
 

Adjust the proposal – the impact assessment identified potential 
problems or missed opportunities.  The proposal was adjusted to remove 
barriers or better promote equality.   
 

Continue the proposal – the impact assessment identified the potential 
problems or missed opportunities to promote equality.  The 
justification(s) for continuing with it have been clearly set out.  (The 
justification must be included in the impact assessment and must be in 
line with the duty to have due regard.  Compelling reasons will be 
needed for the most important relevant proposals.) 
 

Stop and remove the proposal – the impact assessment identified 
actual or potential unlawful discrimination.  The proposal was stopped 
and removed, or changed. 
 

 
 

 

Completed by: Gwyn Williams 
Date: 20/05/2019 
Position: Digital Manager 
Name of Head of Service: Elizabeth Lucas 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

x 

 

 

 

Page 148


	Agenda
	3 Cabinet held on 29th May 2019.
	4 Universal Credit – Housing Update.
	Universal Credit - Housing Update App 1
	Universal Credit - Housing Update
	Universal Credit - Housing Update
	Caerphilly homes task group – 16TH may 2019
	SUBJECT:   Universal credit – housing update
	REPORT BY: corporate director of social services and housing
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7.  LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Universal Credit - Housing Update App 1


	5 Provisional Outturn for 2018/19.
	Provisional Outturn for 2018-19 App A
	Provisional Outturn for 2018-19 App B

	6 Future Caerphilly Transformation Strategy - #TEAMCAERPHILLY – Better Together.
	App A - Updated Transformation Strategy
	App B - Report Transformation Strategy

	7 Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan.
	Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan
	Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan
	POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –
	28TH MAY 2019
	SUBJECT: Customer and digital strategy and strategic action plan
	REPORT BY: corporate director FOR education AND corporate services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan App 1
	Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan App 2
	Customer and Digital Strategy and Strategic Action Plan App 3


	8 Principles on Implementation of Microsoft O365.
	Principles on Implementation of O365
	Principles on Implementation of O365
	POLICY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –
	28TH MAY 2019
	SUBJECT: Principles on implementation of o365
	REPORT BY: corporate director education & corporate services
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. RECOMMENDATIONS
	4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	5. THE REPORT
	6. ASSUMPTIONS
	7. LINKS TO RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES
	8. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	9. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	12. CONSULTATIONS
	13. STATUTORY POWER

	Principles on Implementation of O365 App 1
	1. Reason for selecting O365
	2. Implementation and activation approach
	3. Adoption and skills development approach
	4. Financial plan

	Principles on Implementation of O365 App 2



